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Dear Customers, Shareholders, Employees and Partners, 

At the end of one more economic year, we are once again 
honored to give a brief overview of the activities of Banco 
Keve in 2016 and the outlook for “our Bank”.

Running the Bank and managing its team means working for 
its good operation every day, with dedication, commitment 
and perseverance, based on three main pillars: excellence, 
to do more and better, progress, to generate value with 
stability, sustainability and proficiency, and conformity, to 
be in sync with ethical values and legal regulations.

2016 was marked by some international constraints, which 
led to the maintenance of the rhythm of growth seen last 
year, reflecting the implications of the recent decision made 
by the United Kingdom to withdraw from the European 
Union, the new indicators in the Chinese economy, the 
difficulties faced by the majority of South American 
countries and also the oil price and production adjustments.

These and other factors contributed to maintaining the 
instability being experienced in the financial markets, 
with a particular impact on the significant and prolonged 
fall in the price of oil, where the price of a barrel of oil 
actually fell to 29 dollars, explaining the steep increase in 
the flow of foreign currency. It is the main variable affecting 
the Angolan Economy, with direct effects on exports, tax 
revenue, international reserves and financing of the General 
State Budget.   

The impacts on the Angolan Economy were severe, with 
a decline in economic growth to a value estimated at 
1.1% compared to 3.6% in 2015. Inflation continued at a 
staggering pace, reaching values above 40% at the end of 
2016, with tax revenue continuing to fall and increased 
public indebtedness, as well as a rise in reference interest 
rates to levels close to 20%. 

Despite the improvements seen in the foreign exchange 
market in the last few months of the year, access to foreign 
currency remained a harsh reality in the banking sector, with 
a reduction in supply by BNA in the region of 70% compared 
to 2015. Even so, the depreciation of the kwanza was not as 
pronounced as in the previous year, with 23% depreciation 
of the local currency against the US dollar. 
 
This is the context Banco Keve was operating in, seeking 
always to assure the economic and financial sustainability 
of the bank and, on the other hand, meet the needs of 
its Customers. The Bank focuses on bringing in more 
customers and improving the quality of its funds, with an 
increase of AOA 6.539 billion (+5.9%), with a guarantee of 
more stability and a better future. In 2016, assets reached 
a value of AOA 140.687 billion compared to AOA 130.776 
billion the previous year (+8%). Customer Credit remained 
practically unchanged, standing at a gross value of AOA 
58.102 billion, around -1% compared to the previous year 
and equity reached AOA 14.637 billion, showing growth of 
21% compared to 2015. The regulatory capital adequacy 

ratio comfortably reached 20.39%, which means financial 
stability, less vulnerability and largely complies with the 10% 
level required by the regulator. Gross Income in 2016 stood 
at AOA 21.462 billion, around 70% more than the value for 
2015, with the financial intermediation margin justifying 
an increase of around 65% (reaching + AOA 10.709 billion) 
and non-interest income showing growth of 76% (reaching 
AOA 10.752 billion).

Special mention should be made of the growth in “Provisions 
for credit and guarantees given” with an increase of around 
154%, standing at AOA 8.083 billion, through an unusual 
reinforcement in allocations for provisions, at AOA 7.742 
billion (around 46.7 million USD at the average BNA 
exchange rate at the end of the year).  

The expansion of the Branch network proceeded according 
to plan, with a total of 62 branches in 2016 (six more than in 
2015), reaffirming its national presence. Gross investment 
in tangible assets, a total of AOA 10.531 billion was behind 
an increase of around 18%. The Banco continued to focus 
on the expansion of electronic payment methods and there 
was an increase of 25% in ATMs (with 99 in operation at the 
end of the year) and in POS terminals. 

The Bank began the Keve modernization process decisively 
and energetically, complying with aims of a legal nature 
and making procedural and operational adjustments. The 
highlights were: 

• Construction of the “Keve Chart of Accounts” in a version 
in line with the adjusted Chart of Accounts for Financial 
Institutions (CONTIF) published by the BNA, adapted to 
the IAS/IFRS; 

• Organizational definition of the Bank in costs/profit 
centers, with managers for monitoring and controlling 
operating and budget activities; 

• Development of the conditions for beginning to 
introduce the SAP system, AP, definitions for the scope, 
features design, survey of requirements, awarding the 
project, preparing master files and setting operation 
parameters; 

• Contracting a service provider to convert from the current 
accounting system and for a full review of the routines 
in force; award of customized development services to be 
made available on SAP-Banka and AM-SAP interfaces.

The range of products and services was increased with the 
launch of “KEVE 13” to celebrate the Bank’s 13th anniversary 
Banco. This product, with a term of 180 and 365 days, 
gives customers a chance to win a car. Also of note was the 
marketing campaign (Visa campaign) where customers are 
given a Visa card in exchange for an investment greater 
than or equal to AOA 5 million for 365 days.

The Bank has continued to develop its human capital, aimed 
at increasing our professional knowledge and standardizing 
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Arlindo Ngueva Narciso Das Chagas Rangel
Chairman of the Executive Committee

our practices and behavior, we believe investment in human 
resource management to be core to our organization. 

We aim to lead the way in the challenges and processes 
associated with the banking business today, in line with 
regulation and industry best practice, especially with regard 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the 
Basel accords and anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist 
financing measures. 

To all our stakeholders, our sincerest thanks for their 
commitment during these troubled ties and their confidence 
and dedication, keeping Banco Keve on the road to success. 
And a special word of thanks goes to our customers for 
traveling this road with us and choosing our services and 
to our Shareholders for their support and trust, guiding the 
Bank’s future. 

Following a year of uncertainty, we are pleased to be able to 
say that Banco Keve is ready to face the new challenges of 
the economy in 2017, with an unwavering focus on building 
a stronger, more transparent, more made-to-measure Bank.

Rui Eduardo Leão da Costa Campos
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Dec-16 Dec-15 Var.

THOUSANDS OF AOA, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES Real Real Real

1. Activity 

Net Income 2.488.739 821.497 203%

Financial Intermediation Margin 10.709.038 6.509.725 65%

Gross Income 21.461.538 12.637.321 70%

Financial Intermediation Margin / Gross Income 50% 52% -2 p.p

Operating Cash Flow 11.214.448 4.546.009 147%

2. Returns

ROAE - Return On Average Equity 21,3% 5,7% 16 p.p

ROAA - Return On Average Assets 1,8% 0,7% 1 p.p

3. Structure

Total Assets 140.686.976 130.776.596 8%

Total of Customer Funds 116.987.438 110.448.845 +6%

Loans to Customers 58.102.442 58.600.633 -1%

Equity 14.636.696 12.147.957 20%

Nº of Branches 62 56 11%

Nº of Employees 516 472 9%

4. Efficiency

Cost-to-Income 48% 64% -16 p.p

Employees / Branch 8 8 0%

Average Total Assets / Employees 272.649 277.069 -2%

5. Soundness

Overdue Loans / Total Loans 5,6% 8,5% -3 p.p

Provisions for Loan losses / Overdue Loans 172% 37% 135 p.p

6. Borrowings

Loans to Deposits 65,1% 60,4% 5 p.p

7. Regulatory

Regulatory Capital Adequacy Ratio 20,4% 16,5% 4 p.p

Foreign Currency Liquidity Ratio -17% -67% 50 p.p

Ratios:
Cost-to-income = Ratio of Structural cost to Gross income.
tructural cost = Supply and services + Staff costs + Other operating costs + Amortization.
Foreign exchange exposure = Net FX exposure/Regulatory capital. A positive (negative) sign indicates a long (short) position.
Total customer funds = Deposits + captive funds from OPEs

Main Indicators
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Products & Services

BUSINESSES

Accounts 
• Demand Deposit Accounts 

• Term Deposit Accounts 

Cards 

• Keve Sonangalp Fleet Cards 

Services 

• Salary Payments 

• Payments to Suppliers 

• Collection of Valuables from Customer Premises 

• Branches, CE and Specialized Service Desks 

   (outsourcing of the Cash function) 

• Bancassurance (Insurance Services) 

• On-the-spot bordereaux 

• Consultancy, Investor Support 

• iKeve Corporate (Internet Banking Service) 

• Keve Tablet 

Credit 

• Loan Facilities 

• Project Finance 

• Corporate Finance 

• Revolving Credit Facility 

• Overdrafts 

• Credit Lines for SMEs 

• Credit Lines for Import Documentary Credit 

• Bank Guarantees 

• Keve Investe

INDIVIDUALS 

Accounts 
• Demand Deposit Accounts 

• Term Deposit Accounts 

• Kanuco Account ((Savings Account for Minors) 

• Bankita Account 

• Bankita Crescer Account (Term Deposit) 

Cards 
• Debit Cards 

• Keve Sonangalp Fleet Cards 

• Keve Visa Gold and Classic Cards

Credit 
• Consumption 

• Automotive 

• Housing 

• Keve Salary and Keve Civil Servant Loans 

Services 

• Foreign Currency Trading 

• Banca de Seguros (Insurance Service) 

• iKeve (Internet Banking Service) 

• Keve SMS 

• Keve Tablet 

• On-the-spot bordereaux 

• Event Alerts (Email) 

•Keve Private (Personalized Service)

MARKETS

• Central Bank Bonds 

• Treasury Bills 

• Treasury Bonds 

• Correspondent Banks 

• Treasury Management 

• Foreign Currency Trading 

• Depositary Receipts 

• Swaps/ Forwards 

• Custody Services 

• Market Studies (Research)

OPERATIONS 

• Payment Orders 

- National 

- International 

• Documentary Credit 

• Remittance Documents 

- Import 

- Export 

• Guarantees and Sureties 

• CTS (Credit Transfer Systems) 

• RTPS (Real-Time Payment System) 

• External Financing 

• BNA Licensing of Operations 

• Swift Message Services 

• MT940 Statement
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F
or 2017, the Bank will be maintaining its strategic 
consolidation lines and expanding its business, 
undertaking the commitment to turn Keve into a 
benchmark in the Angolan financial system. The 
Bank proposes to focus on developing the skills of 

its human capital, with more divulgence of the distribution 
channels, particularly electronic platforms, to make the 
capital market more dynamic, to maximize innovation 
capacity in the products and services offered and in the 
greater flexibility for adapting to the new demands of the 
market. 

The extension of national and international regulatory 
requirements, best banking practice in line with compliance 
policies, internal and Corporate Governance controls, plus 
the rules issued by the Basel committee and the approaching 
mandatory application of the IFRS are part of the bank’s 
commitment, which will continue to provide excellent 
services, ensure the creation of value for shareholders 
and the improvement of employee conditions and career 
prospects and, finally, continued active participation in the 
sustained economic development of Angola.

Outlook for 2017
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T
he International Monetary Fund (FMI) maintained 
its projections for world growth in 2016 at 3.1%, 
slightly lower than the preliminary forecasts in 
April, which pointed to growth of 3.2%. This lev-
el of growth means maintaining the growth rate 

seen in 2016, reflecting the implications of the recent de-
cision made by the United Kingdom to withdraw from the 
European Union, the new indicators in the Chinese econo-
my, the difficulties faced by the majority of South American 
countries and also the oil price and production adjustments.  

Global GDP performance, 2014– 2017
(Real growth rates, %)

Projections

2014 2015 2016 2017

World 3,4 3,1 3,1 3,6

Advanced economies 1,8 2,0 1,8 2,1

USA 2,4 2,6 2,2 2,6

Eurozone 0,9 1,5 1,6 1,7

Sub-Saharan Africa 5,0 3,8 1,6 4,7

Angola * 4,8 6,6 1,1 1,1

Middle East and North Africa 2,7 2,5 3,6 3,6

Central and South America 1,3 -0,3 -0,3 1,6

Developing Asia 6,8 6,5 6,3 6,2

Commonwealth of Independent 
States

1,0 -2,7 0,0 1,7

* Ministry of Finance (2016 Revised General State Budget Background Report) 

Source: International Monetary Fund (World Economic Outlook, Oct-16 and Jan-17) 

According to the IMF, GDP growth in the majority of 
Developed economies is still below par, with an estimated 
value of 1.8% for 2016. However, despite some uncertainties 
regarding possible policy changes in the USA, as a result 
of the election of the new president, projections indicate 
a slight increase in the growth rate in these economies in 
2017, with GDP growth in the region of 2%.
  
The GDP in the USA was 2.2% in 2016, with expected 
growth of 0.4 pp (2.6%) in 2017, arising from the ongoing 
fiscal stimuli. The Eurozone is showing signs of a slowdown, 
with a GDP of 1.6% in 2016, against 1.5% in 2015. But the 
highlight in the Eurozone is Germany, recording growth 
of 0.2 pp and reaching 1.7% in 2016. Growth in the other 
European countries was mainly the same as in the previous 
year, with France and Spain maintaining growth of 1.3% and 
3.2%, respectively, in 2016, compared to 2015. 

The Eurozone economies are showing some slow recovery, 
justified by the uncertainties regarding the United 
Kingdom’s withdrawal from the Eurozone and the negative 
impacts on the German and French economies caused by 
the slowdown in the Chinese economy. Finally, the IMF 
expects growth in Japan to accelerate to rates close to 1.0% 
in 2016, sustained by its European countries, better financial 
conditions and an increase in family income, particularly in 
the last quarter of the year.

Turning to the emerging economies, the outlook for diverse 
profiles remained the same, with some improvements for a 
small number of emerging countries on the one hand and a 
continuation of the constraints seen since mid-2015 on the 
other. Growth in the emerging economies was in the region 
of 4.1% in 2016, with India and China being the main drivers 
with growth rates of around 6.6% and 6.7%, respectively. 

However, the remaining emerging and developing 
economies, especially Brazil and Argentina, continue to 
show signs of recession. The reduction if fiscal expenditure, 
the diversification of the economy , the strengthening of the 
institutions and the necessary flexibility in the exchange 
rates will, according to the IMF, be a way of absorbing 
the impacts of adverse external shocks, particularly for 
commodities exporters.

INTERNATIONAL TRADE 

The outlook for world trade was bleak, recording a 
reduction of 0.3 pp in 2016 (2.3%), but with prospects of an 
improvement in 2017 (3.8%).

Source: International Monetary Fund (World Economic Outlook, Oct-16).

The current account balance showed an overall deficit, 
particularly for oil exporting countries. The developed 
economies maintained moderate import levels, while the 
emerging economies, especially in Asia, increase pressure 
on the demand for imported products, leading to a growth 
forecast close to 3.8%.

International Economy
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Source: MINFIN (Ministry of Finance)

On the subject of oil, it is estimated that production from 
countries not part of OPEC will be cut by between 740,000 
and 800,000 barrels per day. If the prices remain low, it is 
probable that non-OPEC production will stagnate in 2017, 
before beginning to grow again in 2018, as demand begins 
to exceed supply. But if oil prices continue to increase, as 
has been the case recently, non-OPEC production might 
show itself to be more resistant, as the producers will make 
a special effort to maintain costs, achieve efficiency gains 
and increase supply. In addition to the reduction in supply in 
the USA, OPEC also expects to see reductions in production 
in China, Mexico, the United Kingdom, Kazakhstan and 
Colombia, with projections of increase in Canada, Brazil, 
Russia and Malaysia. 

INFLATION

During 2016, the average inflation rate in the advanced 
economies stood at 0.8%, with a forecasted increase to 
1.7% in 2017. In the emerging and developing countries, 
there was a slight slowdown in the general level of process 
to 4.5% in 2016 (4.7% in 2015), maintaining the decreasing 
trend in 2017 (4.4% projected).

Source: International Monetary Fund (World Economic Outlook, Oct-16.

In the USA, the inflation rate showed an upward trend, 
standing at 1.2% in 2016, with growth predictions for 2017 
for levels close to 2.3%. These inflation levels are mainly due 
to oil prices which, in the last weeks of the year, showed 
a slight inversion of the downward trend, pressuring the 
general level of prices in the country. On the other hand, 
inflation increased slightly in the Eurozone, reaching a rate 
of 0.3% in 2016 (inflation close to zero in 2015) and a slight 
increase of 1.5% is expected in 2017.

INTEREST RATES 

During 2016, shorter-term interest rates remained relatively 
stable, both in the European market and in the USA. The 
three-month LIBOR remained at around 0.4% throughout 
2016, while the three-month EURIBOR stood at 0.8%, the 
latter being expected to continue to fall in 2017. 

For longer maturities and according to the IMF reviews, the 
trend over the last three years for 6-month LIBOR rates was 
towards constant increases, going from 0.35% in 2013 to 
1.32% in 2016. The most recent projections indicate that 
this rate will continue its upward trend even against a pos-
sibly more expansionist fiscal policy from the new US admi-
nistration. On the other hand, in Europe, the 6-month EU-
RIBOR continued the downward trend that began in 2013 
when the rate was set at 0.39%, falling to -0.22% in 2016

Source: Bloomberg

     

Source: Bloomberg
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As to the reference interest rates, interest rates in the Eu-
rozone remained stable at 0.25% throughout 2016 as a re-
sult of the monetary policy implemented by the European 
Central Bank (ECB) in order to stimulate the economy. In 
the USA, interest rates trended upwards, as a result of the 
more expansionist fiscal policy implemented by the Federal 
Reserve.

Source: Reuters
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GDP PERFORMANCE

I
n 2016, the Angolan economy recorded a slowdown 
in growth, with the GDP being revised downwards 
to just 1.1%, a reduction of 1.9 pp compared to 2015. 
This reduced economic growth was the result of the 
reduction in the oil GDP from 6.3% in 2015 to 0.8% in 

2016. 2016 was quite restrictive for the real sector of the 
economy, which strongly felt the effect of the decrease in 
oil prices, thus forcing a review of the General State Budget.

Macroeconomic Indicators

2014 2015 2016
Var. 

15/16

Inflation (%) 7,5 14,3 38,5 24,2p.p

Real growth rate (%) 4,8 4,0 1,1 -2,9p.p

Oil sector -2,6 6,3 0,8 -5,5p.p

Non-oil sector 8,1 2,4 1,2 -1,2p.p

Oil exports (millions of barrels) 610,2 669,8 654,6 -2%

Average oil export price       
(USD/barrel) 

76,0 40,0 41,0 2%

Net international reserves 
(billion USD) 

27,0 24,7 20,2 -16%

USD sales in BNA (billion USD) 17,5 16,3 9,9 -39%

Exchange rate 1 USD=Kz       
(End-of-period)) 

102,8 156,4 165,9 6%

Overall budget balance as % 
of GDP 

3,7 -7,0 -0,2 -6,8p.p

Billion USD = Billions of US dollars.

Source: Ministry of Finance (Revised General State Budget 2016 and Statistics 
on oil revenue) and BNA.  

The considerable slowdown in the GDP was a result of the 
low contribution of the oil sector, essentially during the 
first semester of 2016, when the price per barrel reached 
very low prices, in the region of USD 28/bbl. According to 
the latest projections, the recent price recovery is still very 
fragile and uncertain.

Composition of the Gross Domestic Product

       Realized

2011 2012 2013 2014

GDP at current prices 
(Billion Kz) 12.056 12.462 12.536 16.879

Real GDP growth and its 
Components (%) 

Agriculture 42,3 11,9 0,8 6,7

Fisheries and derivatives 2,4 19,1 8,1 1,7

Diamonds and Other 3,3 1,0 2,2 -0,6

Oil -0,9 -2,6 6,3 0,8

Manufacturing 8,6 8,1 -2,1 -3,9

Construction 8,1 8,0 3,5 3,2

Energy 34,4 17,3 2,5 19,9

Commercial services 7,0 8,0 2,2 0,0

Other 0,7 6,0 1,1 0,0

Source: Ministry of Finance (2016 Revised General State Budget).

The efforts undertaken by the Government to diversify 
the economy have still not proved very effective. However, 
growth in the non-oil sector was higher than growth in the 
oil sector for the first time. Even so, the growth in the non-
oil sector was also revised downwards, to 1.2% in 2016 as 
opposed to the 2.69% initially forecast. This growth is the 
result of the combination of expected positive growth in 
the energy (19.9%), agriculture (6.7%), fisheries (1.7%) and 
construction (3.2%) sectors, respectively.

FISCAL SECTOR

In 2016, fiscal revenue was AOA 3,484.6 billion (USD 20.6 
billion) and fiscal expenditure was AOA 4,484.6 billion 
(USD 26.6 billion). These values came as a result of the 
readjustment of the 2016 General State Budget, largely 
due to the low oil prices on the international market (USD 
41/barrel). Fiscal revenue and expenditure decreased 
16.0% and 5.3% respectively.

Angolan Economy
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The estimated deficit for 2016 is equivalent to 5.9% of 
the GDP and shows a negative variation compared to the 
deficit recorded in 2015, estimated at AOA 341.5 billion 
and representing 2.8% of the GDP, and the primary non-oil 
balance shows a reduction of around -15.8% of the GDP 
(22.5% in 2015).

Public Finances

Billion USD
2013
Exec

2014
Exec

2015
Exec

2016
Exec

In % 
of the 

GDP
2016

∆ 
16/15

1. Revenue 47,1 44,4 25,0 20,6 20,6% -16,0%

Taxes 45,3 42,4 22,6 18,6 18,3% -17,7%

Oil 35,8 31,1 14,0 9,3 9,1% -33,6%

Non-oil 9,5 11,3 8,6 9,4 9,2% 9,3%

Social Security/
Other Contributions

1,8 2,0 1,1 0,9 0,9% -18,2%

2. Expenditure 46,8 44,7 28,5 26,6 26,6% -5,3%

Current 35,0 33,9 22,5 21,2 20,9% -5,8%

Capital 11,8 10,8 6,0 5,8 5,7% -3,3%

3. Primary balance 0,3 -0,3 -3,5 -6,0 -6,0% 71,4%

Net financing -12,1 2,5 2,8 6,0 5,9% 140,0%

Amounts converted to USD at the exchange rate set in the General State Budget 

Source: Ministry of Finance (2016 Revised General State Budget).

Projected fiscal revenue represents 20.6% of the annual GDP 
and is made up mainly of non-oil revenue (9.2%) for the first 
time.

Source: Ministry of Finance

In 2016, oil revenue recorded a reduction of 33.6%, driven on 
the one hand by the reduced daily production levels, from 
1,767 mb/d (December 2015) to 1,688 mb/d in December 
2016 (OPEC Monthly Report, December 2016) and on the 
other by the falling price of this commodity, despite the 
signs of recovery seen towards the end of the year (standing 
at 45.0 USD/barrel). Added to this fact, the non-payment of 

the ITP (oil transfer tax) all through 2015 and 2016 greatly 
influenced the sharp fall in oil revenue.  

According to the Angolan government, public finances 
continue to be affected by the steady fall in oil revenue, 
requiring measures to rationalize spending and increase 
revenue from the non-oil sector. 

2016 was marked by tax reforms and monetary policy 
changes that have contributed significantly to creating 
the necessary macroeconomic conditions to stimulate 
the growth of economic activity, control non-structural 
inflation and create employment. In this context, tax reform 
is necessary in order to achieve slower but steady economic 
growth in the medium and longer term.

INFLATION RATE

In 2016, the accumulated inflation rate was 41.9%, against 
the 14.2% seen in 2015. There was an upwards trend in the 
inflation rate since October 2015, remaining in double digits 
and adversely affected by the economic climate. There were 
many challenges to controlling the increasing inflation rate, 
combined with protecting external reserves. However, the 
inflationary pressure was greater given the shortage of 
foreign currency and the major dependence on imports, 
which made prices reach extremely high levels of inflation.

Source: BNA, INE
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These were the reasons behind the kwanza also recording 
sharp depreciation against the dollar, consequently putting 
major pressure on the consumer price index and inflation at 
the end of the year.

MONETARY AND EXCHANGE RATE POLICY

In 2016, monetary policy was kept closely in line with fiscal 
policy. BNA’s Monetary Policy Committee analyzed the 
performance of the indicators on the Angolan Economy, 
emphasizing the real, fiscal, monetary and external sectors, 
as well as the performance of the international economy. 
Particular attention was paid to the price trend in the 
Angolan Economy, and the Committee noted an acceleration 
in inflation in November, explained by the increase in the 
administered price of telecommunications.   

Throughout the year, the Monetary Policy Committee 
proceeded with the following monetary policy measures:

•The BNA rate was increased from 12% to 16.00% per 
year; 

•The rate on the Standing Liquidity-Providing Facility was 
increased from 14% to 20% per year; and the rate on 
the Standing Liquidity-Absorbing Facility was reduced 
to 0.0% per year. 

•The rate on the 7-day Standing Liquidity-Absorbing 
Facility increased from 1.75% to 7.25% per year. 

•The mandatory reserves ratio, which affects the deposits 
of commercial banks, increased to 30% for local currency 
and 15% for foreign currency.

In addition, the BNA’s Monetary Policy Committee maintains 
its recommendation that economic agents use LUIBOR as 
the reference rate for bank lending. 

MONEY SUPPLY

Money supply (M3) recorded growth of 14% in 2016, with 
an increase in the money supply in circulation, particularly 
in local currency (+16% against 2015). The dollarization of 
the economy, measured by the proportion of FC in M3, de-
creased 5 pp, standing at 31% at the end of the year (36% in 
2015). This reduction in foreign currency is explained by the 
difficult access to foreign currency and the increase in local 
currency reflects the increased lending to the State.

Source: BNA

REFERENCE INTEREST RATES 

The interest rates used in monetary policy operations 
(rediscount, liquidity-providing and liquidity-absorbing 
facilities and BNA bonds) were also affected by the oil price 
shock. The Government therefore promoted a rise in bank 
lending rates as a means of controlling inflation. Overall, 
reference rates have trended upwards.  In 2015/2016, the 
main interest rates showed a significant upward trend 
(3-month LUIBOR +6.35 pp, Overnight +12.01 pp and BNA 
rate +5 pp).

Last Year

Angolan Interest Rates Feb - 17 Minimum Date Maximum Date

BNA

Basic BNA Rate 16,00% 12,00% feb-16 16,00% dec-16

Standing Liquidity-
Providing Facility

20,00% 14,00% feb-16 20,00% dec-16

Standing Liquidity-
Absorbing Facility 
- Overnight

0,00% 0,00% feb-16 0,00% dec-16

Standing Liquidity-
Absorbing Facility 
- 7 Days

7,25% 1,75% feb-16 7,25% dec-16

LUIBOR

Overnight 23,67% 11,01% mar-16 23,35% dec-16

1 Month 19,25% 11,66% feb-16 17,41% dec-16

3 Months 20,85% 12,29% feb-16 18,23% dec-16

6 Months 21,08% 12,74% feb-16 18,30% dec-16

9 Months 22,13% 13,14% feb-16 19,65% dec-16

12 Months 22,70% 13,55% feb-16 20,17% dec-16

Source: BNA
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Source: BNA

FOREIGN EXCHANGE MARKET 

In 2016, BNA recorded a severe shortage of foreign currency 
due to the fall in the price of oil and the restriction on the 
sale of foreign currency to Angolan banks by their European 
correspondents, thus influence the amount of foreign 
currency available to the market for payment of imported 
goods and services. During this difficult period, while not 
meeting the entire demand, BNA made around USD 9.9 
billion available at its foreign exchange auctions. (Even so, 
-75% compared to 2015).

Source: BNA – Foreign Exchange Market Management System

Source: BNA – Foreign Exchange Market Management System

The Kwanza-dollar exchange rate depreciated 23% during 
the year, below the depreciation seen the previous year(32%). 
The highest depreciation came in the first quarter, standing 
at 3%. 

International Reserves recorded a 12% decrease, reaching 
an amount of USD 21.4 million in December 2016 (USD 24.3 
in 2015), due to the reduction in external financial flows. 

Source: BNA – Ministry of Finance

BNA BALANCE SHEET

The BNA balance sheet total increased 33% in 2016, having 
reached AOA 5,386 billion in late December. The asset 
increase is due mainly to the nominal increase in the issue 
of debt securities, at a total of AOA 440 billion, and non-
resident deposits at AOA 249 billion. Their weights on total 
BNA assets represents 34% and 33%, respectively.
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Simplified BNA balance sheet

Billion AOA dec-15 dec-16
Var. 

12m T.V.A.%

Assets

Monetary gold and SDRs 120 169 49 7%

Foreign Notes and Coins 14 14 1 6%

Non-resident deposits 1.516 1.765 249 16%

Deposits in resident financial 
institutions 

18 24 6 32%

Securities 1.386 1.826 440 32%

Loans 205 445 240 117%

Shares and other holdings 673 879 206 31%

Other assets 113 264 151 134%

Total Assets 4.045 5.386 1.341 33%

Liabilities

Wide monetary base 1.675 1.554 -121 -7%

Deposits from other sectors 1.428 1.861 433 30%

Loans 69 556 486 701%

Capital and Reserves 622 1.099 477 77%

Other liabilities 250 316 66 26%

Total liabilities 4.045 5.386 1.341 33%

Total 8.090 10.772 2.682 33%

Source: BNA

In terms of liabilities, the largest slice comes from central 
administration deposits (Deposits from other sectors), 
representing 35% of total liabilities. These deposits 
increased 30% compared to the values recorded in 2015. 

The wide monetary base, which represents 29% of BNA’s 
liabilities, was the only balance sheet item that decreased 
(-7% compared to 2015.

OPEN MARKET OPERATIONS AND MANDATORY

RESERVES 

Throughout 2016, BNA decided to continue open market 
operations, contrary to the case in 2015, when operations 
were suspended between February and September 2015. 
This fact shows the continuing need to absorb liquidity from 
the market, with BNA issuing securities throughout 2016, 
at a value of AOA 540 billion. The largest value issue was in 
March, at a total of AOA 114 billion. 

Another market liquidity-absorbing measure was the 
increase in the ratio of mandatory reserves in local currency, 
of which 30% can consist of public securities, provided these 
have been issued since January 2015 and belong to the 
banks’ own portfolio and have financing contracts with the 
Ministry of Finance.

                                                              
Source: BNA

LIQUIDITY IN THE INTERBANK SYSTEM

As in the previous year, in 2016 there was a prevalence of 
liquidity-providing operations on the interbank money 
market. Even so, there was still a significant decrease in 
liquidity swaps in 2016 compared to the volumes recorded in 
2015. During 2016, a total of AOA 1,286 billion was recorded 
in terms of trade volume, 79% less than the volume in 2015.

Source: BNA
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Bank liquidity in foreign currency (FC), measured by the 
ratio of cash in FC (with BNA and abroad) over FC deposits, 
decreased 33 pp, going from 64% in 2015 to 31% in 
December 2016. 

FC assets maintained the same pattern, standing at AOA 
11.8 billion in December 2016, which represents a reduction 
of around 55% compared to the previous year (Reduction 
of AOA 14.2 billion in nominal values). On the other hand, 
the trend in FC liabilities was relatively similar to assets, 
standing at AOA -9.1 billion in December 2016, contracting 
AOA 5.1 billion compared to the previous year. These 
reductions were basically due to the fall in oil prices on the 
international market, as this is the main means of bringing 
foreign currency into the Angolan economy.  

Source: BNA – Consolidated Balance Sheet – Commercial Banking

Source: BNA – Consolidated Balance Sheet – Commercial Banking

The ratio of cash in local currency (LC) to deposits in LC 
decreased 1.1 pp, reaching 3.7% in December 2016 (4.8% 
in 2015), as a result of an 8% decrease in LC deposits and 
a reduction of AOA 132.6 billion in the cash balance, due 
to the poor economic and financial performance of the 
Angolan Economy. 

Source: BNA – Consolidated Balance Sheet – Commercial Banking

                          
LENDING

Lending to the State by commercial banks grew 4% in 2016, 
reaching AOA 4,258 billion at the end of December 2016. 
This growth was essentially due to the increased local 
currency lending, where growth stood at 12% (AOA 2,985 
billion vs. AOA 2,660 billion in 2015), unlike the case of 
foreign currency lending, which retracted 11% compared to 
the previous year (AOA 1,273 billion vs. AOA 1,437 billion in 
2015). The private sector continued to represent the largest 
slice of loans to the economy, at 77% of all loans granted. 

Lending to the State saw an increase of 33% in 2016, 
standing at AOA 3,275 billion at the end of December. 

Source: BNA – Consolidated Balance Sheet – Commercial Banking

Source: BNA – Consolidated Balance Sheet – Commercial Banking
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The ratio of overdue loans to total loans to Public Sector 
Corporations (PSCs) was 9% in December 2016 (up 5 pp 
on the previous year). For the Private Sector, the ratio fell 
significantly at the beginning of 2016 (down 9 ppm in 
January alone), reaching 18% in December 2016.

INDICATORS OF BANKING SYSTEM SOUNDNESS

Local currency credit quality in the banking system improved 
during the year, with the overdue loans ratio falling from 
29.8% in December 2015 to 20.1% in December 2016 (-9.7 
pp). Overdue credit in FC fell from 15.0% in December 2015 
to 12.0% in December 2016. 

Source: BNA – Consolidated Balance Sheet – Commercial Banking

The decrease in overdue loans in FC and the growth of 
lending to the economy contributed to the decrease in the 
ratio of overdue loans in FC.

The ratio of loan loss provisions to overdue loans (coverage 
ratio) decreades in 2016 from 106.6% to 63.1% which, given 
the decrease in overdue loans, the change in the coverage 
ratio indicates a decrease in credit risk (slowdown).

Asset quality (Ratios)
Dec

15
Mar

16
Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Amounts in %

Overdue Loans / Private 
Sector Loans 28,4% 19,2% 19,2% 19,0% 18,0%

Overdue Loans / Loans - 
PSC Loans 4,2% 12,2% 2,5% 2,2% 9,7%

Overdue Loans / Loans to 
the Economy 27,8% 19,1% 18,9% 18,7% 17,9%

Loan Loss Provisions / 
Total Loans 23,1% 8,5% 8,9% 9,0% 9,5%

Loan Loss Provisions / 
Overdue Loans 106,6% 53,3% 56,0% 57,7% 63,1%

LOAN AND DEPOSIT INTEREST RATES

In 2016, the interest rates on loans in LC to companies was 
generally stable for loans with maturities of more than 
one year, after the fall seen in 2015. There was a slight 
increase on maturities of over one year, approaching 16% 
at the end of the year. The interest rates on loans in LC with 
maturities between six months and one year stood at 15.2% 
in December 2016. The interest rate on loans in FC with 
maturities between six months and one year fell sharply, 

standing at 8.50% at the end of the year (-4.4 pp compared 
to December 2015).

Source: BNA – Nominal Interest Rates in the Banking System

Source: BNA – Nominal Interest Rates in the Banking System 

The interest rates on loans in LC to individuals (except for 
maturities of more than one year) rose over the course of the 
year, to reach 15.2% in December 2016 (14.6% in December 
2015) for maturities between six months and one year). For 
maturities of six months the upwards trend was sharper 
with the rates reaching almost 20% (16.5% in December 
2015). The interest rate on FC for maturities of six months 
fell 12.0% in December 2015 to 8.47% in December 2016.

Source: BNA – Nominal Interest Rates in the Banking System
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Source: BNA – Nominal Interest Rates in the Banking System

The interest rate on term deposits in LC with maturities 
of up to six months remained at 5.2% at the end of 2016 
(5.2% in 2015). The rates on term deposits in FC fell slightly 
compared to 2015. The rates for maturities of three to six 
months went from 2.45% in 2015 to 1.5% in 2016.

Source: BNA – Nominal Interest Rates in the Banking System
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Relevant regulations for the finance sector approved in 2016

Month Day Reference Subject

January 05 Directive nº 03/DRO/
DSI/15

Rediscount Rate – Notice nº 11/2011, of October 20. 

22 Executive Decree nº 47/16 Regulation of the Check Clearing Subsystem (CCS) and Settlement.

Determines authorization for issue of “Treasury Bills – 2016” for financing the financial 
execution of the 2016 General State Budget, up to an overall value of KZ: 545,508,000,000.00, 
with the characteristics and conditions established by Presidential Decree nº 259/10, of 
November 18.

February 24 Presidential Legislative 
Decree nº 1/16 

Approves the legal rules governing the Special Levy on Banking Operations - Repealing all 
Legislation contrary to the provisions of this decree.

April 11 Instruction nº 2/16 Mandatory Reserves.

12 Notice nº 1/16 Limits on entry and exit of local and foreign currency.

25 Instruction nº 3/16 Angolan Automated Clearing House – Settlement Guarantees.

May 04 Instruction nº 4/16 Mandatory Reserves.

June 15 Notice nº 2/16 Regulatory Capital.

16 Notice nº 3/16 Regulatory Capital Requirement for Counterparty Credit Risk.

22 Notice nº 4/16 Regulatory Capital Requirement for Counterparty Risk in the Trading Book.

22 Notice nº 5/16 Regulatory Capital Requirement for Counterparty Operational Risk.

22 Notice nº 6/16 Full Adoption of the International Accounting Standards / International Financial Reporting 
System.

22 Notice nº 7/16 Risk Governance – Principles of Risk Governance.

22 Notice nº 8/16 Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Portfolio.

22 Notice nº 9/16 Prudential Limits to Major Risks.

August 29 Presidential Decree 162/16 Approves the Agreement between the Government of the Republic of Angola and the 
Government of the USA for improving compliance with International Fiscal obligations and 
the Implementation of the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FACTA). 

September 05 Notice nº 12/16 Protection for Consumers of Financial Products and Services.

06 Instruction nº 20/16 First-time Adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards.

06 Instruction nº 21/16 Currency Exchange - Operating Rules.

23 Directive nº 05/16 Action Plan for Regulatory Capital, provided for in Notice nº 2/16, of June 15.

November 16 Instruction nº 25/16 Credit Risk Governance, of November 16.

16 Instruction nº 26/16 Liquidity Risk Governance, of November 16.

16 Instruction nº 28/16 Operational Risk Governance, of November 16.

Regulatory Framework
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Main limits and prudential ratios in force as at December 31, 2016

Materials Limits and Ratios

Liquidity

Mandatory Reserves
Instruction nº 02/2016, of April 11
Directive nº 01/DSP/2016, of April 18
Instruction nº 04/2016, May 13

Except for central, local and municipal government deposits, the mandatory reserves ratio is 30% of the 
reserve base* in local currency and 15% of the reserve base* in foreign currency.  The following may be 
deducted from the reserve base:

Up to 60% of the assets representing the amount of disbursements to the agriculture, livestock, forestry, 
fisheries, industry, energy and water, provision of hotel and catering services, transport and IT sectors in 
local currency loans through the Angola Investe program with maturities of two years or more.

The mandatory reserve ratio for Central Government deposits in LC is 75% and 100% for FC.
The mandatory reserve ratio for deposits from Local Governments and Municipal Authorities in LC are 
50% and 100% for FC; 

Mandatory reserves do not earn interest.

The mandatory reserves ratio is calculated every week, on the first business day and on the first and last 
business day of the week after the balances are established.

* As a general rule, the reserve base includes all customer funds (demand deposits, term deposits, 
other customer funds) and debt securities in issue and excludes the balances of Bankita accounts and 
monthly interest on the reserve base.

* Of the 30% of mandatory reserves held in local currency, banks may hold up to 20% in Treasury Bonds, 
weighted by maturity, provided the bonds are issued from January 2015 and are held in the bank’s 
proprietary portfolio and all of the financing contracts are with the Ministry of Finance (MINFIN). The 
weights are as follows:

Treasury bond weights:

a) Bonds with maturity of = or > 5 years – 100% of the nominal value;
b) Bonds with maturity of 4 years – 75% of the nominal value;
c) Bonds with maturity of 3 years – 50% of the nominal value;
d) Bonds with maturity of 2 years – 20% of the nominal value.

Weighting for financing contracts signed with the MINFIN:

a) Disbursements from financing contracts with maturities greater than or equal to 7 years – 100%  
     of the nominal value;
b) Disbursements from financing contracts with maturities between 6 years (inclusive) and 7 years 
     (exclusive) – 100% of the nominal value;
c) Disbursements from financing contracts with maturities between 4 years (inclusive) and 6 years 
     (exclusive) – 100% of the nominal value disbursed;
d) Disbursements from financing contracts with maturities between 2 years (inclusive) and 4 years 
     (exclusive) – 10% of the nominal value disbursed.

The following assets are eligible for compliance with the mandatory reserve in FC:

a) 20% with FC deposit accounts with BNA opened in the name of each Institution;
b) 80% with FC Treasury Bonds belonging to the proprietary portfolio registered on SIGMA, issued 
     in 2015.

continued
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continuation

Materials Limits and Ratios

Credit

Maximum exposure per customer
Notice nº 8/07, of September 12

25% of the Regulatory Capital (RC).
Any excess must be deducted when calculating regulatory capital.

Maximum aggregate exposure
Notice nº 8/07, of September 12

300% of the RC for the 20 largest debtors.

Foreign currency credit
Notice nº 3/12, of March 28

The following types of lending are not permitted in foreign currency at any maturity:

• Liquidity assistance, including revolving credit facilities;
• Automobile financing;
• Consumer loans and micro-loans;
• Advances to depositors or overdrafts;
• Other types of short-term financial credit (up to 1 year).

Loan provisions 
Notice nº 11/14, of December 10
Instruction nº 9/15, of June 4

Individual classification of the risk position must take into account the characteristics and risks of the 
loan operation, observing at least the following:

a)  How the resources are used, by type of transaction;
b)  The main activity of the debtor;
c)  Whether liability operations are required or not;
d) The guarantees received from the debtor;
e) The currency, index and maturity of the transaction;
f)  Full and precise identification of the borrower and the economic group they belong to.

It is up to the institution holding the credit to estimate any possible loss, calculate through the use 
of consistent, verifiable criteria and based on internal and external information that includes at least 
the following:

a) Regarding the debtor and guarantors:
i.    Economic and financial situation;
ii.   Management capacity and quality of internal controls;
iii.  Record of prompt payments and late payments;
iv.  Contingencies;
v.   Industry sector;
vi.  Geographic area of operation;
vii. Credit limit.

b) For the transaction:
i.   Nature and purpose of the transaction;
ii.  Guarantee characteristics, particularly as to sufficiency and liquidity;
iii. Value.

Risk Level Classif. Risk Position

Minimum A -

Very low B = ou < 30 days

Low C >30 and  = < 60 days

Moderate D >60 and  = < 90 days

High E >90 and  = < 150 days

Very high F >150 and  = < 180 days

Maximum G > 180 days

Classification or risk positions should be reviewed every month and whenever there are changes 
in the impairment indicators for overdue payment of the main capital, of charges and as described 
above.

Level A risk operations cannot have any indication of impairment.

continued
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continuation

Materials Limits and Ratios

Credit

The provision of real and personal guarantees to the institutions can reduce risk classifications. 
Risks can be increased or reduced according to insufficiency or value/characteristics of the operation 
guarantees.

Classif.
Risk

position

Without
Guarantee

With Real

Personal

Guarantee

Mortage

Financial
Non

Financial

Housing Loan

Other 
purposes

Position 
at risk 
< 75% 

Guarantee

Position 
at risk 

> = 75% 
Guarantee

A 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

B 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

C 5% 5% 2% 2% 5% 2% 5%

D 30% 20% 5% 15% 20% 10% 20%

E 50% 30% 15% 25% 30% 20% 30%

F 70% 60% 45% 55% 60% 50% 60%

G 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Equity

Minimum Share Capital
Notice nº 14/2013, of November 15

Kz 2.500.000.000,00

Minimum Equity Value
(Art. 75 of Law nº 13/05, of September 30
and Notice nº 14/13, of November 15)

The same as the required minimum share capital.

Legal reserve
Art. 327 of Law nº 1/04, February 13 
and art. 76 of Law nº 13/05)

Reserve created by allocating a minimum percentage (20%) of net profits each year until the 
accumulated balance equals 100% of the share capital.

continued
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continuation

Materials Limits and Ratios

Equity

Definitation of Regulatory
Capital (RC) 
Notice nº 5/07*, of 12 September 12
Instruction nº 3/11, of June 8 (see Note 1)

*Note that a new Notice was issued on April 
28, 2016 revoking this notice and coming 
into force in June 2017. New elements were 
established as being part of the RC.

Core
Own
(CC)

(Tier 1)

To be added Art.3.1.1

 + Capital
 + Reserve for monetary reinstatement of 
share capital

 + Retained profits and losses
 + Legal reserve, special reserve and other 
reserves

 + Net income for the year

a)
b)

c)
d)

e)

To be deducted Art.3.1.2

 - Own shares or equity units held as treasury 
stock. Not applicable (Note 1)

 - Loans that qualify as capital
 - Financial fixed assets 
 - Tax credits arising from tax losses
 - Intangible assets
 - Other values to be determined by BNA

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

f) and g)
h)

Core
Own
Capital

(Tier 2)
 ≤ 100% CC

To be added Art.3.2

   Not applicable (Note 1)
   Not applicable (Note 1)

 + Reavaluation reserves for property for own 
use (2)

 + Subordinate debt and hybrid capital (3)

 + Other funds

a)
b)
c)

d)

e)

Note 1: Amendment introduced by Instruction nº 3/11 Limits of 
Supplementary Capital (Art. 4):
(1) 1.25% of RWA (Risk weighted assets)
(2) (1st) 25% of CC and (2nd) ≤ 50% of their value
(3) (1st) 50% of CC and (2nd) 80% value div. 5 years before maturity

Regulatory Capital Adequacy Ratio (RCAR)
Notice nº 5/07*, of September 12 
Instruction nº3/11, of June 8
(revoking Instruction nº 6/09, of May 8) 

Instruction nº 6/07, of September 12.

*Note that a new Notice was issued on April 
28, 2016 revoking this notice and coming 
into force in June 2017. A new formula** 
was introduced for calculating the capital 
adequacy ratio.

RC
RCAR = ≥ 10%

Credit risk + Exchange rate and gold risk

                                      10%
 

** RCAR ( (RC / RC Requirements) * 10%
(Comes into force in June 2017)

Exchange rate restatement 
Notice nº 2/09, of 8 May

Each month, the financial statements must take into account the effects of changes in the purchasing 
power of the local currency, based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI), if inflation has exceeded 100% 
in the last (3) three years, by adjusting the carrying amounts of fixed assets and equity.

continued
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continuation

Materials Limits and Ratios

Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign Exchange Exposure
Notice nº 02/2015, of January 26
Directive nº 3/DSI/11, of April 1

Foreign exchange exposure is calculated taking into account all asset and liability positions, 
including off-balance sheet items, up to a limit of 30%, that result in liabilities denominated in or 
linked to foreign currency or gold. The limit is 20% of regulatory capital for long positions (assets) 
and short positions (liabilities). Treasury securities indexed to a foreign currency are exempt from the 
calculation of foreign exchange exposure.

Position 31/12/10 30/06/11 31/12/11 30/06/12 30/06/13

Long 70 50 30 20 20

Short 40 30 20 20 20

Fixed Assets

Direct or Indirect Equity Holdings in 
Companies
Notice nº 12/07, of September 12

Current regulations only define rules and conditions for the establishment of branches abroad and 
the direct or indirect acquisition of interests in financial institutions or similar entities, in Angola 
or abroad, and the investment is subject to prior authorization by Banco Nacional de Angola. The 
conditions state that financial institutions must:

a)  Be operating for at least three years;

b)  Comply with the operational limits set in the regulations in force;

c) Comply with the minimum paid-up share capital and regulatory capital requirements, increased 
by the equivalent of 100% of the minimum share capital required to establish a bank in Angola.

Acquisition and Possession of Real Estate
Art. 11 of Law nº 13/05, of September 30

No property assets may be acquired that are not indispensable to the pursuit of the corporate object, 
unless they are received in settlement of loans, in which case they must be sold within two years.

Fixed Asset Ratio
Notice nº 6/11, of July 13 (revoking Notice 
nº 7/07 , of  September 12)

Net investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets (GV-AA) may not exceed 100% of the 
regulatory capital.

Note 1: For the purpose of calculating regulatory capital, net profit must be calculated using the nominal tax rate (30%), without considering any 
tax adjustments.

Abbreviations used: 
LC – Local Currency;
FC – Foreign Currency;
RC – Regulatory Capital;
GV – Gross Value;
AA – Accumulated amortization and depreciation.
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Bank Activities

HUMAN RESOURCES
The mission of the Human Resources Department is to 
promote and invest in employee skills, with the main aim 
of developing human capital through training and skills 
acquisition. In 2016, the Human Resources Department 
continued its policy of restructuring its work processes.

At the end of 2016, the Bank had 521 employees, grouped 
as follows:

Of the total number of employees, 44% are women and 
56% are men. The number of female employees was up two 
percentage points compared to 2015.

2014 2015 2016

Female 169 196 227

Male 253 270 294

Total Employees 422 466 521

 

In 2016, the workforce remains concentrated in the 24 to 34 
age group, with a predominance of first-time job holders.

2014 2015 2016

< 24 25 7 14

24 to 34 253 371 315

35 to 44 109 73 156

45 to 54 34 13 34

55 to 64 0 1 1

> 65 1 1 1

Total Employees 422 466 521

Employees with more than five years’ service are a majority 
(around 276), reflecting the policy of internal promotion 
and career progression.

2014 2015 2016

<= 5 years 238 228 245

5=> years 184 238 276

Total Employees 422 466 466

This year, employees currently in university education (256) 
are the largest group, followed by those with a bachelor’s or 
postgraduate degree (120). 
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Trainee recruitment and selection 
The DRH selected and managed candidates for the 
internships at various universities in the country, by sending 
recruitment emails to the university, research and selection 
from specialized areas. The candidates were interviewed and 
given selective tests, before being sent for more technical 
interviews with the department heads. This culminated in the 
recruitment of 81 employees, of whom 35 are trainees and 46 
have specific qualifications and experience, in 2016.

Recruitment of qualified senior staff is essential for 
the control units, supervision and support centers, as a 
guarantee of the quality of the work produced.

Staff Training 

With the aim of continuous improvement, a new 
Performance Assessment Model was created to reinforce 
the “Kultura Keve” model, the leadership capacity of senior 
Bank staff and ensure that all Keve employees are in line, 
thinking and working in the same direction.

 

In the staff training and development plan, the DRH 
organized workshops in all the branches in the country in 
the first quarter in order to introduce the new performance 
assessment model and receive input for the Organizational 
Culture Manual, “Kultura Keve”, training and encouraging 
employees towards a culture of commitment, dedication, 
merit and quality. 

There were also transversal training campaigns (Successful 
Communication and Sales and Service Techniques) in order 
to improve response capacity for Keve “Klientes” Keve, 
which will continue throughout 2017. A focus on improving 
the service we give to our customers. 

Our commercial network’s training/internship service was 
extended to all the branches, promoted by the managers 
or internship organizers. This fact has contributed to the 
establishment of a calendar of events for continuous 
training, moving increasingly closer to working needs.

The workforce is distributed over the categories and areas, as shown in the table below:

Structural Unit Acrony Manager Category

Supervision 
and Control 

Unit
Commercial

Unit
Support 

Center Unit Total

Executive Secretariat SCR ELSA CRISTINA PEREIRA Section Chief 7 7

Internal Audit Office GAI ANTÓNIO JOÃO CAMBUTA Director 6 6

Insurance Office GBS BERNARDO JOSÉ PAULO Subdirector 2 2

Compliance Office GCO HELENA ISABEL LUCAS DE MORAIS Director 4 4 8 16

Legal and Litigation Department DJC ARLINDO DE S. VIEGAS NARCISO Director 8 8

Planning Control Office GPC EURITECA N. RODRIGUES ANDRÉ Subdirector 3 3

Risk Office GRI
PAULA CRISTINA C. L. DE PAULA 
DA SILVA

Director 3 3 50 289

Electronic Banking Department DBE
PAULO J. QUINTA NOVA 
RODRIGUES

Director 8 8

Assets and Security Department DPS ERASMO DINIZ M. DE AMBROSIO Director 14 38 52

Accounting Department DCO
ANTONIO JOAQUIM G. 
DIREITINHO

Director 10 10

Credit Department DCR MÁRIO JEREMIAS NICODEMOS Director 13 13

Credit Monitoring, Collection
and Recovery

GMR LEOPOLDINO DE SOUSA E SILVA Director 8 8

Large Corporates Department DGE
TELMA LILIANA RIBEIRO M. 
SAMPAIO

Director 22 5 22

Marketing Department DMK
MANUEL MARIA MAGALHAES 
AMARAL

Director 6 6

Financial Markets Department DMF
ANA MARIA F. DOS SANTOS 
MACHADO

Director 5 5

Operations Department DOP
HELENA MARISA DOS S. DE SÁ T. 
RODRIGUES

Director 21 21 10 10

Quality and Organization 
Department

DQO
GISELA BARROS BERMUDES 
ANAPAZ

Subdirector 6 6

Commercial Network Department DRC
DANIEL ALVARO DE SOUSA COELHO 
/ MARIA INÊS SANTANA

Director 301 52 301

Human Resources Department DRH
YONA DAS DORES DA ROCHA 
SANTOS

Director 12 12

Information Systems Department DSI LUÍS CLÁUDIO RITA FERNANDES Subdirector 12 12

International and Investment 
Banking Department

DIB JÚLIO MANUEL JOÃO Subdirector 3 3

Private Banking Department DPR FERNANDO PEDRO SANTOS COSTA Director 9 9

Total 22 483 60 38 521
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Along with these initiatives, we have been organizing 
internships for new hires in the different central services 
departments, aimed at teaching them the dynamics of the 
bank and how it works, in a dynamic on-the-job atmosphere.
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MAIN ACTIONS TAKEN
(DEPARTMENTS AND OFFICES)

Electronic Banking 

2016 was marked by the continuous improvements in the 
electronic solutions provided by the Bank, aimed at better 
serving the needs of our customers. The Bank is focusing 
particularly on installing new ATMs, the Ikeve service, Keve 
SMS, the installation of POS terminals in various commercial 
establishments and the sale of Visa credit cards.

Highlights of the activities carried out in 2016:

• Improvement and design of new reports for internal 
areas (this information will allow the commercial areas 
to get to know our customers’ businesses better and so 
be able to act more quickly and better assist customers 
with cards, as well as customers with POS terminals);

• Acceptance of Visa at POS terminals (this project made 
it possible for Banco Keve POS terminals to accept Visa 
cards, thus making it unnecessary for customers to 
have 2 payment terminals, one for Multicaixa and one 
for Visa);

• Direct debit protocol with Global Seguros and Ensa 
Seguros (this project made it possible for customers of 
these insurers that have an account at Banco Keve to 
make automatic direct debits to may their insurance 
installments).

Accounting 

In 2016, the Department continued to work towards the 
implementation of tax reforms and moved decisively in the 
direction of implementing the international accounting 
standards (IAS/IFRS). Activities in this area focused on the 
increase in the Bank’s accounting and financial control, the 
highlights being:

• Conclusion of the survey phase and definition of the 
functional requirements inherent to the SAP project;

• Presentation of the 1st Balance Sheet (Pro forma) in 
IAS/IFRS to the Board of Directors;

• Preliminary external audit on the Bank’s internal control 
system and Corporate Governance and the accounts for 
the 2016 fiscal year, up to 10/30/2016;

• Third report on the implementation and full adoption 
of the IAS/IFRS sent to BNA;

• Presentation of the 2nd draft of the chart of accounts and 
beginning of preparation of the CONTIF Trial Balance for 
the Adjusted CONTIF;

• Presentation of the preliminary report on the forensic 
audit on MoneyGram to the Board of Directors;

• Presentation of the DCO Organizational Structure and 
Functions Manual;

• Meeting with the BNA Payments System Department 
on “Standard methodology for projections”;

• Inspection by MINFIN and BNA on issues related to 
the State revenue collection system, CEOB (special 
levy on banking operations) and CEOCIC (Special Levy 
on Foreign Exchange Transactions for Current Invisible 
Transactions);

• Communication of expected Human Resources needs 
for the 2016-2019 4-year period;

• Cooperation with the inspection by the Capital Markets 
Commission;

• Implementation of DR (Assets and Liabilities) module 
Bank Reconciliation by EXCITOS.

Credit    

During 2016, management made every effort to improve 
the quality of the credit portfolio and to reinforce provisions. 

The Taskforce set up jointly with the Monitoring and 
Recovery Office (GMR) to support restructuring and 
recovering overdue credit was fundamental to reducing the 
amount of default credit.

Amounts in Million AOA 2015 2016 %

1) Large Corporates 47.706 79% 58.676 91%

a) Project Finance 2.896 9.060

b) Investment Support 21.451 31.648

c) Treasury Management 23.359 17.968

2) SME’s 7.850 13% 3.319 5%

a) Project Finance 0 240

b) Investment Support 5.256 1.405

c) Treasury Management 2.594 1.674

3) Private 4.941 8% 2.251 4%

a) Consumption 1.574 1.004

b) Automotive 274 68

c) Housing 3.093 1.179

Total Credit Portfolio 60.497 100% 64.246 100%

Amounts in Million AOA 2015 Weight 2016 Weight

Financing 34.448 57% 42.261 66%

Loans 26.076 43% 21.985 34%

Revolving Credit Facilities 24.155 40% 21.490 33%

Overdrafts 1.921 3% 494 1%

60.497 64.246

Gross loans to customers came to AOA 64.246 billion on 
December 31, 2016, recording growth of AOA 3.749 billion 
(+6% compared to 2015). Loans to Companies continued to 
have the most weight on the Bank’s credit portfolio, reaching 
96% of the total in 2016. Loans to customers are essentially 
medium and long-term loans, which represented 66% of the 
portfolio in 2016.

Highlights of the activities carried out in 2016:

• Reception of the new Director of the Credit Department 
(Mário Nicodemos);

• Creation of a Taskforce group in conjunction with the 
GMR to support the restructuring and recovery of loans 
above level C;

• Migration of credit disbursements from DCR to DOP;

• Migration of monthly overdue credit reports from the 
DCR to the GMR;

• Migration of calculation, processing and integration of 
Bank provisions, through the eBanking platform, from 
the DCO to the DCR;
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• Presentation of the Proposal to include the amount of 
the candidates’ life insurance in Consumer Credit to the 
Executive Committee;

•Presentation of the proposal to change the Assessment 
Criteria for Guarantees Received to the Executive 
Committee;

•Presentation of the report on the loans granted under 
the scope of the Angola Investe Program to the 
Executive Committee;

• Approval by the Credit Committee of the New Technical 
File Model;

• Reply to BNA regarding BNA Directive Nº 05/ DRO/ 
DSI for presentation of the action plan focusing on 
regulatory capital;

• Presentation of the 3T 2016 Report on the Angola 
Investe Program to the Executive Committee.

International and Investment Banking

The main activities carried out by the International and 
Investment Banking Department in 2015 were as follows:

• Monitoring of the World Business Capital, Norsad, 
USAID and BAI Europa credit lines;

• Assessment and Monitoring Visits to the Bank 
Syndicate Projects undertaken by our Institution (NOVA 
CIMANGOLA II, LUANDA RETAIL PARK, BAÍA DE LUANDA);

• Establishment of relationships with Angolan and 
international banks for the purposes of maintenance, 
correspondent relationships and Bank Financing 
Partnerships: Angolan Banks (BDA, BAI, BMA); Foreign 
Banks (UBAE, Montepio, Commerzbank, BAIEuropa, 
África Development Bank - AFBD, BANKIA, Byblos Bank, 
BPA, International Islamic Banking Summit, África -Aktif 
Bank, NOVO BANCO, BIC Namibia);

• Updating Banco Keve Customer File at Banco Atlantico 
Europa. 

• Monitoring the Management Chart for Clean Lines 
in the Correspondent Banks (BPA Europa, Banque de 
Placement, Byblos Bank);

• Participation in the VII Thematic Encounter organized 
by the Securities Commission and held at the facilities 
of OCPCA;

• Participation in the Angola-China Investment Forum 
and the encounter for the presentation of the project 
chosen for Partnership with CESKA EXPORTNI BANK 
CZECH EXPORT BANC.

Legal and Litigation

In the course of its duties in 2016, the Legal and Litigation 
Department prepared numerous tasks in support of the 
Bank’s activities, according to the required dynamics, 
establishing cooperation with the other Company 
Departments and briefly describing the duties carried out 
the previous year.

In the course of its duties in 2016, the Legal and Litigation 
Department prepared numerous tasks in support of the 
Bank’s activities, according to the required dynamics, 
establishing cooperation with the other Company 
Departments and briefly describing the duties carried out 
the previous year. 

During the year, the Department recorded the following:

• A total of thirty-eight (38) letters were sent on a variety 
of subjects;

• Two (2) criminal reports were issued;

• Seventeen (17) legal opinions were prepared;

• Preparation of six hundred and sixty-four (664) loan 
contracts;

• Replies to a thousand and twelve(1,012) notifications;

• Preparation of thirty-two (32) different contracts, with 
emphasis on service provisions, collection of valuables 
and leases;

• Preparation of ten (10) disciplinary processes;

• Five hundred and seventy-four (574) contract guarantee 
certificates were issued.
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Marketing

The Marketing Department continued to pursue the Bank’s 
main marketing strategy, which is to consolidate and 
strengthen the Keve brand on the Angolan market, as well as 
its slogan “O Banco À Sua Medida” (“The Bank Made to Your 
Measure”). The following campaigns held in 2016 deserve 
special mention:

  

On KEVE’s birthday, the biggest slice of the 
profits is yours. 
Term Deposit, for Individuals or Companies. 
Banco Keve has a present for you on its 13th 

anniversary. 
180 and 365-day term deposit with 
Fixed Interest of 13% Minimum of AOA 
300,000.00.

Make 13 your income number. 
Term Deposit, for Individuals or Companies. 
Banco Keve has a present for you on its 13th 
anniversary. 
180 and 365-day term deposit with Fixed 
Interest of 13% Minimum of AOA 300,000.00.

Keve Kanuco 
The Keve Kanuco account, 
a savings account for children and young people 
(minors) up to age 18. The best bet for your 
children’s future! 
And there is the added advantage that when they 
come of age, they can also benefit from a Crédito 
Jovem young person’s loan on very advantageous 
terms to invest in that course abroad, computer 
or first car 
With the added possibility of a 3-month paid 
internship at Banco Keve for promising students. 

Keve 13 raffle.
And if you open a Keve 13 Term Deposit account, 
and you could win one of the 3 fantastic cars we 
have for you.
180 and 365-day term deposit.
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Road Tax. 
Made to measure for your car. 
Every year, the Ministry of Finance - National 
Tax Office (DNI) promotes the sale of Road Tax 
Stamps, which are mandatory tax for all motor 
vehicles on the roads in Angola. As an authorized 
agent for the sale of road tax stamps, Keve helps 
promote payment of the tax and reminds its cus-
tomers that they must comply with the law and 
by doing so actively contribute to the develop-
ment of Angola.  

Our Christmas idea is simple: love each other 
Banco Keve wishes every family in Angola a Happy 
Christmas and a Prosperous New Year.

In addition to these campaigns, the Marketing Department carried out a 
series of tasks related to operational and strategic Marketing in 2016. Of 
these, the highlight goes to the participation in, design and monitoring of 
the set-up of stands at Expo (Quibala), Kwanza Sul, as well as the preparation 
of gifts for Expo Huíla. The bank also took part in creating and designing the 
image allusive to the São Silvestre 2016 road race, as well as designing the 
checks for the winners. 

Institutionally, the Marketing Department carried out daily monitoring and 
management of intranet content, and contributed actively to interaction 
with and replying to customers through the “Fale Connosco” contact service.
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Keve on Facebook

2016 was marked by an exponential increase in interaction 
on Banco Keve’s Facebook page. The page got around 28,000 
more likes, reaching a total of 34,800 likes. At the moment, 
the Bank’s Facebook page has the fourth highest number of 
likes among the banks using this social media channel.

As to its reach, the people that interact on the page are 
mostly from Angola and the majority are male. The largest 
age group represented by the pages followers is aged 25-
34 (44%), with the youngest age group already representing 
18% (aged 18-24).

Financial Markets

The Financial Markets Department continued with its 
commitment to implementing Bank treasury management 
and management of the risks inherent to banking, in 
particularly liquidity, foreign exchange and interest rate 
risk. The following procedures are of note:

Market Room Department:
• Preparation/Approval of the Securities Classification 

Policies;

• Preparation of Annual Strategic Plan for Marketable 
Securities;

• Monitoring, preparing and sending information - 
Specific Inspections - Capital Market Commission;

• Active participation in the capital market: preparation 
of proposals for Buying/Selling Treasury Bonds to 
Customers; record of negotiations on BODIVA;

• Preparation of the MT540 for setting up the Securities 
reserve on SIGMA, effective compliance with Mandatory 
Reserves;

• Reconciliation automation project: Preparation of the 
Bank reconciliations module on the FINANCA/ Exictos 
application;

•  Migration of Securities Held for Trading and Customer 
Portfolio to CEVAMA;

• Start-up/Participation in the MBTT - Registration 
segment;

• Support to the Legal Office for Preparation of the 
Financial Intermediation Contract;

•   Preparation of Policies (in progress):

   • Investor Classification;

   • Conflict of Interest;

   • Receipt, Implementation and Transmission of Orders.

• Training course on SIRESS under the scope of Angolan 
Banks showing the SADC Settlement System. 
Preparation of the Memorandum on the proposal for 
the Bank’s possible participation in SIRESS;

• Stamp management: contributions for improving the 
Business Process MPN-DIV.04 Purchase and Resale of 
Stamps – Road Tax; Records and accounting control 
of receiving the Stamps and distributing them to the 
branches;

• Instructions 14 and 15/2016_Market Risk: Meeting 
with Risk Department and filling in support charts.

Central Treasury Department:
• Transport of Valuables: Participation in encounters 

organized by the DPS on insufficiencies presented by 
the companies providing valuables escort services; 
definition of strategies for the reduction of the high 
cost of transporting valuables and definition of a 
suitable model for collecting valuables and involving 
new transport companies;

• Participation in the encounters organized by the 
Market Room with K & P Segurança Industrial SARL, for 
definition of a new means of transporting banknotes in 
imports of notes;

• Stamp management: Participation in the encounter for 
clarification organized by the AGT for the start of the 
process of selling road tax stamps, 2016 campaign; 
Receipt of Stamps and start of the process of distributing 
them to the branches.
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Operations 

One of the Department’s main activities is the issue of 
payment orders, which reached a volume of USD 308 
million, representing a reduction of -56% during the year. 
The volume of payment orders received and processed 
reached USD 21.1 million, representing a reduction of -85% 
during the year.  

Interbank Transfers

Million USD Quantity

2015 2016 Var.% 2015 2016 Var.%

OPR - Received 145 21,1 -85% 293 347 18%

OPE - Sent 707 308 -56% 12.261 15.524 27%

The department’s activities were focused on improving 
operational routines, strengthening internal and external 
reporting and ensuring stricter compliance with BNA rules.

Other activities carried out by the department included:
• Monthly reporting to BNA on customers with import 

processes outstanding for more than 180 days;

• Reporting to the BNA on the Provisional List of 
Completed Transactions;

• Use of DUs and delivery to the branches concerned;

• Loading of data on merchandise, invisibles and capital 
transactions in SINOC.

The Operations Department took part in various meetings, 
most notably:

• Meetings of BNA’s Technical Council of the Angolan 
Payment System (CTSPA)to set up the Balance Guarantee 
Fund for the Angolan Automated Clearing House (STC/
SCC);

• Meeting with BNA, DSI and DMF on joining SIRESS (Real 
time regional payment service for SADC countries);

• Meetings with BNA on the migration from SINOC 
to the new reports on transactions carried out in FC 
and submitted, along with the FC needs report, in 
conjunction with DSI and EXICTOS

• Updating Business Manuals;

• Updating Department Structure and Duties (EFU/ DOP);

• Meeting at BNA (DCC/DTI) with DSI regarding the 
constant operational failures and stoppages in the 
SINOC system and SSIF in the PIF;

• Settlement of 85% of the issues opened at the 
correspondent and BNA reconciliations in 2016.

Assets and Security

During 2016, the Assets and Security Department continued 
to ensure that the necessary security and hygiene conditions 
were maintained in all activities carried out in the Bank. The 
department also assists in the expansion and renovation of 
the branch network.

The highlights of the activities in 2016 are as follows: 
Beginning the following undertakings:

• Business Center in Royal Park Talatona;

• Renovation of the Rainha Ginga Branch;

• Construction of Lobito 28 Treasury;

• Camama Branch (Edifício Multicenter);

• Sonangalp Km32 Branch;

• ATM Center (e.g. Talatona I).

Undertakings in progress: 
• Camama Branch (Edifício Multicenter);

• Rainha Ginga Branch, phase III;

• Containerized Branch in the Calandula Institute. 

Projects completed: 
• Sonangalp Km32 Branch;

• Royal Park Business Center;

• ATM Center; 

• Rainha Ginga Branch, phases I and II.

A mechanism was developed for checking the services and it 
now controls the following services:

• Control of valuables collection;

• Updating the branches’ security chart;

• Control of static security; 

• Updating the valuables collection chart.

Escorting valuables is organized through the following 
companies:

• Plantão: 57 pick-up points for valuables; 

• Lince: 13 pick-up points for valuables.

The CCTV surveillance system:
• The process of identification, budgeting and later repair 

of the cameras and recorders in our branch network;

• Mapping of the generators nationwide, with 25 
operational and 4 not working;

• Preventive and corrective maintenance was also carried 
out on the counting machines and printers nationwide.

Other activities:
• The Commission identifies and registers the Bank’s real 

estate property;

• A residence was acquired in the same municipality in 
order to build a bank branch.

Quality and Organization

In 2016, the Quality and Organization Department remained 
committed to holding quality audits of the Bank branches 
and prepared and updated regulations. The Department 
implemented a complaints management process which 
will permit better monitoring of the quality of the Bank’s 
products and services. It should be pointed out that the 
method used to publicize the regulations encouraged 
people to use the Employee Portal.

i. Quality Department

•  International Quality Forum;

• Support for SAP software implementation team 
(Capgemini);
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• Support for Operational Risk Management implemen-
tation team (EY); 

• Update No. 04 of the DRC Organizational Structure; 

• Recording and filing internal DRH training courses; 

• Testing “Qualyteam” tools; 

• Preparation of Draft Quality Policies based on the Bank’s 
Strategic Aims; 

• Improving the Chart Segregator for the Complaints 
Register; 

• Preparation of a Draft Awareness Plan for Branches 
focusing on Quality.

The Quality Department carried out a Quality Audit on the 
Bank’s Files, focusing on the following points: Collection and 
Storage of Files, Digitalization and Internal Management.

ii. Department of Organization

• Preparation of the Complaints Management Process; 

• Updating of Check Clearing Process; 

• Updating of Complaints Regulation and DPR and DJC 
Structure and Duties; 

• Review and Implementation of the Code of Professional 
Ethics and Conduct; 

• Updating Credit Regulations; 

• Sending notification to BNA and other banks on the 
opening of branches (529 and 9505) and registration on 
the SSIF site; 

• Preparing and sending letters to BNA - Opening of ATM 
Center; 

• Monitoring construction work schedule for the opening 
of new branches (to be opened); 

• Preparation of Job Description( Action plan 2017); 

• Breakdown of List of Regulations by Structure; 

• Reading Kultura Keve Manual; 

• Reading career regulations.

Commercial Network

In 2016 the Bank maintained its commercial strategy, aimed 
at maximizing the range of products and services offered. As 
a result, the portfolio of customer funds grew by AOA 89.264 
billion, acquiring 29,963 customers, an increase of 24% 
compared to the previous year (125,684 in 2015) 

The 8% decrease in the Bank’s total customer funds resulted 
mainly from the Individuals segment, which was down 39%, 
while funds from the Businesses segment were down -35%. 

Customer Funds and Loans – By Segment

Million AOA 2015 2016 Var.%

Funds

DGE 65.102 38.828 -40%

DRC 26.684 43.010 61%

DPR 5.212 7.426 43%

96.996 89.264 -8%

Net Loans

DGE 40.520 35.629 -12%

DRC 17.281 21.620 25%

DPR 799 853 7%

58.601 58.102 -1%
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Irrespective of the variation recorded in absolute terms, 
the Companies segment continues to be the most relevant, 
arising from the Bank’s strategic focus this year, with the 
funds and loans granted portfolio representing 88% and 
92% of the total value, respectively.

Customer Funds and Loans – By Province

Million AOA 2015 2016 ∆%

Funds

Luanda Province 87.391 76.389 -13%

Other Provinces 9.605 12.875 34%

96.997 89.264 -8%

Credit

Luanda Province 49.824 52.230   5%

Other Provinces 8.777 5.872   -33%

58.601 58.102 -1%

                 
In terms of territorial distribution, funds decreased 13% in 
the branches located in Luanda and increased 34% in the 
other provinces. Loans increased 5% in the branches located 
in Luanda and decreased 33% in the branches in the other 
provinces. 

The number of new Bank customers recorded an increase 
of 24% in late December 2016, reaching 156,000 customers.

Nº of Customers - By Province

Province 2015 2016 Variation

Luanda 56.902 71.906 26%

Kwanza Sul 26.307 29.943 14%

Benguela 15.980 20.732 30%

Huambo 5.774 4.955 -14%

Lubango 7.261 8.222 13%

Namibe 3.826 4.770 25%

Zaire 1.264 1.935 53%

Malange 1.864 3.092 66%

Cunene 534 1.089 104%

K. Kubango 2.673 4.301 61%

Cabinda 3.299 4.702 43%

125.684 155.647 24%

Other activities:

A set of measures was introduced aimed at improving 
effectiveness and efficiency in the commercial network, 
including:

• Opening of Royal Park Business Center; 

• Opening of Viana Cometa, Keve Sonangalp Km32 and 
Luanda Shopping branches; 

• Negotiating loan processes under the scope of the 
Angola Investe program; 

• Implementation of the leadership model to achieve the 
goals set; 

• Selection of administrative and operational mana-
gement problems between branches and departments; 

• Implementation of strategies for high performance in 
teams.

Information Systems

In 2016, the aim of the Information Systems Department 
was to make a substantial improvement in customer 
services, assuring the integrity and security of the systems 
and to respond to the needs of all internal Bank areas. In this 
context, the main actions undertaken during the year were:

Core:

• Acquiring information for the Departments through 
Queries; 

• Updating Internet Banking payment entities; 

• Updating transaction price table; 

• Implementation of Correspondent Reconciliation pro-
cess; 

• Implementation of ENSA file processing; 

• Implementation of CEOB framework; 

• Setting term deposit parameters (Keve Kanuco; Keve 
13); 

• Implementation of mass account migration process; 

• Setting parameters for Visa Settlement operation.

Telecommunications:

• Implementation of the central services telephone and 
sound recording service; 

• Connection, encryption and testing BRK - BODIVA 2nd 
phase; 

• Internal/external security project and redundancy; 

• Marketware Verification Project for the site, www.
bancokeve.ao/Internet Banking and Exchange; 

• Communications Disaster Recovery; 

• Implementation of New Data Links Dados - Unitel, 
Multitel, TVCabo, ITA and IPWORD – Multiple; 

• Implementation of the Short Code; 

• Communications Disaster Recovery Data Center -ITA/ 
Multiple.

6.370

119.314
125.684

7.629

148.018
155.647

Companies Individuals Total

2015

2016

Nº of Customers – By Segment
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Distributed Systems:

• Site migration from Nova Vida to ITA; 

• Conclusion of DFR-S replication installation between 
branches and the head office; 

• Updating Netapp Services; 

• Antivirus Services Maintenance; 

• Updating Swift Services; 

• Schedule change proposal; 

• Updating ESXI; 

• Name Changes; 

• Design of a Standard Image for Branches and Servers; 

• Disaster Recovery Plan; 

• Proposals Management / Purchase of Supplies.

Internal Audit Office

The activities carried out by the Internal Audit Office (IAO) 
in 2016 included resolving inspection cases, carrying out 
surprise inspection visits, issuing circularization letters, 
analyzing Audit Bank alerts and statistics on the year’s 
inspection cases.

Audit Department

• The preparation of the audit plans for the Central 
Services and the Surprise Inspections for 2017 
continued, which were submitted to the Administrator 
in charge. And the preparation of papers under the 
scope of the preparation of the report on Corporate 
Governance and on the Internal Control System.

Inspection and Fraud Department

• The inspections carried out by the GAI in the course of 
its duties focused on settling inspection cases, replying 
to customer balance issuing circularization letters, 
surprise inspections and analysis of alerts from the 
Audit Bank. 

• 14 inspection cases were opened, of which 2 remained 
to be closed as at December 31, 2016; 

• 53 surprise inspections were made and reports were 
issued on 41 of these; 

• During the year, the GAI received and dealt with 149 
circularization letters and replied to all of them. 23 of 
them were from non-clients. 

Bancassurance Office

Through its bancassurance1 services, in partnership with 
Global Seguros, Banco Keve markets a range of insurance 
products, offering customers the option of paying the 
premium in instalments, depending on their needs. 

The Bank offers the following types of insurance:

• Life insurance;

• Auto insurance 

• Travel assistance insurance; 

• Liability insurance; 

• Occupational accident insurance; 

• Multi-risk company insurance; 

• Multi-risk home insurance; 

• Multi-risk industrial insurance; 

• Condominium insurance; 

• Personal accident insurance.

A total of 17.847 insurance policies were sold in 2016, 
bringing the total insurance sold by the Bank to USD 
5,070,232 billion.

During the year, the following activities were carried out:

• Direct sale of insurance to individuals and companies; 

• Technical support to commercial units; 

• Settlement of insurance sold on credit; 

• Management and monitoring of the Customer port-
folio; 

• Settlement and monitoring of Claims.

Compliance Office

In 2015, the Compliance Office continued to take measures 
to encourage good banking practices and combat money 
laundering and terrorist financing.  Mechanisms were 
created to improve the unit’s functional structure and 
enable it to work more efficiently.

The main activities carried out during the year are as follows:

• Monitoring the sending of 60 (sixty) mandatory reports 
to the authorities - daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, 
half yearly and yearly; 

• Dealing with 3 inspections made by the regulatory 
authorities, BNA and CMC; 

• 1 (one) new product analysis, 6 (six) business processes 
and approval of internal Bank regulations; 

• Monitoring 3 (three) onsite inspections; 

• Preparation of 52 Reports related to administrative 
public sector accounts; 

• Mandatory reporting of 19,352 (nineteen thousand 
three hundred and fifty-two) cash deposit and 
withdrawal transactions, 13 (thirteen) of which were in 
foreign currency; 

• Unblocking of 22,770 (twenty-two thousand seven 
hundred) accounts blocked due to lack of activity; 

• 7 (seven) suspicious operation declarations sent to the 
Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU); 

• 101 (one hundred and one) requests for clarification on 
OPEs carried out; 

• 7 (seven) KYC update requests; 

• Monitoring of 45 (forty-five) account processes 
randomly analyzed;

• Unblocking of 6,505 (six thousand five hundred and 
five) accounts blocked due to lack of activity; 

• 1 (one) suspicious operation declarations sent to the 
Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU); 

1 Term used to describe the marketing of services and products from the insurance area by 
financial and credit units.
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• Reply to 41 (forty-one) requests for information on 
transactions carried out; 

• The following regulations were published: 

• 1 Law, 1 Presidential Legislative Decree, 5 Notices, 3 
Instructions and 1 Directive.

Planning and Control Office

In 2016, the Planning and Control Office became 
independent when it separated from the Accounting 
Department and developed its structure to become more 
resilient to challenges in the control and planning of Bank 
activities and be able to adequately fulfil its responsibilities. 

The Office developed a number of internal processes and 
directed its efforts to adopting policies and practices that 
would strengthen the team and make it more efficient. 

Special attention was given to preparing the Bank’s general 
budget and assisting the Executive Committee in setting 
overall objectives and preparing the Bank’s Strategic Plan 
for 2016-2020.

Planning and Control Office Reports

Nº Document Frequency

Nº of 
issues 

during the 
year

1 Bankita Report Mensal 12

2 Bankita Internal Report Mensal 12

3 Branches Sales Targets Report Mensal 12

4 Road Tax Report Mensal 3

5 Foreign Transaction Statistics Trimestral 4

6 Products and Services Report Trimestral 3

7
Relatório de Actividade Trimestral 
(In Portuguese and in English)

Trimestral 4

9 Annual Budget Anual 1

11 Annual Sales Target Anual 1

14 Financial Inclusion Anual 1

18 Annual Report & Accounts Anual 1

Main Actions Taken:

• Restructuring of the Budget file, changing the Sales 
and Profitability Target Reports file type, improving the 
foreign transactions statistics file; 

• The Office contributed to preparing the strategic plan 
for 2016–2020. The office prepared the document 
and the projection using accounting practices and 
techniques; 

• Monthly remittance of the statistical chart of Bankitas 
accounts; 

• Preparation of 2015 Annual Report; 

• Preparation of Sales and Profitability Target Report; 

• Preparation and Publication of the Foreign Transactions 
Statistics Report; 

• Restructuring of Product Report; 

• Report Bank financial and non-financial information to 
ABANC; 

• Preparation and review of the Bank’s Sales Targets; 

• Participation in the training on “Continuity of the SAP 
implementation project activities” .

Risk Office

In 2016, the GRI’s main activities were compliance with 
the risk management cycle (identification, assessment, 
monitoring, controlling and reporting), with the preparation 
of the various reports, aligning itself with the risk-taking 
areas in order to mitigate them, thus serving as an alert 
and contributing to better options in their activities, more 
reliably and strictly.

• Preparation of monitoring reports for the following 
risks: 

- Credit; 

- Liquidity; 

- Interest and Foreign Exchange Rates; 

- Financial Risk and Financial Soundness Indications. 

• Implementation of the operational risk management 
system. 

- Identification and validation of risks and control; 

- Validation of operational risk event database. 

• Support for external auditors, from Deloitte, with 
regard to the provision of diverse information; 

• It took part in the commercial concertation forum, with 
one of the highlights being the presentation of the 
aims of the Bank, with the GRI paying attention to the 
risks or possibilities of the aims not be met, given the 
inherent adversity; 

• Following the inspection carried out by the Regulator 
(BNA) on the topic of the standard provisions method, 
the GRI actively monitored its informative support, 
allowing the Regulator’s aim to be achieved; 

• Training and integration of the team for the project to 
implement the operational risk management system. 

• First meeting of ALCO Committee; 

• Support for Tuesday Training project; 

• Start of the implementation process for the Operational 
Risk Management System. 

• Start of the interview process for restructuring the GRI 
and assigning human resources.

During the year, the Risk Office made contact with the 
following areas:

• Information Systems Department (DSI: Automatic 
support and information sending; 

• Financial Markets Department (DMF): Data recon-
ciliation; 

• Accounting Department (DCO): Data reconciliation and 
sending information; 

• Operations Department (DOP): Sending information; 

• International and Investment Banking Department 
(DBI):
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 Sending information;

• Quality and Organization Department (DQO):
 Implementation project for the Operational Risk 

Management System. 

Monitoring and Recovery Office

Based on the topic of Collection and Recovery, in 2016, we 
reduced non-performing loans and kept to the following 
activities:

• Collection and Recovery of Credit; 

• Meetings with customers; 

• Telephone collection; 

• Management/Accounting of the values recovered; 

• Analysis and preparation of outstanding credit; 

• Visit to customers from Namibe and Cuando Cubango 
provinces; 

• Loan restructuring process sent to the DOP for 
disbursement; 

• Management of overdue credit and overdrafts portfolio; 

• Sending collection letters and shutting of credit; 

• Preparation and receipt of sundry correspondence; 

• Sending related information to CIRC/BNA.

Amounts in Million AOA

1T 2016 2T 2016 3T 2016 4T 2016

Customers AOA Customers AOA Customers AOA Customers AOA

Recovered 135 1.824,93 172 1.659,03 207 829,52 208 763.153,80

Company 46 1.808,34 49 165,9 42 796,33 38 680.202,30

Individual 89 16,59 123 1.493,13 165 33,18 170 82.951,50

Restructured 0 0 0 0 3 0 5 165.903,00

Company 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 99.541,80

Individual 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 66.361,20

Closed 2 16,59 11 1.161,32 7 16,59 9 66.361,20

Company 1 0 5 929,06 1 16,59 2 49,770.90

Individual 1 16,59 6 232,26 6 0 7 16,590,30

Restored 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Company 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Individual 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
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Branches Already Open 

Branches Opening Soon 

DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS

Branches

The Bank has 60 commercial units that are made up of the 
Branch Network, Business Center and Private Banking. We 
are present in almost all the provinces and were provide 
services to over 155,645 (one hundred and fifty-five 
thousand six hundred and five) customers. A large number 
of these units are in Luanda Province - Financial Capital. 

The bank has a policy of continuously opening Commercial 
Units which, in turn, are managed based on the assessment 
of the business potential of the area and/or specific 
customers.

ATM’s 

As at December 31, 2016, the Bank had a total of 105 ATMs, 
representing an increase of 14% compared to 2015 (+13 
ATMs). These ATMs are distributed over 41 Municipalities 
(the network total reached 2,911 ATM’s).

2014 2015 2016 Var.

Nº ATM 80 92 105 14%

Nº of Municipalities 38 38 41 7,9%
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Of the 105 ATMs registered, the bank recorded an activity 
rate in the region of 94% (99 active ATMs). This level of 
activity allowed the Bank to maintain its market share of 
the network, in 7th position. 

Generally speaking, the national ATM network registered a 
total of 2,911 ATMs in 2016, with an activity rate of 97%. 
There was an increase of 5% compared to the number of 
ATMs registered in 2015.

POS terminals

The Bank recorded an increase of 7.8% in its POS network, 
making a total of 1,945 POS terminals (1,804 in 2015). The 
level of activity stood at 73% (measured through the ratio 
of active and registered POS terminals), above the network 
rate throughout 2016 (the network stood at 55.65% in 
December 2016).

Source: EMIS

Source: EMIS

Debit (multicaixa) and VISA cards

In terms of debit cards, the bank reached a total of 84.702 
debit cards, of which 71,499 cards were active (84% of 
activity). The analysis of the ratio of live debit cards to 
valid cards2, shows that the Bank had an above average 
performance on the market (an increase of 18%) throughout 
2016.

2  Live cards: total of valid cards used on the network up to the last day of the month. 
    Valid cards: total of cards registered on the network with expiration date on the last day of the 
    month.
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The national network registered a total of 4,563,067 valid 
debit cards, of which 3,552,241 were active. These values 
show that the card activity rate was 78%.

Source: EMIS

 

Source: EMIS

With regard to VISA cards, there was remarkable growth 
given the possibility of working with foreign currency. During 
2016, the bank reached a total of 2,169 VISA cards, with an 
increase of 1,606 cards in just one year (corresponding to 
285%).

Source: EMIS

Internet Banking (iKEVE) and Keve SMS

In 2016, 13,131 Internet Banking contracts had been 
signed. Of these, 1,921 were companies and 11,210 were 
individuals. There was an increase of 71% in access by 
individuals compared to 2015, which also represented an 
increase in the overall joining rate, in the region of 67%.

Electronic Banking Statistics

2014 2015 2016 Var.

Homebanking

Nº of Contracts 1/

Companies 589 1.319 1.921 46%

Individuals 3.872 6.543 11.210 71%

Total 2.247 7.862 13.131 67%

Nº of Transactions 2.021.954 2.749.539 340.483 -88%

Nº of Accesses 281.321 370.049 1.189.386 221%

Nº of Transactions/
Nº of Contracts 900 350 26 -93%

Nº of Accesses/    
Nº of Contracts 125 47 91 92%

Keve SMS

Nº of Contracts 1/ 8.293 15.046 25.603 70%

Nº Of Accesses 34.024 50.481 160.742 218%

Keve Tablet

Nº of Contracts 1.255 2.641 4.533 72%

Nº of Accesses 320 1.687 1.090.166 64522%

1/ Contracts in force as at December 31, 2016.

In 2016, Keve SMS achieved 25,603 contracts signed, 
representing an increase of 70% compared to 2015. The 
number of Keve Tablet contracts signed was 4,533 in December 
2016 (annual increase of 72%).

Services provided by iKeve

• Checking statements 

• Requesting checks 

• Account to account transfers 

• Due dates 

• Integrated Position 

• Term Deposit 

• Demand Deposit 

• Customize 

• Messages 

• Electronic Docs 

• Debit Authorizations 

• Cards 

• Financing 

• Payments 

• Foreign Currency
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Services provided by Keve SMS

Checking:

• Balances 

• Transactions 

• BBAN/IBAN 

• Simple integrated position 

• Complete integrated position 

• Accounts available 

• List of accounts available 

• Foreign exchange 

• Transfers 

• Sending confirmation key digits

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Assets

Net assets as at December 31, 2016 came to AOA 140.687 
billion, corresponding to an increase of AOA 9,910 billion 
(+8%) compared to the end of last year. The asset growth 
was triggered essentially by the growth in “Marketable 
securities” which increased 64% (+ AOA 19.6 billion), in a 
portfolio where the indexed securities held to maturity 
were the main growth drivers. 

On the other hand, there was a 33% decrease in “Cash and 
bank” (AOA -8.2 billion) and a decrease of AOA -2.2 billion 
in “Short-term investments” going from AOA 7.4 billion in 
2015 to AOA 5.2 billion on December 31, 2016, representing 
a decrease of -29% compared to the previous year. 

The “Payment system receivables” item showed an increase 
of 111% (AOA 0.2 billion), arising from the clearing of checks 
and other instruments. The credit portfolio also decreased, 
by around -1% (AOA -0.5 billion), as did “Other assets”, which 
showed a variation of -2% (AOA -0.1 billion) compared to the 
same period in 2015.

2016 2015

Billion AOA Value Weight Value Weight ∆ %

Net assets

Cash and banks 16,8 11,9% 25,0 19,1% -33%

Short-term 
investments

5,2 3,7% 7,4 5,7% -29%

Marketable 
securities in the

50,2 35,7% 30,6 23,4% 64%

Payment System 0,4 0,3% 0,2 0,1% 111%

Foreign exchange
transactions

0,0 0,0% 0,0 0,0% 0%

Loans 58,1 41,3% 58,6 44,8% -1%

Other Assets 3,4 2,4% 3,4 2,6% -2%

Fixed Assets 6,7 4,7% 5,6 4,3% 19%

Assets 140,7 100,0% 130,8 100,0% 8%

The items with the most weight in total assets are Marketable 
securities (36%) and Loans (41%), showing the Bank’s clear 
focus on assets of this type. 

Fixed assets increased 19% (AOA 1.0 billion), going from AOA 
5.6 billion in 2015 to AOA 6.7 billion on December 31, 2016. 

The loan-to-deposit ratio stood at 65% (60% in 2015), 
representing a 5.0% increase from 2015. 

The bank recorded a total of AOA 64.2 billion in gross loans 
granted in 2016, representing an increase of 6%. Loans granted 
to the business segment are still the largest slice of credit, at a 
total of AOA 58.9 billion.

Loans - Segmentation by customer

Billion AOA 2016 2015 ∆ %

Businesses 58,9 55,4 6%

Individuals 5,3 5,1 4%

Gross Loans 64,2 60,5 6%

Guarantees Provided 6,0 6,5 -8%

Outstanding documentary credits 6,6 6,2 6%

76,8 73,3 5%

Cash and Bank 12%  

Short-term
Investements 4% 

 

Marketable
Securities 36%  

Loans 41%

 

Other Assetss 2% 

Fixed Assets 5% 

 

60,564,2

20152016

Gross Loans ( Billion AOA)
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As at December 31, 2016, Guarantees given stood at AOA 
6 billion, representing a decrease of 8% compared to 2015. 
Documentary Credits increased to AOA 6.6 billion, growth 
of 6%.

Asset Quality

Weight Weight

Billion AOA 2016 2015 2016 2015 ∆ %

Performing Loans 60,7 55,4 94,4% 91,5% 10%

Overdue Loans 3,6 5,1 5,6% 8,5% -30%

64,2 60,5 6%

Risk Levels      

B 15,7 14,3 24,5% 23,6% 10%

C 26,9 25,5 41,9% 42,1% 5%

D 0,7 0,4 1,0% 0,7% 65%

E 2,6 3,3 4,1% 5,5% -21%

F 0,4 3,4 0,6% 5,6% -88%

G 17,9 13,5 27,9% 22,3% 32%

Gross loans 64,2 60,5 100% 100% 6%

Loan provision 6,1 1,9 9,6% 3,1%

Net loans 58,1 58,6 -1%

The ratio of overdue credit to total credit decreased by 2.9 
pp, standing at 5.6% in December 2016. Level G overdue 
credit stood at AOA 17.9 billion in December 2016, 
corresponding to 22.3% of the gross credit portfolio (32% 
in 2015). Coverage of the total credit by provisions stood at 
9.6% in 2016 against 3.1% the previous year. 

Liabilities

      2016        2015

Billion AOA Valor Peso Valor Peso ∆ %

Liabilities

Deposits 89,3 63,4% 97,0 74,2% -8%

Short-term 
borrowings

1,0 0,7% 0,1 0,1% 1441%

Payables in the 
Payment System

0,5 0,4% 0,8 0,6% -33%

Foreign Exchange 
transactions

27,7 19,7% 13,5 10,3% 106%

Other borrowings 3,6 2,5% 4,0 3,0% -10%

Other Liabilities 1,8 1,3% 1,6 1,2% 12%

Provisions for 
contigent liabilities

2,2 1,5% 1,8 1,3% 22%

Equity 14,6 10,4% 12,1 9,3% 20%

Liabilities and funds 140,7 100,0% 130,8 100,0% 8%

The items carrying most weight in liabilities are Deposits 
(63%) and Foreign Exchange Transactions (20%). Bank 
liabilities recorded an increase of AOA 7.4 billion (6%), with 
emphasis on a change in “Foreign Exchange Transactions”, 
accommodating a variation of AOA 14.2 billion (+106%), 
arising from captive funds held during the year to cover 
OPEs. 

“Short-term Borrowings” also increased by around AOA 0.9 
billion (+1441%), arising from borrowing funds from other 
Angolan credit institutions. “Other Borrowings” decreased 
AOA -0.4 billion (-10%), mainly influenced by the fall in the 
Other borrowings contracted, at a sum of AOA -1.0 billion 
and the rise in Subordinate Debt, at a sum of AOA 0.6 billion. 

Provisions for contingent liabilities increased AOA 0.4 billion 
(+22%) compared to the previous year. This is explained by 
the reinforcement of the provisions for guarantees given in 
2016.

Equity increased by AOA 2.5 billion (+20.,0%), totaling AOA 
14.6 billion as at December 31, 2016.

Customer Funds

Billion AOA 2016 Weight 2015 Weight Var. %

Demand deposits 50,8 57% 74,2 76% -32%

Term deposits 38,5 43% 22,8 24% 69%

Securities 0,0 0,0 0% 0%

Customer Funds, of 
which

89,3 100% 97,0 100% -8%

Local currency 80,2 90% 89,4 92% -10%

Foreign currency 9,0 10% 7,6 8% 19%

89,3 100% 97,0 100% -8%

The portfolio of total customer funds fell AOA 7.7 billion 
(-8%), totaling AOA 89.3 billion in December 2016. This 
reduction reflects a slowdown in local currency demand 
deposits of around 10%. Demand deposits fell 32% 
compared to the previous year.

Deposits
63%

 

Short-term
Borrowings 1%  

Payables in the
Payment System 0%  

 

Foreign Exchange
Transactions 20% 

 

Other
borrowings 3%  

Provisions for Contigent
Liabilities 2% 
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Income Statement

Billion AOA 2013 2014
Dec16 - Dec15

∆ %

Financial Intermediation margin 10,7 6,5 65%

Non-interest inome 10,8 6,1 75%

Gross Income 21,5 12,6 70%

Loan provisions 7,7 3,1 154%

Financial intermediation income 13,7 9,6 43%

Administrative and sales 
expenses

10,5 8,2 28%

Provisions for other values 0,0 0,1 -100%

Other operating income and 
expenses

0,0 -1,2 -100%

Income from Financial fixed 
assets

0,0 0,0 0%

Operating Income 3,2 2,4 31%

Non-operating Income -0,6 -1,3 -50%

Provision for income tax 0,1 0,4 -78%

Net Income 2,5 0,8 203%

Current cash flow 11,6 6,9 68%

The Bank made a net profit of AOA 2.5 billion, corresponding 
to growth of 203% compared to the amount earned in 2015 
(AOA 0.8 billion). The return on average equity (ROAE) in 
2016 stood at 21.30%, recording an increase of 15.6 pp 
compared to 2015 (5.7%).

Analysis of Returns

ROAE and ROAA

Values in % of Total Average Assets 2016 2015

Financial Intermediation Margin Rate 7,9 5,2

Profits from Financial Operations (net) 2,6 2,0

Commissions and other Profits (net) 1,4 1,5

Gross Income 11,9 7,2

Structural costs 7,5 6,5

Financial Fixed Assets 0,1 0,1

Other Operating Expenses and Income 0,0 1,0

Operating Income 4,3 0,7

Provisions (net) 5,7 2,5

Non-operating income -0,5 -1,0

Pre-tax profit 1,9 1,0

Provision for income tax 0,1 0,3

Net profit attributable to Bank (ROAA) 1,8 0,7

Multiplier (ATA / AE) 8,4 8,6

Net profit attributable to shareholders (ROAE) 21,30 5,7

ATA = Average Total Assets; AE = Average Equity

ROAE = ROAA x Multiplier

ROAE = Return on Average Equity

ROAA = Return on Average Assets

The main factor behind the increase in the ROAE was the 
around 70% growth in gross income compared to 2015. 
The financial intermediation margin and the income from 
trading and fair value adjustments contributed the most 
to the growth of the gross income, increasing by 65% and 
187% respectively.

Gross Income

Billion AOA 2016 2015 ∆ %

Financial intermediation margin 10,7 6,5 65%

Result from neg. fair value 
adjustments

5,3 1,9 187%

Income from Financial Operations 1,9 1,8 5%

Income from Financial Services 3,5 2,4 44%

Gross Income 21,5 12,6 70%

During 2016, the growth in the financial intermediation 
margin was mainly influenced by the increase in loan 
interest by AOA 2.5 billion and interest on marketable 
securities by AOA 2.1 billion. Similarly, profits on Short-term 
investments increased by AOA 0.3 billion.

Income from financial intermediation came to a total of 
AOA 13.7 billion, representing an increase of 43%, compared 
to the same period in 2015, arising mainly from the increase 
of AOA 5.3 billion in earnings from financial operations and 
fair value adjustments.
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Structural Costs

Billion AOA 2016 2015  ∆ %

Staff costs 4,6 3,0 56%

Third-party Supplies and Services 4,6 3,3 42%

Other Administrative Expenses 0,3 1,1 -76%

Administrative Costs 9,5 7,3 30%

Amortization 0,7 0,8 -5%

Structural Costs 10,2 8,1 27%

Nº of Employees 516 471 10%

Structural costs, which include staff costs, third-party 
supplies and services and amortization increased by around 
27% in 2016, going from AOA 8.1 billion in 2015 to AOA 10.2 
billion in 2016.

The increase in structural costs is largely explained by the 
increase in staff costs, which stood at AOA 4.6 billion (+56%) 
and in third-party supplies and services, which recorded a 
total of AOA 4.6 billion (+42%). Cost-to-income fell 16 pp as 
a result of the Gross Income increasing more than structural 
costs.

The cost of third-party supplies and services increased 42%, 
going from AOA 3.2 billion in 2015 to AOA 4.6 billion in 2016, 
the emphasis being on Auditing and Consultancy, which 
carry more weight, around 40.7% of total costs for the year. 

Third-party Supplies and Services

Billion AOA Annual Var.

Description 2016 2015 Abs. %

Communications 0,1 0,1 0,5 54%

Water and Energy 0,1 0,0 0,6 57%

Transport, Traveling and 
Accommodation

0,6 0,2 2,0 197%

Publishing and Advertising 0,5 0,7 -0,2 -23%

Security, Maintenance and 
Repair

0,2 0,3 -0,3 -33%

Auditing and Consultancy 1,9 1,4 0,4 38%

Insurance 0,3 0,2 0,7 68%

Leases and Rentals 0,3 0,2 0,6 59%

Printed Material and 
Consumables 

0,4 0,1 2,8 284%

Assistance and Repair Supplies 0,0 0,0 -0,2 -21%

Office Supplies 0,0 0,0 5,6 565%

Hygiene and Cleaning Supplies 0,0 0,0 0,5 45%

Decoration and Comfort 0,0 0,0 -0,8 -80%

Other Third-party Supplies 0,1 0,0 6,1 614%

Total 4,6 3,2 0,4 42%

2016 2015

Structural Costs 

10,2

8,1

48%
64%

2016 2015

Cost-to-Income 
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Note on the Accounting Policies

The financial statements were prepared according to 
the policies set out in the Chart of Accounts for Financial 
Institutions (CONTIF), as defined in BNA Instruction 
nº 09/07, of April 30, and subsequent amendments.

2016 2015

Billion AOA Value Weight Value Weight ∆ %

Net Assets

Cash and Banks 16,8 11,9% 25,0 19,1% -33%

Short-term 
Investments

5,2 3,7% 7,4 5,7% -29%

Marketable Securities 50,2 35,7% 30,6 23,4% 64%

Payment System 
Receivables

0,4 0,3% 0,2 0,1% 111%

Foreign Exchange 
Transactions

0,0 0,0% 0,0 0,0% 0%

Loans 58,1 41,3% 58,6 44,8% -1%

Other assets 3,4 2,4% 3,4 2,6% -2%

Fixed assets 6,7 4,7% 5,6 4,3% 19%

Assets 140,7 100,0% 130,8 100,0% 8%

2016 2015

Billion AOA Value Weight Value Weight ∆ %

Liabilities

Deposits 89,3 63,4% 97,0 74,2% -8%

Short-term
borrowings

1,0 0,7% 0,1 0,1% 1441%

Payables on the 
Payment System

0,5 0,4% 0,8 0,6% -33%

Foreign Exchange 
Transactions

27,7 19,7% 13,5 10,3% 106%

Other Borrowings 3,6 2,5% 4,0 3,0% -10%

Other liabilities 1,8 1,3% 1,6 1,2% 12%

Provisions for
contingent
liabilities

2,2 1,5% 1,8 1,3% 22%

Equity 14,6 10,4% 12,1 9,3% 20%

Liabilities and Equity 140,7 100,0% 130,8 100,0% 8%

PROPOSED APPLICATION OF RESULTS 

Settlement of balances from past years

Accounting movements in capital accounts must be 
supported by decisions made at general meetings of 
shareholders called for this purpose. However, some capital 
accounts consolidate less adequate accounting movements 
made over the last five years.

Retained earnings shows an undistributed balance of 
AOA 107,592,720.30 from movements in 2011 (AOA 
125,550,882.71) and 2015 (AOA -30,851,616.49). 

In turn, 4407-Unrealized gains/losses”, without an equivalent 
in CONTIF, was moved twice, at the end of the year in 2012 
for AOA 26,698,500.00 and 2013 for AOA 10,177,327.22, 
charged to “Other reserves”.

To settle these balances, at a total value of AOA 
144,468,447.52, it is proposed that they be transferred 
to “Other reserves”. This settlement, which is merely a 
reclassification, does not alter total “Equity”.

Income for the Year
Bearing in mind the provisions of the law and the company’s 
statutes, the need to maintain a sound capital base to 
meet the Bank’s strategic objectives and achieve sustained 
growth the Board of Directors proposes that the 2015 net 
profit of AOA 2,488,738,835.60 be allocated as follows:

Legal Reserve 20%: AOA 497.747.767,12

Other Reserves 80%:  AOA 1.990.991.068,48
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Management Structure

COMPOSITION OF CORPORATE BODIES

Board of the General Meeting

Amílcar dos Santos Azevedo da Silva Chairman

Mário Henrique da Silva Mello Xavier Vice-Chairman

Teodoro Bastos de Almeida Secretary

Board of Directors 

Rui Eduardo Leão da Costa Campos Chairman 

José Manuel Cerqueira Vice-Chairman 

Bruno André da Cruz Silva Inglês Non-executive Director

Óscar Manuel Ramalhete Mata Non-executive Director

Yolanda Marina Isaac Carneiro Non-executive Director

Rita Yara Freire de Mello Xavier Non-executive Director

Executive Committee

Arlindo Ngueva Narciso das Chagas Rangel Chairman 

Rui Miguêns de Oliveira Vice-Chairman 

Elsa Dalila Ferreira Azevedo da Silva Director 

Óscar Rodrigues  Director 

Victor Manuel de Faria Cardoso Director 

Secretary

Arlindo Assunção de Sousa Lima Viegas Narciso Executive Committee Secretary

Supervisory Board  

Manuel Fernando Correia Victor Chairman

João da Silva Member

Manuel João Cordeiro Member

Décio Leandro de Carvalho Gaspar Alternate

Gildo Mondlane Saraiva Faceira Alternate

External Auditor      

Deloitte (appointed in October 2015)
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MANAGEMENT MODEL

Shareholder Structure

The shareholder structure, by percentage of ownership, is 
presented in Note 20 to the financial statements. All told, 
the Members of the Board of Directors hold 384,785 shares, 
representing 7.88% of the share capital.

General Organization Chart

General Meeting
The corporate bodies are the General Meeting, the Board of 
Directors and the Supervisory Board.

The members of the corporate bodies are appointed for a 
three-year term and all or some of them can be re-elected, 
without restriction as to the number of terms.

The regularly constituted General Meeting represents all of 
the shareholders and its decisions, when approved pursuant 
to the Law and the Bank Statutes, are binding on all of them.

It is particularly up to the General Meeting to elect the 
members of the Board of the General Meeting, the Board 
of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the /Remunerations 
Committee.

The remuneration of the members of the corporate bodies, 
including any other supplementary capital contributions, 
is set annually by a remunerations committee consisting of 
three shareholders elected every three years at the Annual 
General Meeting.

For the current term, the Shareholders approved a business 
plan which it is up to the Board of Directors to implement. 
The set-up of a consultative body, the General Council, was 
also approved. It will be up to the General Council to advise 
the other Corporate Bodies on relevant issues regarding the 
Bank’s business. The Council is presided over by the chair of 
the Board of the General Meeting and it is not remunerated. 

The members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory 
Board attend the General Meeting and take part in that 
capacity, without voting rights, in the work and the 
discussions and may present proposals.

Board of Directors
According to the Bank’s Statutes, the Board of Directors may 
be made up of a minimum of five and a maximum of nine 
members. The present Board of Directors consists of nine 
members. 

The duties and powers of the Board of Directors are defined 
in article 24 of the Statutes and include:

 i.  Defining courses of action and goals for the short 
  term and proposing medium and long-term courses of 
  action to the General Meeting;

 ii.  Implementing the resolutions of the General Meeting;

 iii.  Managing the company’s business, carrying out all 
  actions and operations that are part of its corporate 
  object;

  iv.  Preparing budgets and projections and reporting on 
  their execution and fulfilment.

The Board of Directors meets ordinarily at least once a quarter 
and extraordinarily whenever a meeting is called by the 
chairman or two or more directors.

General 
Meeting

Remunerations
Commitee

Supervisory
Board 

Board of 
Directors

Executive 
Commitee

Internal
Control

Assets & 
Security 

Commitee

Liquidity
Commitee

Asset
Liability

Commitee ALCO

External
Audit

DPSDOPDQO DRCDJC DSIDMKDGEDCRDCO DIB DRH DPRDBE

Executive
Secretariatat

CA/CE

GBSGPC

Risk
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GCO GRIGAI GMR

Credit
Commitee 

Department
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The agenda for each normal meeting includes at least the 
following order of business:

 i.  Analysis of the national and international macroeconomic 
  situation and the competitive environment;

 ii.  Analysis of the Bank’s financial report;

 iii.  Review and/or update of the Business Plan, including 
  a comparison between the Bank’s performance and the 
  budget.

Executive management of the Bank is, through delegation 
by the Board of Directors, assured by five directors 
appointed by the Board itself, with one Chairman and one 
Vice-chairman. The current term is from March 31, 2015 to 
March 31, 2018.

The regulations of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Committee in office were approved in July 2015.

Supervisory Board
Without prejudice to the powers attributed by law to Banco 
Nacional de Angola, the supervision of company business 
is up to a Supervisory Board, consisting of three permanent 
members, one of whom is the chairman, and two alternates. 

The members of the Supervisory Board may attend meetings 
of the Board of Directors, but without voting rights and 
without being allowed to take part in the discussions unless 
invited to do so by the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

General Council 
The General Council is a consultative body whose role is 
to advise the other corporate bodies on relevant issues 
concerning the company’s affairs and business.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee is in charge of day-to-day running 
of the Bank, regularly making decisions regarding its 
administration.

The duties and powers of the Executive Committee are 
defined in its Regulations, annex I (Delegation of powers) 
and include:

 i.  Establishing the internal organization of the Bank and 
  delegating powers to middle management (Line and 
  Staff);

 ii.  Signing the contracts necessary for carrying on normal 
  business according to the Bank’s corporate object;

 iii.  Managing the Company’s assets (Buying and selling 
  goods and property);

 iv.  Admittances, category level definitions, salary conditions 
  and other employee benefits, as well as the assignment 
  of middle management positions.

The Executive Committee keeps the Board of Directors 
regularly informed about situations that go beyond the 
powers delegated.

External Auditor
Since 2015 the external audit has been carried out by 
Deloitte, according to the legislation in force (Notice 

nº 4/2013 do BNA). Under current legislation (BNA Notice 
4/2013), external auditors cannot be retained for more 
than four years. The Bank follows a policy to ensure the 
independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

Other Committees
The Board of Directors is strongly committed to continuously 
improving its performance and acts systematically to achieve 
this objective.  Steps taken include setting up committees 
and making improvements to risk management.  The work 
of the Board and its committees is also supported by a 
large number of periodic reports covering practically all the 
operating areas.

Organizational Units
The internal organization represents the Board’s base from 
which to engage in the Bank’s business. Its operation and 
development are the result of the relationship between 
Human Resources, Process Modelling and Technological 
Resources, in line with the principles of contemporary 
management. 

To this end, the Bank has developed 14 (fourteen) Line Units 
and 6 (six) Staff Bodies, which are in turn organized into 3 
(three) key segments - business, support and control. 

The main mission of the units is the provision of services 
and the development of products that are suitable to the 
various segments the Bank proposes to serve, always with 
quality and excellence in the forefront. 

The present organizational structure makes it possible to 
clearly separate the missions and duties of each Department/
Office, favoring quick, direct lines of communication both 
between the actual bodies on the Line/Staff and between 
these and the Board. 

The main decisions in each Department/Office are always 
made by more than one person,(usually the senior manager 
and the director responsible for the function concerned). 

To ensure consistency between strategy and day-to-day 
management, the units prepare annual activity plans, 
which are analyzed and approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Departments also presents a set of periodic, systematic 
reports to enable the Executive Committee to monitor their 
activities.

Institutional Communication
Communication with shareholders takes place at the 
General Meeting, the proceedings of which are set out 
in articles 14 to 22 of the Statutes. The Annual General 
Meeting is held within the first four months of each year.

Communication to the market in general is assured through 
publication of the Annual Report and Accounts. The Bank 
also publishes a summary of the Quarterly Account on its 
website, in the form of Trial Balances, pursuant to BNA 
Notice nº 15/07, of September 12. 

Code of Professional Ethics and Conduct
The Bank has a Code of Professional Ethics and Conduct 
which employees to all staff, including Board of Directors. It 
was updated in December 2016, under the scope of Notice 
nº 12/2016. 
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The Code of Professional Ethics and Conduct is a set of 
internal regulations and reading and understanding it is 
part of the commitment employees make to the Company 
Culture. This document is reviewed and updated whenever 
necessary and under the scope of the legal regulations. 

The Code is based on a set of recommendations that 
propose professional pride governed by and based on best 
international practices on the topic of Bank Secrecy and the 
management of conflicts of interest. 

Given how important the Code of Professional Ethics and 
Conduct is to the Bank, in order to show its partners its 
transparency criteria, the document is available on the 
website (www.bancokeve.ao). 

One of the many aspects dealt with in the Code is the 
commitment by the Board to assure strict compliance with 
all the legislation related to the banking sector (where 
foreign exchange and prudential legislation carry significant 
weight).

Social Responsibility

• Sports

Through its Sport and Recreational Club and in line with its 
strategy for social development and sports, Banco Keve has 
organized some sporting events and recreational activities 
called “Sporting and Recreational Marathon”. This comprises 
a mix of fun activities aimed at stimulating a spirit of 
cooperation, ambition, commitment and dedication, 
creativity, hard work, intuition, flexibility, self-confidence 
and knowing how to deal with failure. 

The Sport and Recreational Club organizes sports and 
recreational activities on special dates on the Angolan 
calendar, and it has helped the DMK to publicize the Keve 
name to various segments of our society. 

Sporting events organized: 

 • Holding two Banco Keve Sporting and Recreational  
  Marathons;

 • Holding the first Banco Keve Brazilian Jiu-Jitsu 
  tournament;

 • Participation in the employee futsal championship, 
  organized by the Luanda Provincial Association;

 • Participation in the futsal tournaments for employees, 
  held by BCI, BDA, SNEBA and POLTEC.

 • Participation in basketball tournaments;

 • Participation in the end-of-year “São Silvestre” road race.

Clube Recreativo do Libolo

As a strategy for supporting important sporting projects, 
Keve became one of the main sponsors of Clube Recreativo 
do Libolo. Keve sponsors the soccer and basketball team and 
has now become one of the brands most associated with 
the club.

Events 

Benguela International Trade Show – FIB;
Expo Huíla;
Expo Quibala;
Keve’s 13th anniversary. 

Education

Speatl – Plan for holding the 3rd Special Education Colloquy; 
Odeia – Angolan Institute for International Educational 
Development;
AEUNAKS - Association of university students from and 
friends of Kwanza Sul;
Love Letters by Amílcar Cabral.

Environment

Diffuse and Collective Rights – Environmental Pollution 
Maritime “Legal Perspectives”.

Culture

MAAN – Memorial to Dr. Antonio Agostinho Neto;
Nova Energia – Show of the month;
Eduardo Paim 4.0 Concert
Twana Theater – Roque – Romance de um Mercado; 
Gala for Huila Bank Employees; 
São Silvestre de Luanda 2016; 
Exhibitor: Kina Maua.

Social Responsibility

Clarissas de Nossa Senhora dos Anjos Monastery; 
Order of Friars Minor (Capuchin) – Angola ;
Christmas Solidarity Party; 
Provincial Secretary of Health (Cabinda); 
Catumbela Municipal Command.

Forum 

International forum in Washington on the performance of 
the world economy and the best ways and solutions for 
growth and progress; 
PSO - Corporate Governance – Strategic governance 
challenges in the present context.

RISK MANAGEMENT

2016 showed the prime importance of financial entities 
in adequate risk management and was marked by a new 
regulatory package issued by the regulator, as well as the 
turbulence that affected the financial markets.

The quality of the Bank’s management is one of its standard 
bearers and therefore a priority area.

The bank has risk policies and procedures that constitute 
the regulatory model, through which risk processes and 
activities are regulated. 

In 2016, a range of activities were organized, in particular:

• Preparation and publication of the reports on credit risk 
monitoring report, liquidity risk monitoring, interest 
rate and market reports and the financial risk and 
financial soundness indicators for the management 
team; 

• Participation in the Workshop on the Performance 
Appraisal Model / Kultura Keve; 

• Participation in the risk function awareness program, 
with emphasis on the employee awareness-raising 
plan with regard to the risks inherent to the bank’s daily 
business and the consequent operation of the Internal 
Control areas; 
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• Start of the project to implement the operational risk 
management system.

The Organization of Risk Management
Risk management is dealt with through:

• A Risk Management Policy that defines the general areas 
of operation in this matter, such as Risk Governance, 
Risk Appetite, Risk Profile, Decision-making Process, 
etc.;

• Individual Risk Policies such as: Liquidity Risk, Market 
Risk, Operational Risk and other risks, structures 
according to the definition of the Main Risk, sub-risks, 
identification of the Risk Drivers, control and monitoring 
measures, and responses to risks;

• Quantitative models for assessment of exposure to risk, 
from the point of view of probability of occurrence and 
its impacts, providing from a smooth transition from 
traditional Risk Models to Global Risk Management.

Risk Management Policy
The Bank’s risk management policy is conservative, aimed 
at safeguarding the institution’s solvency and long-
term sustainability. It follows generally accepted risk 
management practices, including the recommendations of 
regulatory bodies.

This policy is based on the following set of structural 
principles:

• Conservatism: the Bank’s objective is to manage the 
portfolio of risks to which it is exposed in an appropriate 
and prudent manner, using conservative assumptions, 
so as to ensure that the capital allocated to each risk 
is sufficient to cover the losses likely to be incurred in 
adverse scenarios, thus preserving the Bank’s capital 
and financial value;

• Independence: the level of risk exposure must be 
assessed and monitored by an organizational unit 
that is independent of the Bank’s risk-taking units, 
even though the risk-taking units must also assess and 
monitor exposure within the scope of their powers and 
authorities;

• Review: given that the environment in which the Bank 
operates is constantly changing, the risk management 
policy must be regularly reviewed to adapt it to new 
circumstances, take account of new information and 
introduce new methodologies, whether imposed by 
supervisory bodies or developed by the Bank in its 
systematic improvement efforts;

• Cooperation: the ultimate objective of risk management 
is to create conditions that will improve the decision-
making power of the Bank’s various organizational 
units, so as to minimize the impact of adverse events on 
Bank’s results. All the functional units and offices must 
therefore cooperate in this process;

• Integration: risk management must be fully integrated 
in the Bank’s daily activity, as well as in the planning of 
its objectives and strategy.

Risk Management Cycle
The Bank’s risk management cycle follows the four phases 
shown in the diagram below:

1. Identification

The identification phase consists of identifying the existing 
risks and any new risks to which the institution may be 
subject. This requires access to quantitative and qualitative 
information from the Bank’s various areas that is sufficient, 
reliable, adequate and up-to-date.

2. Assessment

Once the risks have been identified, they must be quantified, 
so that they can be evaluated and the overall risk incurred 
by the Bank can be determined. Risk assessment must 
therefore be complete, covering all material risk sources 
and risk factors, and the associated methodologies must be 
consistent across the different areas.

3. Monitoring and Control

Risk management is an ongoing process, based on 
continuous monitoring and control of all risks, with a special 
focus on the risks considered most important, based on the 
assessments carried out.

In operational terms, risk management requires information 
systems with rules to prevent unauthorized access and with 
automatic reporting mechanisms. It also requires reliable, 
timely data collection processes, and processes for checking 
to be defined and implemented, with periodic reconciliation 
of the information produced internally against that 
obtained from outside bodies, and accounting information 
against operational or management information.

4. Reporting

To ensure that the information on risks incurred and 
the processes and activities carried out to monitor and 
control those risks is adequately reported by the Bank’s 
organizational units and disclosed to stakeholders, the 
reporting phase of the risk management cycle covers both 
types of reporting that are required: internal reporting and 
external reporting.

External reporting is governed by regulatory requirements 
and involves periodically disclosing information about the 
Bank’s exposure to certain types of risk to outside bodies.

Identification

Assessment

Monitoring and
control

Reporting
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Organizational model
Risk management and control are performed in accordance 
with the strategies and policies set by the Board of 
Directors. Although the risks are assumed by the whole of 
the Bank’s organizational structure, it is the responsibility 
of the Risk Management Office (GRI) to identify, assess, 
monitor and report on a significant portion of the portfolio 
of risks to which the Bank is subject. Nevertheless, ultimate 
responsibility for risk management lies with the Board 
of Directors, which must equip the different areas of the 
Bank with the necessary human and material resources 
to adequately manage risk, in accordance with the Bank’s 
objectives and strategy.

At the level of organizational structure, risk management is 
conducted through three lines of defense:

 • First line of defense: the business units, which generate 
the risk associated with their activities in accordance 
with rules and limits set in the Bank’s strategy, policies 
and internal manuals;

• Second line of defense: the risk management and 
compliance functions, which are responsible for the 
support activities that ensure risk monitoring and 
control and which monitor compliance with legal 
obligations and internal policies and guidelines;

 • Third line of defense: the internal audit function, which 
is responsible for independent reviews, monitoring, 
effectiveness and efficiency tests, verification of 
compliance with risk policies and procedures and 
subsequent reporting of results, so as to ensure that the 
effectiveness of the risk management organization is 
assessed on a regular basis;

 • Board of Directors: sets the risk appetite and strategy 
and approves the risk management framework, 
methodologies, policies, processes and responsibilities;

 • Supervisory Board: supervises the institution’s 
management, ensuring, among other things, the 
reliability of the institution’s accounting records.

The functional organization of these three lines of defense 
is as follows:

The three lines of defense model of risk management and 
control significantly improves risk reporting, control and 
measurement, clarifies essential risk-related rules and 
responsibilities and ensures continuous monitoring of risk 
management initiatives.

1st line – Business units (risk-taking areas); 
2nd line – Risk Management and Compliance offices; 
3rd line – Internal Audit.

Risk Management Model
Risk management models serve two main purposes: 
measuring risks and relating risk measurements to risk 
management controls.  The risk management approach 
addresses both aspects, taking account of the specific 
characteristics of each of the major risk types faced by 
the Bank, particularly, credit risk, strategy risk, liquidity 
risk, market risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk), 
operational risk (compliance risk, information systems risk) 
and reputational risk, among others.  Consequently, there 
is a broad range of risk models, differentiated from one 
another and within each of the main risk types, based on 
the concepts of risk-based capital and value at risk, which 
are fundamental to the new approach built on risk models, 
risk controls and general risk regulations.

With this operational philosophy, the models and 
instruments that link the management view of business 
risk to the financial, risk/return-based view provide the 
necessary inputs to improve the risk management process 
and ultimately close the gap between risk models and 
process management.

The Bank’s risks are managed from a comprehensive 
perspective, so as to ensure that the risks inherent to the 
institution’s activity are properly identified, measured 
(using mathematical and statistical models based on best 
international banking practices), mitigated and controlled, 
thus supporting the sustained pursuit of the activities of 
the institution as a whole.

Progress made in 2015

Consistently conservative and prudent approach in 
relation to risk appetite and the controls implemented for 
defining the risk profile of all new business, in line with 
the strategic vision.

Development and fine-tuning of the risk management 
approach, culminating in the development of various 
mechanisms that will help us achieve the best results for 
our customers, in line with the Bank’s strategic plan.

First line of defence

Extern
al au

ditors

Regu
lators

Second line of defence

Risk management

Third line of defence
Internal audit
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Risk - taking areas

Board of Directors and Supervisory Board



ANNUAL REPORT 2016 83

Priorities for 2016

Continue to pursue our mission to support the sustainable 
growth of the Bank through:

Human Resources: Attract, retain and develop high-
quality, high-performing employees;

Strategy: Support the implementation of the Bank’s 
strategic plan within the set risk appetite;

Risk infrastructure: Continued investment in developing 
our risk management system;

Risk culture: Build and leverage our risk culture, as a 
differentiating strategic factor.

Complete our quantitative models:

• Credit approval and behavioral scoring model;
• Stress Test Models; 
• Prepare internal rating models for the loan portfolios 

(Companies and Individuals).

Credit Risk
Introduction to dealing with credit risk
Credit risk is the possibility of losses resulting from the full 
or partial failure of a borrower or counterparty to comply 
with its financial obligations on the agreed terms.

The Bank generates internal credit risk ratings based on an 
analysis, in each case, of the customer, the transaction and 
the collateral.

Main magnitudes and performance
The profile of the credit risk portfolio is characterized by 
diverse distribution and the predominance of retail bank 
activities.

Overview of credit risk
The bar chart on this page gives an overview of the 
percentage credit risk the bank was exposed to in 2016.

In 2016, the credit portfolio was diverse with regard to 
the economic activity sectors, ending in December with 
the construction sector holding the biggest share (18%), 
followed by wholesale trade (13%) and food and beverage 
industries (8%). 

The credit risk rating for 2016 is summarized as follows:

In 2016, the risk level with most weight in the Loans to 
Customers portfolio was Level C, with a weight of 54%.

Evolution of magnitudes
The performance of the assets in arrears and the cost of 
credit reflect the impact of the generalized deterioration 
of the economic climate, mitigated by prudent risk 
management that allowed these data to be kept at suitable 
levels. As a result, the Bank has an important level of general 
reserves and coverage available. 

The arrears rate reached 15% in June 2016. Following 
implementation of proactive measures by the Commercial 
Network, later corroborated by the implementation of 
assertive mechanisms by the Monitoring and Recovery 
Office, there was a fall to 7.9% in December 2016.
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Distribution of credit risk
The charts below show the credit risk diversification from 
an activity sector point of view. The Bank’s profile is mainly 
companies and the main portfolios are products with 
personal guarantees.

Banco Keve continues to have quite a diverse portfolio in 
terms of economic activity sectors.

The bar chart shows that the activity sector with least loss 
risk, level C, is Commerce, Maintenance and Repair, which is 
different from the situation the previous year, as a result of 
the monitoring activities employed last year.

Distribution of Credit Portfolio by Sector

2015 2016

Activity Sector Amount % Amount %

Agriculture 26 5,9% 15 4,1%

Agri-livestock 0 0,0% 0 0,0%

Commerce 62 14,1% 64 16,9%

Construction 63 14,4% 54 14,4%

Sport 20 4,6% 22 6,0%

Education 6 1,3% 4 1,1%

Hotels & Tourism 23 5,1% 16 4,1%

Real Estate 21 4,8% 22 5,9%

Manufacturing 35 7,9% 36 9,6%

Individual 34 7,8% 31 8,1%

Fisheries 0 0,0% 0 0,0%

Health 1 0,3% 1 0,2%

Services 148 33,7% 111 29,6%

Amounts in Million USD 440,8 100,0% 376,7 100,0%

An analysis of the distribution of the credit portfolio by 
industry classification (CAE) shows that the sector most 
strongly represented in the credit portfolio in the last two 
years was Services, followed by Commerce, with 111% e 
64%, respectively.

Assessment Metrics and Tools

Rating tool
The Bank uses its own models for assigning internal solvency 
or rating classifications. These are used to assess the credit 
quality of a customer or an operation. 

Each rating corresponds to a probability of non-compliance, 
determined from the historical experience of the Entity, 
except for some areas. 

The qualification tools used are applied to state segments, 
financial and investment banking entities with centralized 
management in the bank, both to determine their rating 
and to monitor the risk. These tools assign a rating to each 
customer arising from a quantitative or automatic model, 
based on macroeconomic variables or balance ratios, 
complemented by the specialized assessment of the analyst.

The ratings given to customers must be reviewed 
periodically, incorporated any new financial information 
available and the experience from the development of the 
banking relationship. The frequency of the reviews increases 
if customers reach alert levels on the automated system, as 
well as for those with a special monitoring rating. Similarly, 
the actual rating tools are also revised in order to be able to 
adjust them and their precision in giving risk ratings.
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Market risk
Market risk is associated with value at risk (VaR), a statistical 
measure that represents the maximum variation in the price 
of an asset, in an exchange rate or in the value of a securities 
portfolio, based on a predefined confidence interval. These 
financial losses may be incurred as a result of the impact 
of changes in interest rates, exchange rates or the prices of 
shares or commodities. 

The objective of market risk control is to support business 
management by establishing processes and implementing 
tools for assessing and controlling market risk, so that the 
risk appetite levels defined by the senior governing bodies 
can be measured and monitored. 

The interest rate risk is monitored monthly based on 
statistical information. The foreign exchange risk is 
monitored daily, based on a report containing the exposures 
and the regulatory limits. 

The balance sheet by currency is shown in Note 35 to the 
financial statements. 

With regard to foreign exchange risk, and like the previous 
year, part of the credit portfolio in foreign currency was 
converted to local currency, after customer negotiations had 
been concluded, with the aim of complying with the foreign 
exchange exposure limits.

The Bank uses stress tests to evaluate its exposure to 
interest rate risk.  The relevant trends and likelihood of 
occurrence of scenarios involving changes in the interest 
rates are established. For the baseline scenario, three 
scenarios are developed for each variable. The impact of 
changes in the scenarios is measured with respect to foreign 
exchange exposure, regulatory capital, net interest income, 
net income from foreign exchange transactions and pre-tax 
profits.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is:

a) The possibility that the institution will be unable to 
meet its expected and unexpected obligations, current 
and future, including those arising from guarantees, 
without affecting its daily operations and without 
incurring significant losses; and 

b) The possibility that the institution will be unable to 
trade a position at market price due to its large size in 
relation to the volume normally traded or because of 
some market interruption.

The purpose of liquidity risk management is to organize, 
assess and monitor the Bank’s liquidity risk, putting in place 
the necessary processes, tools and limits to generate and 
analyze prospective liquidity scenarios and monitor the risk 
appetite levels set by the senior governing bodies.

The main model of analysis used by Banco Keve is: the 
extended liquidity gap, with back-up liquidity, or the 
contingency liquidity gap, which uses the same assumptions 
as the extended liquidity gap but adds the possibility of 
obtaining funding through the collateralization of securities 
avilable in the Bank’s portfolio. 

In December 2016, Banco Keve had a positive accumulated 
liquidity gap on Net Assets with Additional Available Funds 
from the fourth month. Considering the concentration of 
very short-term liabilities and adopting a more conservative 
stance, the accumulated liquidity gap is negative over a 
longer horizon. 

The Bank has a policy of maintaining a loan-to-deposit (LTD) 
ratio at levels compatible with the structure of deposits. 
Banco Keve’s LTD ratio is 65.1%, slightly above the average of 
the reference value (60%) of the Angolan financial system. 

The Bank has been negotiating medium and long-term lines 
of credit with financial institutions, mainly abroad.

Operational risk
Definition and aims

The Bank defines Operational Risk as “the risk of loss 
resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people or systems or from external events”. It generally 
arises from purely operational causes, which sets it apart 
from the market and credit risks, even though they also 
include external risk, such as natural disasters.
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The Bank’s aim regarding control and management of 
operational risk is based on identifying, measuring/
assessing, controlling/minimizing and information on that 
risk. 

The Bank’s priority then is to identify and eliminate risk 
areas, regardless of whether there have been losses or not. 
Measurement also contributed to establishing priorities for 
operational risk management. 

Implementation of the operational risk management model 
at the GRI began in October 2016. At the moment, the 
process is in the very early stages, but it is very demanding 
with regard to the composition of the categories and the 
risk types, in accordance with the regulator (Internal Fraud, 
External Fraud, working practices, occupational health and 
safety; Practices with customers, products and business, 
Damage to fixed assets, business interruption and failures 
in systems and execution, delivery and management of 
processes). 

The operational risk management model to be used will 
bring the following advantages:

• Integral, effective management of operational risk 
(identifying, measuring / assessing, controlling /
minimizing and information).

To ensure legal compliance, the Board of Directors 
continuously monitors the entire legal framework 
applicable to the Bank, drawing on specialized external 
support whenever necessary. 

The Bank is also an active member of the Angolan 
Association of Banks (ABANC), keeping senior management 
permanently abreast of all matters under discussion in the 
sector, as well as any new rules and standards. Studies of 
the impact of regulatory changes on the Bank are carried 
out on a regular basis. In this context, studies are always 
done on the impact of regulatory changes on the Bank.

Compliance risk
Compliance risk management is assured by the Compliance 
Office, whose mission is to assure compliance and correct 
application of the recommendations and legal and 
regulatory provisions issued by regulatory and supervisory 
bodies. It is also up to the Compliance Office to take steps 
to reduce the risk of money laundering and terrorism 
financing, reporting any suspicious operations to the 
competent authorities.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 

Amounts in thousand Kwanzas (kAOA)

Notes
2016

kAOA
2015

kAOA

ASSETS

CASH AND BANKS 3 16.772.795 24.959.885

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 4 5.226.612 7.395.107

Interbank Money Market Transactions  5.226.612 6.894.252

Third-party Securities Purchased With Resale Agreements  0 500.855

MARKETABLE SECURITIES 5 50.167.935 30.583.412

Held for Trading  8.323.877 6.652.900

Held to Maturity  41.844.058 23.930.512

RECEIVABLES IN THE PAYMENT SYSTEM 6 392.843 185.786

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS 0 5.356

LOANS 7 58.102.443 58.600.633

Loans  64.246.063 60.497.231

Provision for Doubtful Debts  -6.143.620 -1.896.598

OTHER ASSETS  3.356.533 3.427.153

Other Tax-related Assets 8 173.685 148.982

Other Non-tax Assets 9 2.416.898 2.206.567

Other Administrative Assets 10 705.410 1.011.064

Property not for own use 11 60.540 60.540

FIXED ASSETS  6.667.817 5.619.265

Investments 12 108.822 118.075

Tangible Fixed Assets 13 6.543.234 5.122.185

Intangible Assets 14 15.761 379.005

TOTAL ASSETS  140.686.978 130.776.597

LIABILITIES   

DEPOSITS 15 89.263.624 96.997.489

Demand  50.771.728 74.196.539

Term  38.491.896 22.800.950

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 18 1.010.849 65.579

Interbank Money Market Transactions 1.010.849 0

Own Securities Sold with Repurchase Agreement 0 65.579

PAYABLES IN THE PAYMENT SYSTEM 16 523.512 786.344

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS  17 27.723.814 13.451.356

OTHER BORROWINGS 18 3.555.365 3.950.217

Subordinated Debt 3.411.334 2.784.857

Other Bank Borrowings 144.031 1.165.360

OTHER LIABILITIES 19 1.815.803 1.616.078

OTHER LIABILITIES 1.678.229 1.239.701

CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 137.574 376.377

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 20 2.157.314 1.761.576

TOTAL LIABILITIES  126.050.281 118.628.639

EQUITY 21   

Capital  4.000.000 4.000.000

Reserves and Funds  8.003.489 7.181.992

Unrealized Gains/Losses  36.876 36.876

Retained Earnings  107.593 107.593

Net Income for the year  2.488.739 821.497

TOTAL EQUITY  14.636.697 12.147.958

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  140.686.978 130.776.597
The attached notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Financial Statements and Notes
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INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDING ON DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
Amounts in thousand Kwanzas (kAOA)

Notes
2016

kAOA
2015

kAOA

Net Interest Income 22 10.709.038 6.509.726

Proceeds from Financial Instruments (Assets) 12.617.215 7.744.872

Proceeds from Short-Term Investments 646.716 334.636

Proceeds from Marketable Securities 3.330.821 1.236.664

Proceeds from Loans 8.639.678 6.173.572

Cost of Financial Instruments (Liabilities) -1.908.177 -1.235.146

Cost of Deposits -1.379.396 -914.777

Cost of Short-Term Borrowings -152.624 -23.610

Cost of Other Borrowings -376.157 -296.759

Negative Fair Value Adjustments 23 5.313.492 1.853.735

Gains/Losses on Foreign Exchange Transactions 24 1.928.607 1.834.186

Income from the Provision of Financial Services 25 3.510.401 2.439.675

Provisions for doubtful debts and Guarantees given 26 -7.741.733 -3.050.896

Financial Intermediation Income 13.719.805 9.586.426

Administrative and Sales Expenses -10.522.990 -8.245.187

Staff 27 -4.623.298 -2.957.584

Third-Party Supplies 28 -4.635.192 -3.293.348

Non-Income-Related Taxes and Levies -264.861 -149.696

Penalties Applied by Regulatory Authorities -11.039 -4.177

Other Administrative and Sales Expenses 29 -271.432 -1.081.943

Depreciation and Amortization 30 -717.168 -758.439

Provisions for Other Assets and Contingent Liabilities 31 -394 -145.951

Other Operating Income and Expenses 32 1.193 1.247.939

Operating Income 3.197.614 2.443.227

Non-Operating Income 33 -626.882 -1.254.070

Earnings before Tax and Other Charges 2.570.732 1.189.157

Charges on Current Income 34 -81.993 -367.660

Net Income for the Year 2.488.739 821.497

Nº Of Shares 5.000.000 5.000.000

Earnings per Share (mAOA) 0,498 0,164

The attached notes are an integral part of these statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDING ON DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

Amounts in thousand Kwanzas (kAOA)

kAOA
Share 

Capital
Legal 

Reserves
Other 

Reserves
Potencial 

Income
Retained
Earnings

Net for 
the year

Total 
Funds

BALANCES AS AT DECEMBER 
31, 2014

4.000.000 1.436.882 4.342.506 36.876 138.444 1.728.534 11.683.242

Application of 2014 Profit 0 345.707 1.056.897 0 -30.851 -1.402.604 -30.851

Distribution of Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 -325.930 -325.930

Net Income for the year 0 0 0 0 0 821.497 821.497

BALANCES AS AT DECEMBER 
31, 2015

4.000.000 1.782.589 5.399.403 36.876 107.593 821.497 12.147.958

Application of 2015 Profit 0 164.299 657.198 0 0 -821.497 0

Net Income for the year 0 0 0 0 0 2.488.739 2.488.739

BALANCES AS AT DECEMBER 
31, 2016

4.000.000 1.946.888 6.056.601 36.876 107.593 2.488.739 14.636.697

The attached notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDING ON DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

Amounts in thousand Kwanzas (kAOA)

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Financial Intermediation Cash Flow 11.303.667 6.509.725

Receipt of Proceeds from Financial Instruments (assets) 12.969.996 7.744.871

Receipt of Proceeds from Short-term Borrowings 646.716 334.636

Receipt of proceeds from marketable securities 3.330.821 1.236.664

Receipt of Credit Proceeds 8.992.459 6.173.572

Payment of Costs of Financial Instruments (liabilities) -1.666.330 -1.235.146

Payment of Deposit Costs -1.379.396 -914.777

Payment of Costs of Short-term borrowings -152.624 -23.610

Payment of Costs of Other Borrowings -134.309 -296.759

Cash Flow from Gains/(Losses) from Trading and Fair Value Adjustments 5.313.492 1.853.735

Cash Flow from Gains/(Losses) on Foreign Exchange Transactions 1.216.395 1.834.186

Cash Flow from the Income from the Provision of Financial Services 3.510.401 2.439.675

Operational and Financial Intermediation Cash Flow 21.343.954 12.637.321

Receipts and Payments with Other Operating Income and Costs -10.578.766 -5.863.603

Payment of Administrative and Sales Expenses -10.522.990 -7.486.747

Cash Flow from Settlement of Payment System Operations -55.776 7.066

Cash Flow from Other Values and Other Obligations 1.815.803 1.616.078

Operating Cash Flow 10.765.188 6.773.718

Cash flow from Investments and Financial Intermediation -21.512.285 96.584.508

Investment cash flow in short-term investments 2.168.495 7.395.107

Investment cash flow in marketable securities -19.584.524 30.583.412

Investment cash flow in foreign exchange transactions 5.356 5.356

Investment cash flow in credit -4.101.613 58.600.633

Investment cash flow in other assets -70.620 3.427.152

Fixed asset cash flow -1.048.551 6.873.336

Investment cash flow in fixed assets -1.048.551 5.619.266

Cash flow from other non-operating gains/losses 0 1.254.070

Investment cash flow -22.631.456 106.884.996

Cash flow from financing and financial intermediation 3.878.904 -106.564.207

Cash flow from financing and deposits -7.975.713 -96.997.489

Cash flow from Financing and in Short-term Investments 945.271 -65.579

Cash flow from financing and foreign exchange transactions 11.247.007 -13.451.356

Cash flow from financing and other borrowings -337.662 3.950.217

Cash flow from financing and other liabilities -199.725 -1.290.148

Cash flow from financing 3.679.179 -108.180.285

Distribution of dividends 0 -325.930

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -8.187.090 5.373.854

BALANCE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 24.959.885 19.586.031

BALANCE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 16.772.795 24.959.885

The attached notes are an integral part of these statements.
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1. CORE BUSINESS

Banco Regional do Keve, S.A. (hereinafter called “Banco Keve” 
or the “Bank”) is a privately owned bank headquartered in 
Sumbe, Kwanza Sul. It was incorporated on September 19, 
2003 and began commercial operations on October 1 of 
the same year. The Bank officially adopted the abbreviated 
trading name “Banco Keve” in December 2007. 

The company’s core business is banking, under the terms 
permitted by law, which includes raising funds from 
third parties in the form of deposits or in other forms 
and using them, along with its own funds, to grant loans, 
make deposits at Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA), make 
investments in credit institutions and acquire securities 
and other assets. The company also provides other banking 
services and carries out various types of transactions in 
foreign currency. 

The Bank was incorporated with capital of AOA 456 million 
(equivalent to USD 5.7 million), represented by 570,000 
registered shares with a face value of AOA 800 per share, 
fully subscribed and paid up in cash. 

In 2006, the Bank increased its capital to AOA 800 million 
(equivalent to USD 10 million), represented by 1,000,000 
registered shares, with a face value of AOA 800 per share. 
The increase, in the amount of AOA 344 million, was fully 
subscribed and paid up in cash. 

In 2007, the Bank increased its capital to AOA 4 billion 
(equivalent to USD 50 million), represented by 5,000,000 
registered shares, with a face value of AOA 800 per share. 
The increase was funded by AOA 2,400 million in cash and 
AOA 800 million in reserves.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT
     ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements were prepared on the going 
concern basis and according to the policies set out in the 
Chart of Accounts for Financial Institutions (CONTIF), as 
defined in BNA Instruction nº 09/07, of September 19, and 
subsequent amendments. 

The financial statements of the Bank as at December 31, 
2016 have still not been approved by the Annual General 
Meeting. However, the Board of Directors believes that 
these will be approved without any significant changes. 

The financial statements of the Bank at December 31, 2016 
and 2015 are expressed in thousands of kwanzas (mAOA), in 
accordance with Art. 5 of BNA Notice 15/2007, all the assets 
and liabilities denominated in other currencies having been 
converted to local currency using the average indicative 
exchange rate published by Banco Nacional de Angola on 
those dates. 

The dollar/kwanza and euro/kwanza exchange rates as at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows: 

2016 2015

1 USD 165,903 135,315

1 EUR 185,379 147,832

The following accounting policies are applicable to the 
financial statements as at December 31, 2016 and 2015.

a) Accrual basis
Income and expenses are recorded in the period to which 
they relate on an accrual basis, irrespective of when they are 
received or paid, according to the accrual basis. 

Dividends are recognized when received.

b) Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are recorded under the 
principles of a multi-currency system, each transaction 
being recorded exclusively based on its currency. This 
method requires that all balances denominated in foreign 
currency be converted to kwanzas at the reference exchange 
rate published by BNA on the balance sheet date. Income 
and expenses from realized and unrealized exchange 
rate differences from asset and liability revaluation are 
recognized in the income statement for the year in which 
they occur under “Foreign exchange gains and losses”. 
(Note 24). 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currency and stated at historical cost, except for 
investments, are converted to kwanzas at the benchmark 
exchange rate published by BNA on the transaction date. 

Spot and forward purchases and sales of foreign currency 
are recorded immediately in the foreign exchange position 
account on the date they are made. Whenever these 
transactions lead to changes in the net balances in different 
currencies, the spot and forward foreign exchange position 
accounts are updated in accordance with the following 
content and revaluation criteria:

 • Foreign currency notes and coins: foreign currency notes 
and coins are revalued daily based on BNA reference 
rates. The differences are recognized as income or 
expenses for the year; 

• Spot position: the spot position in each currency is the 
net balance of assets and liabilities in that currency. 
The spot position is revalued daily based on the average 
reference rate from BNA, giving rise to movements in the 
currency position account (equivalent amount in local 
currency), and the corresponding income or expense is 
recognized in profit or loss;

• Forward currency position: the forward currency 
position in each currency is the net balance of forward 
transactions awaiting settlement, except those 
maturing within the next two business days.  Contracts 
relating to these transactions are revalued at forward 
exchange rates quoted in the market or, where no 
prices are available, at rates calculated based on the 
interest rates applicable to the remaining term of 
each transaction. The difference between the value in 
kwanzas at the forward revaluation rate applied and the 
equivalent in kwanzas at the contracted rate represents 
the income or expense from revaluing the forward 
position and is recorded in income or expense accounts 
as a forward currency position revaluation difference, 
with changes recognized in a special forward currency 
position revaluation account.
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c) Securities
Marketable securities acquired by the Bank are recorded at 
the amount actually paid, including brokerage charges and 
fees Based on the nature of the securities and their intended 
purpose at the time of acquisition, the Bank classifies 
its investments at initial recognition in the following 
categories:

• Securities held for trade – These are securities acquired 
for the purpose of being actively and frequently traded. 
Securities held for trade are initially recognized at 
acquisition cost, including costs directly related to the 
acquisition of the asset. They are later measured at their 
fair value and the income or expenses arising from this 
is recognized in income for the year.

Securities that do not have an active market prices with 
regular transactions and that have short maturities are 
measured based on acquisition cost as it is believed that 
this is the best approximation to their market value.

• Securities held to maturity – This item includes securities 
the Bank has the intention and financial capacity to hold 
to maturity. The Bank may not classify any marketable 
securities as held to maturity if, during the current 
fiscal year or in any of the two preceding fiscal years, a 
substantial part of them was sold or reclassified prior to 
maturity, except in cases where the acquisition cost of 
the securities, plus accrued income, is not significantly 
different from the market value.

Central Bank securities and Treasury Bills are issued at 
discounted value and recorded at their acquisition cost. The 
difference between this and the nominal value, which is the 
Bank’s remuneration, is recognized as a profit throughout 
the year, from the date of purchase to the date of maturity 
of the securities (Notes 5 and 22).

Treasury Bonds are recorded at acquisition cost. Interest 
income from marketable securities accrued during the 
period to maturity or declared dividends are taken directly 
to the income statement and recorded under “Proceeds 
from marketable securities” (Note 22).

Treasury Bonds issued in foreign currency, as well as those 
issued in local currency indexed to the USD exchange rate 
are subject to exchange rate adjustment. Thus, the result of 
the exchange rate adjustment of the nominal value of the 
securities is recorded in the income statements in the year 
they occur under “Gains/(losses) from trading and fair value 
adjustments” (Note 23). On the other hand, the interest 
is recorded under “Proceeds from marketable securities” 
(Note 22).

Marketable securities are classified in ascending order of 
risk, according to the same criteria defined in the credit 
regulations described in Note 2(e). The Bank classifies 
debt securities from the Angolan Government and BNA 
as Level A.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the portfolio of securities 
held to maturity was recorded at amortized cost.

Third-part securities that are in the custody of the Bank 
are recorded at their nominal value in the off-balance 
sheet account and follow the mandatory general inventory 
criteria (Note 37). 

As defined by Presidential Legislative Decree No. 2/14, 
revenue from public debt securities (Treasury Bills, Treasury 
Bonds and Central Bank Securities) are subject to Tax on 
Invested Capital (“IAC”).

The Bank also carries out annual impairment tests for 
financial instruments in its portfolio, the date coinciding 
with the date the yarely accounts are closed.

Transfer of Securities between Categories
Transfers from one category to another are permitted 
only in isolated, unusual, non-recurring and reasonably 
unforeseeable circumstances arising after the classification 
date. The documents supporting the reclassification, duly 
accompanied by an explanation of the reasons by the 
Executive Committee of the Bank, must be kept available to 
BNA.

Any transfer to a different category must take into account 
the Bank’s intention and financial capacity and be carried 
out at the market value of the marketable securities 
involved, in accordance with the following procedures:

 1) Transfers from securities held for trading to other 
  categories cannot entail reversal of amounts already 
  recorded as income from unrealized gains or losses; 

 2) In transfers from the available-for-sale category, unrealized 
  gains and losses recorded as a specific component of 
  equity must be recognized in income for the period: 

  i. Immediately when the transfer is to “securities held 
     for trading”; 

  ii. According to the remaining term to maturity, when 
      the transfer is to securities held to maturity; 

 3) In transfers from the held-to-maturity category to other 
  categories,   unrealized   gains   and   losses   must   be
   recognized:  

  i. Immediately in the income statement for the period, 
     when the transfer is to securities held for trading;

  ii. As a specific equity component, when the transfer is 
      to the available-for-sale category.

d) Loans
Loans are financial assets and should be recorded at 
contracted amounts if they originate from the financial 
institution itself, or at the amount paid if purchased 
from others, with the respective updates provided for in 
the contracts. The interest component is accounted for 
separately in the respective balance sheet account and 
accrued income is taken to the income statement over the 
life of the loans, irrespective of when it is received or paid. 
No income of any kind may be recognized in the income 
statement for loans more than 60 days past due on payment 
of principal or interest.

Loans are subsequently recorded at their initial value net of 
amounts repaid and provisions for doubtful debts.

Liabilities for guarantees/sureties given and documentary 
credits are recorded in off-balance sheet items for the 
amount at risk (Note 37), while interest, commissions and 
other income are taken to the relevant income statement 
item over the life of the transactions.
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As of the effective date of BNA Notice 4/2011, of June 8, 
later revoked by BNA Notice 3/2012, of March 28, loans 
with disbursement of funds are made in local currency for 
all entities, except for the State and companies with proven 
foreign currency revenue and receipts, for the following 
purposes:

- Liquidity assistance, including revolving credit facilities;

- Automobile financing; 

- Consumer loans; 

- Micro-credit; 

- Advances to depositors or overdrafts; 

- Other types of short-term financial credit (less than 1 year).

The Bank has adopted a policy of renegotiation, recovery 
and assignment of credit rights in accordance with BNA 
Notice 03/2012, of March 28. For this purpose, it negotiated 
additional guarantees, assessing primary and secondary 
sources of repayment and credit risk, by means of settlement 
with property and/or payments in kind.

e) Provision for doubtful debts
Banco Keve, S.A., for reasons linked to the unavailability 
of suitable IT resources, has still not complied with the 
methodology for the set-up of provisions recommended 
in Instruction nº 09/2015, of June 4, maintaining the 
record of provisions based on the requirements of Notice 
nº 3/2012. The Bank currently has a project underway to 
gain these resources, in the short term, and comply with the 
requirements of that Instruction.

Provisions for loans are recorded based on an analysis 
of outstanding loans (both non-performing and 
performing and including guarantees and sureties given 
and documentary credits) and in an amount considered 
sufficient to cover loan losses under the Lending Rules, in 
accordance with the standards set out in BNA Notice 3/2012, 
of March 28, most notably the provisions that are recorded 
after the loan (or guarantee/surety or documentary credit) 
has been granted. Provisions are recorded monthly and the 
amount is calculated by multiplying the book value of each 
loan by the provisioning percentage, taking into account 
the amount receivable from the borrower, plus income and 
charges of any nature not received, including any income or 
charges arising from exchange differences. The calculation 
uses the customer’s risk rating, based on a periodic analysis 
of customer and loan quality, not just days past due as to 
principal or interest. 

Transactions falling due within two years:

Risk Risk Level Days past due

Minimum 
provision to be 

recorded

No risk A Up to 15 days 0%

Very low B 15 to 30 1%

Low C 30 to 60 3%

Moderate D 60 to 90 10%

High E 90 to 150 20%

Very High F 150 to 180 50%

Loss G
Longer than 

180
100%

Transactions falling due in more than two years:

Risk Risk Level Days past due

Minimum 
provision to be 

recorded

No risk A Up to 30 days 0%

Very low B 30 to 60 1%

Low C 60 to 120 3%

Moderate D 120 to 180 10%

High E 180 to 300 20%

Very High F 300 to 360 50%

Loss G
Longer than 

360
100%

As seen in the table above, for loans granted with a term 
of over 24 months, the days past due for each risk class are 
doubled.

For provisioning purposes, where several loans have been 
granted to the same customer, all the loans are classified at 
the level of the loan with the highest risk level.

A loan that is reclassified to a lower risk category as a result of 
a reduction in days past due cannot be reclassified to a level 
lower than the one established in the initial classification or 
determined in a periodic risk assessment.

Provisions for loan losses are recognized in assets under 
the “Provisions for loan losses”, as a contra-account to the 
“Loans” account (Note 7), and allowances for guarantees/
sureties given and documentary credits unsecured at 
the balance sheet date are recognized in liabilities under 
“Provisions for contingent liabilities – Guarantees given” 
(Note 20).

Loan write-offs
Loans are transferred to a specific off-balance sheet account 
and the associated provision is debited accordingly when 
they have been classified at risk level G for six months. 
Earlier write-off is not permitted. Written-off loans must be 
monitored analytically and must continue to be disclosed as 
an off-balance sheet item for at least 10 years and until all 
collection procedures have been exhausted.

Loan renegotiation
Renegotiated loans are maintained at a risk level no 
lower than the one they were classified at in the month 
immediately preceding the renegotiation. 

Loans may be reclassified to a lower risk category in the 
monthly risk classification review, depending on the 
regularity and size of the payments compared to the total 
debt. 

Gains or revenue resulting from renegotiation are recognized 
only when they are actually received.

Recovery of loans
In the event of recovery of a loan that was previously written 
off against the loan loss allowance, the amounts received are 
recognized under “Other operating income and costs” (Note 
32), when they refer to the current year, and under “Non-
operating income” (Note 33) when they refer to earlier years.
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f) Monetary revaluation
As provided for in BNA Notice 2/2009, of May 8, on 
monetary revaluation, which revoked BNA Notice 19/2007, 
of September 26, where inflationary conditions prevail, 
financial institutions must account for the effects of the 
change in purchasing power of the local currency on a 
monthly basis by applying the consumer price index to the 
capital, reserves and income brought forward.

The financial statements of a company whose functional 
currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy must 
be expressed in terms of the current measurement unit at 
the balance sheet date.  A country’s economy is considered 
to be hyperinflationary if the following situations, among 
others, apply:

• The population generally prefer to keep their wealth 
in non-monetary assets or in a relatively stable foreign 
currency. Amounts held in local currency are immediately 
invested in order to preserve purchasing power;

• The population generally see monetary amounts in 
terms of a stable foreign currency. Prices may be quoted 
in that other currency;

• Sales and purchases on credit take place at prices that 
compensate for the expected loss of purchasing power 
during the term of the credit, even where that period is 
short;

• Interest rates, salaries and prices are referenced to a 
price index; and

• The cumulative inflation rate over the last three years is 
close to or over 100%.

The amount obtained from monetary revaluation must 
be recorded monthly as a debit to the income statement 
account “Profit/(loss) on monetary revaluation”, with a 
corresponding increase in equity accounts, except for “Share 
capital”, which must be classified under a specific item 
(“Share capital monetary revaluation reserve”) and can only 
be used for subsequent share capital increases. 

In 2016 and 2015 the Bank did not restate its investments 
and equity accounts in this way, as inflation data and 
exchange rate trends over that period did not suggest that 
Angola could be considered a hyperinflationary economy 
under the prevailing regulatory provisions.

g) Property not for own use
“Property not for own use” includes properties (Note 11) 
received in settlement of debt, following the recovery of 
non-performing loans, and is intended for subsequent 
disposal.

In accordance with CONTIF, properties received in settlement 
of debt are recorded at their appraised value, offsetting 
the value of the recovered loan and the associated specific 
provisions.

When the outstanding amount of the loan is greater than 
its carrying amount (net of the allowance), the difference, 
up to the appraised amount of the properties, is recognized 
as income for the period. When the appraised value of the 
properties is less than the carrying amount of the loan, the 
difference is recognized as an expense for the year.

h) Financial assets
The Bank applies the equity method to measure its 
investments in the following situations:

    (i)  When the corporate holdings are in a group relationship;

 (ii)  When the corporate holdings are significant and the 
  Bank   has   management   influence,   or   when   the 
  shareholding, either directly or indirectly, represents 
  20% or more of the voting capital of the investee.

A corporate holding is in a group relationship if control is 
exercised over the company. Control may be exercised in 
the form of operational control, where there is common 
management or administration, or corporate control, where 
control is achieved by adding up the percentages directly held 
by the Bank, its directors, controlling parties and associated 
companies.

A corporate holding is considered significant if:

       (i) Its book value is at least 10% of the Bank’s equity; or

     (ii) The book value of the various shareholdings, taken 
            together, is at least 15% of the Bank’s equity.

Under the equity method, investments are initially recorded 
at their acquisition cost and subsequently adjusted according 
to the changes that take place after the acquisition in the 
Bank’s share of the net assets of the relevant associate. The 
Bank’s share of the results of these investees is included in 
profit or loss. 

In addition, the Bank must record a provision for losses 
when there is an uncovered liability in the holding and the 
Bank’s intention is to maintain its financial support for the 
investee. 

Corporate holdings in associates and equivalent companies 
will no longer be measured using the equity method when 
there is clear and effective evidence of discontinuation 
of operations or if they must operate under severe long-
term restrictions that significantly impair their capacity to 
transfer funds to the investor. 

Shareholdings in other companies where the equity 
method is not applicable are recorded at their acquisition 
cost. Impairment tests are carried out on these holdings 
and whenever permanent losses are estimated in their 
realization value, the relevant provisions are recorded. 

When shareholdings denominated in foreign currency, their 
acquisition cost is recorded at the exchange rate in force on 
the day of the operation. Whenever permanent losses of the 
realizable value are estimated, the corresponding provisions 
are set up and reflected in the income statements under 
income from financial assets. Potential exchange rate 
variations are not recorded. 

For the year ending on December 31, 2016, the Bank’s 
financial assets are valued as follows:
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Holdings in 
other companies

% 
Holding

Nº of
Shares Type

Measurement 
method

EMIS - Empresa 
Interbancária 
de Serviços

2,42% 2.988 Ordinary
Acquisition 

cost

Sagripek 5,00% 80 Ordinary
Acquisition 

cost

Gestcall - Gestão 
e Serviços de 
Atendimento

15,00% 1.500 Ordinary
Acquisition 

cost

i) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are initially recorded at acquisition 
cost. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 
in twelve-month periods from the month the asset was 
acquired, applying the maximum annual rates permitted 
for tax purposes over the periods shown below, which do 
not differ substantially from the expected useful life:

Item
Number of 

years

Rates of 
amortization 

2016

Rates of 
amortization 

2016

Property for own 
use

25 a 50 2,0% a 4,0% 2,0%

Transport 
equipment

4 25,0% 25,0%

Furniture and 
materials

6 16,7% 16,7%

Machinery and 
tools

3 a 8 12,5% a 33,3% 12,5% a 33,3%

IT
equipment

3 33,3% 33,3%

Furniture and
fittings

3 a 25 25,0% a 33,3% 20,0%

Security equipment 8 12,5% 12,5%

Other equipment 5 12,5% a 20,0% 12,5%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is according to the 
estimate period of useful life of the assets, which is not 
significantly different from the rates accepted as a cost 
for tax purposes. The legally accepted depreciation and 
amortization rates were updated by Presidential Decree 
nº 207/15, of November 5, which defined new rates of 
depreciation, amortization and reintegration of assets and 
elements of fixed assets that return to operation or begin 
operation in 2015.

j) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost and 
amortized using the straight-line method from the month 
they are acquired, for the following periods:

Item
Number 
of years

Rates of 
amortization 

2016

Rates of 
amortization 

2016

Incorporation 
expenses, deferred 
costs and software 
acquisition costs

5 20% 20%

Leasehold improve-
ments

(a) 2,0% a 25,0% 2,0% a 25,0%

(a) The number of years of useful life of leasehold improvements is equal to 
the number of years of the lease agreement.

The intangible assets considered relevant will be tested 
annually for impairment.

k) Decrease in the recoverable value of other assets
The Bank periodically assesses its assets, especially when 
preparing the financial statements, in order to identify 
assets whose recoverable amount is less than their 
carrying amount.  When the book value is greater than the 
recoverable value, the impairment is recognized in profit or 
loss and the provision is set up as a deduction from assets. In 
assessing evidence of impairment, the Bank must consider 
at least the following indicators:

• Significant decline in the value of an asset beyond what 
would be expected from its normal use;

• Significant changes in the technological, economic or 
legal environment, with adverse effects for the Bank;

• Increase in interest or other market rates, with effects on 
discount rates and consequent reduction in the present 
value or in the recoverable value of the assets;

• Carrying amount of net total assets greater than market 
value;

• Available evidence of obsolescence or loss of physical 
capacity of an asset;

• Significant changes in an asset’s use, such as 
discontinuation or restructuring, with adverse effects 
for the Bank;

• Indication the economic performance of the asset is 
worse than expected.

l) Deferred costs
These include amounts paid to suppliers between six 
months and a year in advance. They are recorded under 
“Other administrative assets” (Note 10) and charged to the 
corresponding cost accounts monthly.

m) Liabilities for retirement pension and survivor benefits
Bank’s pension plan was established under the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement for the banking sector in Angola, 
signed in 2003 and pending future addenda on all matters 
relating to the creation of a pension and survivor benefits 
fund to complement the mandatory Social Security scheme. 

During 2015 the Bank appointed a committee to monitor 
and implement the pension plan for the Bank’s employees. 
Although a fund has not yet been formally established to 
manage the pension plan, the Board of Directors has decided 
that it will be a defined contribution plan. 

The new General Employment Act (Law 07/2015 of 15 June), 
which came into effect in September 2015, does not provide 
for the payment of retirement benefits to workers that reach 
the legal retirement age. 

Therefore, the Bank is in the process of joining a retirement 
pension plan, but no date has yet been set for this. The initial 
provision set up by the Bank for the Fund is recorded under 
“Provisions for contingent liabilities” (Note 20).



ANNUAL REPORT 2016100

n) Variable performance-based pay
The Bank grants variable performance-based pay 
performance bonuses) to its employees and directors. The 
Board of Directors and the Remuneration Committee set the 
criteria for awarding bonuses to each employee and director 
when such bonuses are granted. Variable remuneration paid 
to employees and directors is charged to income for the year 
to which the remuneration relates, even though the actual 
payment is made the following year.

o) Taxes
Industrial Tax
The Bank is subject to Industrial Tax and is classified as a 
Group A taxpayer. The Industrial Tax rate for the year is 
determined based on the 30% rate (Law 19/14, of October 
22), applied to profits before taxes in the period, as stated 
in the income statement, plus non-tax deductible expenses 
and net of tax benefits obtained, in accordance with the 
applicable laws (Notes 19 and 34). 

With the entry into force on January 1, 2015 of the new 
Industrial Tax Code, approved on October 22, 2015 by Law 
19/14, income that is subject to Tax on Invested Capital 
(IAC) can be deducted from taxable income for Industrial 
Tax purposes and the IAC is not a tax deductible expense. 
The reconciliation of taxable income and accounting income 
is given in Note 34. 

Tax losses in a given year, as provided in article 46 of the 
Industrial Tax Code, can be deducted from taxable income 
in the subsequent three years. 

On the other hand, in a meeting with the Angolan 
Association of Banks (ABANC), the Tax Authority (AGT) 
confirmed that the income from public debt securities 
(including any exchange rate revaluations) issued up to 
December 31, 2012 is exempt from all taxes under the 
scope of the law regarding their issue and that exchange 
rate revaluations of public debt securities issued after that 
date in local currency but indexed to the foreign currency 
are subject to Industrial Tax. 

According to tax law, corporate income tax and other 
tax returns may be subject to review and adjustments by 
the tax authorities in the five years following the year to 
which they relate (10 years for Social Security). The Board 
of Directors believes that any corrections that might arise 
from those reviews would not have a material effect on the 
accompanying financial statements.

Tax on Invested Capital (IAC)
Under Presidential Legislative Decree 2/14, IAC is payable, 
as a general rule, on income from the Bank’s investments, 
especially income from short-term investments and from 
securities.  The rate varies between 5% and 15%, depending 
on the type of income and the term to maturity. 

In a letter to ABANC, on September 26, 2013, BNA reiterated 
that the revenue from Treasury Bonds and Treasury Bills are 
only subject to IAC if they were issued after January 1, 2013.

Urban Properties Tax (IPU)
IPU is payable on the value of the properties owned by the 
Bank and used in the Bank’s ordinary activities where the 
value is greater than kAOA 5,000. The rate is 0.5%.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes reflect the impact on the tax recoverable or 
payable in future periods as a result of deductible or taxable 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities and their respective tax base used 
to determine taxable income. Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are calculated at the tax rates in effect for the 
period in which the relevant asset or liability is expected to 
be realized Reported tax losses also give rise to deferred tax 
assets 

Deferred tax liabilities are normally recorded for all taxable 
temporary differences, whereas deferred tax assets are 
only recognized up to the amount for which it is likely that 
there will be sufficient future taxable profits to allow the 
deductible tax differences to be used or the reported tax 
losses to be carried forward.

In addition, deferred tax assets are not recognized if their 
recoverability may be called into question due to other 
circumstances, including issues regarding interpretation of 
tax laws. 

Nevertheless, no deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
recognized for temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities in transactions which do 
not affect accounting or taxable income. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank had not 
recognized any deferred tax assets, as it believed their 
future recoverability was uncertain.

p) Provisions and contingencies
Provisions
Provisions represent probable liabilities at estimated due 
dates and values. Provisions are recognized when: (i) the 
Bank has a present, legal or constructive obligation, (ii) 
it is probable that the Bank will be required to settle the 
obligation, and (iii) the amount of the obligation can be 
reliably estimated. The amount of the provision is the best 
estimate of the amount needed to settle the liability at the 
balance sheet date.

Contingent liabilities
Bank liabilities for which a future outflow of funds is possible 
but not probable are treated as contingent liabilities. 
However, unless the possibility of an outflow of economic 
resources is remote, a contingent liability is disclosed. 

Contingent liabilities are recognized in off-balance sheet 
accounts when (i) the Bank has a possible present obligation 
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more future events not under 
the Bank’s control; (ii) a present obligation arising from past 
events, but which is not recognized because its payment by 
the Bank is not probable or because the amount cannot be 
measured with sufficient reliability. 

Contingent liabilities are reassessed periodically to 
determine if the previous assessment is still valid. If it is 
probable that there will be an outflow of funds for an item 
previously considered a contingent liability, a provision 
must be recognized in the financial statements for the 
period when the change in the probability estimate occurs.

Contingent assets
A contingent asset is a possible present asset arising from 
past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events 
not wholly under the Bank’s control. Contingent assets are 
disclosed and recognized in off-balance sheet accounts, 
unless the probability of their materialization is remote. 

Contingent assets must be reassessed periodically to 
determine if the previous assessment is still valid. If an 
inflow of funds previously considered probable in respect 
of an asset becomes practically certain, the asset and the 
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related gains must be recognized in the financial statements 
for the period in which when the change in the probability 
estimate occurs.

q) Recognition of income from services provided, fees and 
commissions

Commissions for services provided are normally recognized 
as income over the period during which the service is 
provided or on a one-off basis if they are the result of the 
performance of specific acts.

r) Earnings per share
Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit 
attributable to the Bank’s shareholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the 
year, not including the average number of ordinary shares 
purchased by the Bank and held as own shares. 

If earnings per share change due to an issue at premium or 
discount or other event that alters the potential number 
of ordinary shares or to changes in accounting policies, the 
calculation of earnings per share for all periods reported is 
adjusted retrospectively.

s) Main estimates and uncertainties associated with    
    application of the accounting policies
The Bank’s accounts include estimates made under 
conditions of uncertainty which require the Board of 
Directors to use its judgment to make a suitable estimate. 

In some situations, the estimates made by the Bank’s Board 
of Directors could be different if a different judgment were 
made. The Board of Directors believes that the criteria used 
are appropriate and that the financial statements give a fair 
view of the Bank’s financial position and of its operations in 
all materially relevant aspects. 

Estimates and assumptions have primarily been made 
in relation to Provisions for doubtful loans, estimates of 
the fair value of securities held for trading, Provisions for 
contingent liabilities, Corporate income tax and Employee 
benefits.

t) Cash flows
For the purposes of preparing the statement of cash flows, 
the Bank considers as “cash and cash equivalents” the entire 
balances available as cash in hand, at Banco Nacional de 
Angola and at other financial institutions (Note 3).

u) Netting balances
Assets and liabilities are measured separately, and no type 
of netting of credit and debit balances is allowed, including 
in the income statement, except for offsets relating to inter-
departmental or inter-office transactions or others defined 
by Banco Nacional de Angola.  

v) Indexed deposits
Term deposits in local currency indexed to the “Keve Index” 
USD exchange rate, are subject to exchange rate adjustment. 
Thus, the result of the exchange rate adjustment of the 
nominal value of these deposits is reflected in the income 
statement for the year it occurs under “Results of foreign 
exchange transactions” (Note 24), with interest costs 
recorded under “Costs of deposits” (Note 22).

w) Securities – Investment Policy
The Investment Policy sets out the principles and guidelines 
that govern the investment of the Bank’s funds, with a view 
to promoting the security, liquidity and profitability needed 
to ensure a balance between assets and liabilities.

The Bank’s objective is to maximize return subject to a 
maximum tolerated level of risk previously determined by 
the Board of Directors.

Decision-making structure
The Financial Markets Department (DMF) submits a request 
to the Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO) to allocate capital 
to market and credit risk for the maximum loss that could 
be incurred in the Trading Room for the relevant exposures.

The composition of the investments is defined by the ALCO 
and approved by management, taking into account the 
macroeconomic scenario, market outlook and management 
of the risk-return relationship.

The Trading Room receives the allocation of capital for 
market and credit risk and distributes it among the 
investement categories.

Risk Policy
Market Risk
Market risk is associated with value at risk (VaR), a statistical 
measure that represents the maximum variation in the price 
of an asset, in an exchange rate or in the value of a securities 
portfolio, based on a predefined confidence interval. In the 
course of its activity, the Trading Room will seek to ensure 
that the VaR in its exposures to market risk does not exceed 
its assigned limit.

In this context, the following limits are determined and 
approved by the ALCO:

• VaR limits

• Daily position limits

• Intraday position limits

• Stop loss limits

Credit Risk
The Bank’s exposure to credit risk (portfolio level) must be 
properly sized and controlled so that the capital it requires is 
equal to or less than the allocated capital. The Trading Room 
receives an allocation of capital and distributes it among 
various counterparties. 

The limits are calculated and set based on three types of 
information: spread, rating and balance sheet.

Liquidity risk
The Trading Room selects which assets to invest in with a 
view to maximizing return, provided the minimum liquidity 
ratios set by the Bank are met and after the maturity 
mismatch impact of the transactions has been assessed.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is mitigated preventively by establishing 
formal decision-making procedures, defining investment 
monitoring and analysis routines (reports, reconciliations) 
and segregating functions in the Trading Room.

Preliminary investment analysis
The Trading Room keeps a list of potential investments by 
asset class, region and industry.  The main risk, liquidity and 
return characteristics must be defined for each prospective 
investment.
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Acquisitions of securities in the fixed or floating income 
segment must be preceded by an analysis of the risk 
involved. That assessment has to address:

• The eligibility of the investment under the applicable 
laws and regulations; 

• Compliance with thresholds set by law and the 
Investment Policy; 

• The specific characteristics of the investment:

- Rating of the issuer or the issue, as applicable; 

- Issuer’s track record; 

- Volume/amount of the issue;

• Term of the investment; 

• Return on investment; 

• Possibility of hedging with derivatives;

• Market, credit and liquidity risks;

• The portfolio maturity profile.

Execution Guidelines

• Select securities for investment based on the list of 
potential investments available. Investment in multiple 
securities should not be concentrated in any one country 
or region.

• Check the VaR consumed, taking into consideration 
the Trading Room limit and respective clearances for 
new investments, or the need to reduce exposure.  The 
impact on VaR should be simulated for an investment in 
a security with a given volatility.

• Determine amounts to be invested within applicable 
limits by asset class, aiming for a strategic asset 
allocation.

• Decide whether to participate in a sale depending on 
the possible asset-liability mismatch, liquidity ratios and 
foreign exchange exposure (where applicable).

• After the transaction, confirm that positions have been 
updated and that they comply with limits.

Registration and Measurement
Marketable securities acquired are recorded according to 
CONTIF rules and classified in two categories: securities 
held for trading and securities held to maturity (following 
assessment of the attention and capacity to hold them in 
the portfolio until maturity). 

Securities held for trading are adjusted at the market value 
at the price defined by Banco Nacional de Angola (foreign 
exchange rate or inflation rate published by BNA and 
information from SIGMA/CVAMA).

x) Credit Risk Policies
The Bank’s loan approval and loan monitoring policy can be 
summarized as follows:

1. GENERAL PRINCIPLES
The general principles of the lending policy are based on 
the “5 Cs” of credit, which we define as the basis of all risk 
management models. 

The 5 Cs of credit are defined as: Character, Capacity, 
Conditions, Capital and Collateral.

According to the Lending Rules established by Banco Keve, 
credit risk is the possibility of losses associated with failure 
by the borrower or counterparty to perform their financial 
obligations on the agreed terms, impairment of the value 
of the loan contract resulting from deterioration of the 
borrower’s risk rating, loss of earnings or remuneration, 
the benefits granted in loan renegotiations and the costs 
of loan recovery.

Credit Risk Management is the responsibility of all the 
business units. They are the ones who, in their daily 
operations, take on risks having regard to the profitability 
of their businesses. 

The risk-taking areas are expected to use the available 
policies, procedures, systems and models to identify, 
assess, approve or reject, mitigate and measure credit 
risk throughout the lending cycle (pre-approval, approval, 
monitoring, collection, recovery and renewal). 

In performing their duties, risk control areas have 
unrestricted access to the business units’ policies, 
procedures, systems and models.

1.1. Credit Management
Credit management consists of the following stages: 
decision making, processing/closing, monitoring 
and collection, adapted to the customer profile and 
segments. This process is carried out and controlled 
by systems that allow continuous surveillance of the 
quality of the loan portfolio.

1.2. Credit Risk Control
Credit risk is managed by committees, whose work 
mainly involves assessing competitive conditions 
in the market, setting the Bank’s risk appetite and 
reviewing the control practices and policies to be 
followed, based on compliance with the applicable 
BNA standards.

2. AIMS
• Manage credit risk efficiently and prudently, ensuring 

that exposure to credit risk is properly identified, 
measured, managed and controlled, all in keeping 
with the levels and guidelines approved by the Bank’s 
Executive Committee.

Integral and dynamic management of risk is of pivotal 
importance for the Bank. Credit risk is a fundamental 
component of Banco Keve’s management structure, and 
managing that risk is therefore organized pursuant to 
the following general principles:

a) Independence: risk management as a top non-
negotiable priority that is carried on without any 
concessions to external or internal pressures.

b) Objectivity: decision making is based exclusively on 
rigorous analysis of the relevant information about 
customers and the proposed operations.

c) Comprehensiveness: Engagement throughout the 
Bank’s entire risk cycle.

• Make all areas of the Bank, especially those involved 
in the credit process or flow, aware of the need and 
obligation to attain the aforementioned objectives;

• Track credit risk flows comprehensively, from the initial 
study of a proposed loan through to its cancellation, 
including the tracking and monitoring of the loan and 
any recovery actions;
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• Provide the necessary management information for 
each level of the Bank about changes in risks and 
internal models, so that they can be integrated in the 
Bank’s organization;

• Achieve a comprehensive understanding of the risk 
profile of the Bank’s customers and the segments in 
which it operates;

• Have complete and consistent databases, with 
mechanisms for identifying the original sources of credit 
risk;

• Facilitate fulfilment of the Bank’s strategic objectives 
through policies tailored to the segments in which the 
Bank operates;

• Efficiently implement the credit risk management policies 
approved by the Lending Rules, the Board of Directors and 
the Credit Committee;

• Preserve the appropriate level of solvency using tools 
and measures focused on achieving a return that is 
compatible with the limits on capital consumption;

• Carry out credit risk management activities efficiently, 
ensuring that the Bank has the necessary organizational 
structure with up-to-date credit risk information;

• Establish an efficient and relevant differentiation among 
the different types of risk by classifying exposures into 
homogeneous risk groups or levels;

• Set limits to the cumulative exposure to any one 
economic group, company or borrower, including any 
credit proposal under consideration;

• Record loan loss provisions in accordance with the specific 
procedures approved by the Executive Committee and 
those that follow from BNA standards.

3. RISK MANAGEMENT STAGES
The credit risk management process runs from the 
initial stage of analysis, processing and closing through 
to monitoring, recovery (where applicable) and final 
cancellation.

Approval
The Bank has established a set of credit approval criteria 
that must be met by any transaction that entails an 
exposure to credit risk. The following aspects of the 
transaction are analyzed:

• The business, background and technical and financial 
capacity of the customer;

• The appropriateness of the requested transaction to 
the customer’s needs;

• The structure of the requested transaction (collateral, 
financial and non-financial covenants, etc.);

• Any ratings assigned by outside agencies (Moody’s, 
Standard & Poors, Fitch, Serasa Experian);

• A duly reasoned proposal for the classification of the 
risk, according to BNA Notice nº 3/2012;

• The characteristics of the transaction to be financed 
(sector, technology, company’s experience, etc.).

Processing, closing and monitoring of credit risk
Apart from the examination and evaluation of the credit 
risk conducted during the approval stage, continuous 
monitoring of customers and of their loans requires that 
the risk be tracked during the entire life of the transaction.

In this monitoring phase the Bank considers factors such 
as the changing state of the economy, the customer’s 
situation and the sector in which the customer does 
business, and any existing credit transactions (type, 
amount, maturity, etc.). Risk monitoring is based on the 
following criteria:

• Using systems of indicators and alerts for the situation 
and behavior of customers (simple rating and scoring 
models); 

• Periodic analyses of portfolios, considering factors 
such as the customer’s industry, products, maturities, 
track record; 

• Financial statements, liquidity, collateral offered, etc.; 

• Monitoring of outstanding transactions, including 
drawdowns, overdrafts, delays, etc.; 

• Periodic reviews of the situation of customers, including 
up-to-date financial, qualitative and quantitative 
information. These reviews are conducted on a yearly 
basis or whenever instructed by the relevant credit 
committee or as warranted by the circumstances; 

• Tracking of annual and interim financial statements 
of customers.

4. MAIN CREDIT RISK REPORTS
• Reports on loans approved and disbursed (monthly); 

• Monitoring and management reports on overdue 
loans (monthly); 

• Quarterly analysis of the loan portfolio; 

• Analysis of Overdue Credit Ratio by Branch.

Renegotiation, recovery, provisions and write-off of 
credits are carried out according to the policies described 
in Note 2 (e).STAGE 1

Approval

STAGE 3
Recovery

STAGE 2
Monitoring
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3. CASH AND BANKS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Cash

Local Notes and Coins 2.935.702 3.440.137

Foreign Notes and Coins 110.599 734.092

- In USD 56.722 571.146

- In Other Currencies 53.877 162.946

Operations to be settled 0 2.495

Working Capital 0 893

3.046.301 4.177.617

Cash and cash equivalents in the Central Bank

Local Currency 5.607.935 17.486.254

Foreign Currency 698.452 569.676

- In USD 698.452 569.676

6.306.387 18.055.930

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Financial Institutions

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Credit Institutions in Angola

BAI - Visa Collateral 267.192 267.762

- In USD 267.192 267.762

Cash and cash Equivalents in Credit Institutions Abroad 7.152.915 2.458.576 

BAI-Europa 3.868.446 331.000

- In USD 171.901 318.260

- In Euros 3.696.545 12.740

Byblos Bank Europe S.A 1.558.835 118.165

- In USD 68.832 117.820

- In Euros 1.490.002 345

- In Swedish Krona 1 0

BPA-Europa 710.174 56.805

- In USD 341.584 35.633

- In Euros 368.590 21.172

Banque Commerce et Placements 471.074 215.960

- In USD 83.861 213.360

- In Euros 387.213 2.600

Banco Bic Português 266.889 21.903

- In USD 24.365 9.042

- In Euros 242.524 12.861

Montepio Geral 239.317 54.568

- In USD 236.318 33.629

- In Euros 2.999 20.939

Commerzebank 26.754 1.601.554

- In USD 26.754 1.582.298

- In Euros 0 19.256

First National Bank 9.553 23.816

- In USD 3.471 23.102

- In Rand 6.082 714

Banco UBAE 1.873 0

- In Euros 1.873 0

Commerzebank - Serviço Money Gram 0 34.805

- In USD 0 34.805

7.152.915 2.458.576

16.772.795 24.959.885
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The demand deposits at BNA in local and foreign currency are 
for compliance with the provisions in force on maintaining 
mandatory reserves and earn no interest. 

Mandatory Reserves are calculated according to Instructions 
nº 02/2016, of April 11, and 04/2016, of May 13, which 
regulate the reserve base in local currency and foreign 
currency. 

Thus, the mandatory reserve ratio to be used on the daily 
balances in the items that make up the reserve base 
in local currency (excluding Central Government, Local 
Government and Municipal Administration account) is 
30% (thirty percent). Banks can comply with 20% (twenty 
percent) with Treasury Bonds in its own portfolio, provided 
they were issued after January 2015 and the full amount 
of the financing contracts are with the Ministry of Finance 
(according to the weighting rules defined in Instruction 
nº 04/2016, of May 13). 

The mandatory reserves ratio to be applied to the daily 
balances of the items that make up the reserve base 
in foreign currency (except central government, local 
government and municipal administration accounts) is 15%. 

The mandatory reserves ratio to be applied to the daily 
balances of central government accounts is 75% for LC and 
100% for FC; for the accounts of local governments and 
municipal administrations the ratio is 50% for LC and 100% 
for FC. 

A mandatory reserve base for LC and FC is calculated weekly 
based on the average of the balances in the respective 
accounts, using the formula set out in the Instruction. 

As at December 31, 2016, the balance in “Cash at the 
Central Bank” includes amounts of kAOA 5,607,935 in LC 
and kAOA 698,452 in FC. These are related to the mandatory 
reserves and earn no interest. In 2015, the amount was 
kAOA 17,486,254,000 in LC and kAOA 569,676 in FC. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 as “Cash and cash 
equivalents at Financial Institutions” did not earn interest. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, “BAI-Visa Collateral” 
included a deposit at BAI that serves as collateral for the 
transactions carried out with Visa credit cards by customers 
of Banco Keve. Banco BAI acts as an intermediary between 
Banco Keve and VISA.

4. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, short-term investments 
in the money market were broken down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Interbank money market 
transactions

Investments in Credit Institutions 
in Angola

Local currency 1.000.000 0

Foreign currency

- In USD 829.515 676.575

Income receivable

- In local currency 1.385 0

- In USD 6.590 0

1.837.490 676.575

Investments in Credit Institutions 
Abroad

Term deposits

- In USD 2.666.287 6.192.155

- In Euros 721.452 22.297

Income receivable

- In USD 1.383 3.225

3.389.122 6.217.677

Third-party securities purchased 
with resale agreements

Public Debt Securities 
- Local currency

0 500.000

Income receivable 0 855

0 500.855

5.226.612 7.395.107

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015 as Short-term 
investments were scheduled to mature in the first 6 months 
of the following year. 

As at December 31, 2016, the Bank had a local currency 
investment at Banco de Angolano de Negócios e Comércio, 
S.A., at a sum of kAOA 1,000,000, earning interest at a rate 
of 25.3% and maturing in less than 1 month. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank had a 
foreign currency investment of USD 5,000,000 at Banco 
de Poupança e Crédito, S.A., equivalent to kAOA 829,515 
and kAOA 676,575, respectively, earning interest at a rate 
of 5.5% and with an approximate maturity of 2 months. 
This investment has been renewed successively and is 
guaranteed by a pledge of 120% in foreign currency Treasury 
Bonds issued by the Angolan State.
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As at December 31, 2016 the Bank had short-term 
investments with foreign financial institutions, at a sum 
of kAOA 529,266, which were acting as collateral for 
documentary import credits. These investments earn no 
interest.

Depositary financial institutions
2016

kAOA
2015

kAOA

First National Bank 512 512

Banque Commerce  Et Placements 549 549

BYBLOS BANK EUROPE S.A 528.206 504.576

529.266 505.637

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the investments earned 
interest at the following average rates:

2016 2015

In Local Currency

Investments in Credit Institutions in 
Angola

25,28 -

In Foreign Currency

Investments in Credit Institutions in 
Angola

5,50 5,50

Investments in Credit Institutions 
Abroad

0,51 0,31

5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows

kAOA Risk Currency
Issuing 
Country

Average 
interest Rate

Acquisition 
cost

Income 
Receivable 2016 2015

Securities held for trading

Treasury Bills A AOA Angola 16,87% 7.449.211 318.386 7.767.597 3.822.261

Treasury Bonds indexed to the 
Dollar

A AOA Angola 7,00% 454.594 555 455.149 2.524.275

Treasury Bonds in Local Currency A AOA Angola 7,25% 99.339 1.792 101.131 306.364

8.003.144 320.733 8.323.877 6.652.900

Securities held to maturity

Treasury Bonds indexed to the 
Dollar

A AOA Angola 6,95% 37.217.803 13.040 37.230.843 19.683.298

Treasury Bonds in Local Currency A AOA Angola 7,55% 2.637.644 592.700 3.230.344 3.120.099

Treasury Bonds in Foreign Currency A USD Angola 4,58% 1.375.336 7.535 1.382.871 1.127.115

41.230.783 613.275 41.844.058 23.930.512

49.233.927 934.008 50.167.935 30.583.412



ANNUAL REPORT 2016 107

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the securities portfolio, 
including receivables, had the following structure according 
to residual maturities:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Securities held for trading

In Local Currency:

Up to three months 958.245 677.623

From three to six months 1.685.516 0

From six months to one year 4.805.450 2.981.962

From one to three years 553.932 986.012

From three to five years 0 1.770.280

Income Receivable 320.734 237.023

8.323.877 6.652.900

Securities held to maturity:

In local currency:

From one to three years 23.214.283 10.246.827

From three to five years 14.283.051 11.444.504

More than five years 2.358.113 615.443

Income Receivable 605.740 496.623

40.461.187 22.803.397

In Foreign Currency:

More than five years 1.375.336 1.121.762

Income Receivable 7.535 5.353

1.382.871 1.127.115

41.844.058 23.930.512

50.167.935 30.583.412

The maturity of the securities in the for-trading portfolio 
is essentially short-term, less than one year, and therefore 
the Bank does not believe that there are and significant 
difference between the fair value and the amortized cost. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the securities portfolio, 
including receivables, had the following structure by index:

Index

2016 
Average 

interest Rate
2016

kAOA

2016 
Average 

interest Rate
2015

kAOA

Fixed income

Treasury Bills Fixed 16,87% 7.767.597 7,58% 3.822.261

Treasury Bonds Indexed to the Dollar Fixed 7,00% 37.685.991 7,56% 22.207.573

Treasury Bonds in Local Currency Fixed 7,25% 3.331.476 7,36% 3.426.463

Treasury Bonds in Foreign Currency Fixed 4,58% 1.382.871 4,58% 1.127.115

50.167.935 30.583.412
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6. RECEIVABLES IN THE PAYMENT SYSTEM

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Payables for Transactions pending 
settlement

392.843 131.742

Own Funds in transit 0 54.044

392.843 185.786

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the “Payables for 
transactions pending settlement” item included checks 
received at the Bank and presented for settlement on the first 
business days in 2017 and 2016, respectively.

7. LOANS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Performing loans

In local currency

Autonomous funds and public 
services

1.628.155 1.426.671

Public sector corporations 9.141 19.256

Businesses 50.210.399 46.197.587

Individuals 4.872.174 4.310.355

Credit cards 536.702 193.178

Income receivable 2.434.216 1.398.884

59.690.787 53.545.931

In foreign currency

Public sector corporations 3.995 118.316

Businesses 426.886 1.309.293

Individuals 185.537 196.719

Income receivable 367.068 198.540

983.486 1.822.868

60.674.273 55.368.799

Overdue loans

In local currency

Businesses 2.170.816 4.658.106

Individuals 137.195 65.460

Income receivable 4.700 403.085

2.312.711 5.126.651

In foreign currency

Businesses 1.254.897 0

Individuals 4.182 1.749

Income receivable 0 32

1.259.079 1.781

3.571.790 5.128.432

Total loans 64.246.063 60.497.231

Provision for doubtful debts (Note 26) -6.143.620 -1.896.598

58.102.443 58.600.633

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, loans to customers 
accrued interest at an annual average rate of 19.04% and 
16.80%, respectively, for loans in local currency, and 11.78% 
and 11.29% for loans in foreign currency Foreign currency 
loans are mainly in United Stated Dollars.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank had granted 
a customer a loan where the total individual exposure 
reached the 28% threshold for Regulatory Capital, as 
defined in BNA Notice 08/2007 of 12 September. The Bank’s 
Board of Directors believes that the risk of this exposure is 
minimal and the exposure will be reduced in the short term 
to comply with that Notice. On the other hand, the Bank is 
preparing a capital increase (Note 21) which will allow this 
matter to be resolved.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the loans portfolio, 
including receivables, had the following structure according 
to residual maturities:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

In local currency

Up to three months 7.586.315 6.057.940

From three to six months 11.667.305 14.024.639

From six months to one year 1.230.112 2.664.018

From one to three years 5.640.064 5.765.863

From three to five years 17.190.735 8.696.871

More than five years 16.376.256 16.336.673

Overdue 2.312.711 5.126.651

62.003.498 58.672.655

In foreign currency

Up to three months 232 45

From three to six months 747.674 1.001.057

From six months to one year 431 1.646

From one to three years 6.482 197.002

From three to five years 59.347 18.781

More than five years 169.320 604.264

Overdue 1.259.079 1.781

2.242.565 1.824.576

64.246.063 60.497.231
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As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the loans portfolio, 
including receivables, had the following structure by 
business sector:

2016
kAOA %

2015
kAOA

Commerce 16.484.850 26 16.748.553

Construction 10.335.047 16 9.123.334

Manufacturing 8.331.938 13 8.006.307

Other social, personal, collect. 
serv. activities

5.622.557 9 4.572.239

Individuals 5.203.787 8 5.145.617

Agriculture 5.029.712 8 4.582.817

Real estate, rentals and 
buisness services

4.124.192 6 4.574.489

Extractive industries 2.585.387 4 2.063.748

Transport, storage and 
communications

1.696.712 3 2.219.717

Public administration, defense 
and mandatory social security

1.774.411 3 1.734.146

Other 3.057.470 5 1.726.264

64.246.063 100 60.497.231

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the credit portfolio, 
including receivables, had the following structure by type:

2016
kAOA

2016
kAOA

Loans with defined payments 41.048.956 34.197.689

Revolving credit facilities and 
other loans

22.696.477 24.505.882

Overdrafts 500.630 1.793.660

64.246.063 60.497.231

Financing operations are those with a specific destination, 
linked to evidence of the investment of funds. Loan 
operations are those with no specific destination or link to 
evidence of the investment of funds. Types of loans include 
revolving credit facilities, which consist of allocating a 
maximum credit limit that the business can use according 
to its cash flow needs, without any predefined repayment 
plan, and advances to depositors (overdrafts), which consist 
of allocating an overdraft limit to a current account which 
allows the customer to have a debit balance up to a preset 
amount and for a predetermined period of time.

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the loans portfolio, 
including receivables, had the following structure by 
residence:

2016
kAOA

2016
kAOA

Residents 63.961.717 47.600.666

Non-residents 284.346 418.785

64.246.063 60.497.231

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the provision for 
doubtful debts was broken down as follows (in local and 
foreign currency):

Loans 
Granted 

kAOA

Provision 
Set Up 
kAOA

Loans 
Granted 

kAOA

Provision 
Set Up 
kAOA

Risk 31-12-2016 31-12-2015

Local
currency

No risk (A) 8.714.829 0 17.802.662 0

Very low (B) 12.460.054 -124.601 14.125.447 -141.254

Low (C) 33.893.072 -1.016.792 24.609.375 -738.281

Moderate (D) 649.352 -64.935 432.211 -43.221

High (E) 2.828.011 -433.041 955.984 -267.016

Very high (F) 338.664 -169.332 422.097 -211.048

Loss (G) 3.119.516 -3.119.516 324.879 -324.879

62.003.498 -4.928.217 58.672.655 -1.725.699

Foreign 
currency

No risk (A) 541.529 0 219.438 0

Very low (B) 0 0 118.315 -1.183

Low (C) 221.510 -6.646 1.328.996 -27.240

Moderate (D) 14 -1 17.058 -1.707

High (E) 470.850 -226.729 0 0

Very high (F) 53.270 -26.635 0 0

Loss (G) 955.392 -955.392 140.769 -140.769

2.242.565 -1.215.403 1.824.576 -170.899

64.246.063 -6.143.620 60.497.231 -1.896.598

The breakdown by risk level of the provisions for guarantees 
given and documentary credit as at December 31, 2016 and 
2015 is shown in Note 20.
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Loans renegotiated, written off and recovered during the 
year.

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Renegotiated loans 9.230.680 899.757

Recovered loans 1.049.688 3.439.843

Loans written off through 
provisions

2.600.300 2.278.846

8. OTHER TAX-RELATED ASSETS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Tax recoverable 173.685 148.982

173.685 148.982

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance in this item 
corresponded to the tax credit request to the State, with 
regard to industrial tax payments from previous years.

9. OTHER NON-TAX ASSETS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Central Government 148.245 338.866

Deferred profits 1.305 0

Other 2.267.348 1.867.701

2.416.898 2.206.567

As at December 31, 2016, the “Central Government” item 
included unsold road tax stamps for 2016, at a value of 
kAOA 147,411. The value of the stamps will be paid in 2017 
when they are returned to the State. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the “Other” item included 
advances paid to Clube Recreativo Desportivo do Libolo, a 
sum of kAOA 1,345,573 and advances of kAOA 99,900 paid 
to suppliers, with no change in the balance between the 
two periods. It also included (i) checks to be returned to the 
clearing house; (ii) Deposited checks waiting for clearance 
in the provinces3; and (iii) amounts in transit between Bank 
branches or deposited with BNA and awaiting settlement 
by the counterparty.

10. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE ASSETS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the “Other Administrative 
Assets” item was broken down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Other advances 408.709 403.723

Prepaid expenses 272.039 289.929

Office supplies 24.662 317.412

705.410 1.011.06

As a result of the reorganization of the group during 2014, 
the Bank reclassified its holding in Global Seguros, an 
amount of kAOA 386,689, to “Other advances”. In 2015 the 
Bank wrote off the goodwill it had recognized, an amount 
of kAOA 67,800 (Note 14), offset under “Adjustments from 
previous years” (Note 33). 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, “Prepaid expenses” 
included kAOA 32,839 and kAOA 28,905, respectively, for 
branch leases and rentals, and insurance deferrals, at a sum 
of kAOA 239,200 and kAOA 261,025, respectively. 

“Office supplies” includes the staff shop and consumables 
such as office materials, computer materials and printed 
forms. In view of the age of some of these items, as at 
December 31, 2016, the Bank made a physical count of the 
office supplies, and recorded a loss of kAOA 273,002 (Note 
28), reversing the provision set up in December 2015, at a 
sum of kAOA 27,810.

11. PROPERTY NOT FOR OWN USE

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, “Property not for own 
use” included a building that was transferred to the Bank 
in settlement of debt on November 12, 2015, valued at 
kAOA 60,540.

3  Provinces where BNA still does not have a clearing house.
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12. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank had the 
following shareholdings:

Financial holdings are recorded and measures as described 
in Note 2(h). 

In 2016, the State paid the financial holding at Bolsa de 
Valores e Derivados de Angola through the issue of LC 
Treasury Bonds (OTMN) under the conditions described in 
Executive Decree nº 12/14, of January 14. 

As at December 31, 2016, the financial information on 
investee companies was not available. These holdings are 
recorded at acquisition cost:

13.TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Transactions in tangible fixed assets during 2016 and 2015 
were as follows:

% Held Share Held

kAOA
Head
Office Activity

Share
Capital Currency

Year of
acquisition 2016 2015 2016 2015

EMIS – Empresa Interbancária 
de Serviços

Luanda
Banking 
Services

110.085 AOA 2004 2,4 2,4 93.958 93.958

Sagripek Luanda
Agri- 

-livestock
1.600.000 AOA 2004 5,0 5,0 2.167 2.167

Gestcall – Gestão e Serviços 
de Atendimento

Luanda
Provision 

of Services
4.600.000 AOA 2005 15,0 15,0 3.090 3.090

Bolsa de Valores e Derivados 
de Angola

Luanda
Financial
Services

1.343.000 AOA 2007 0,0 1,0 0 12.419

Other Investments n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 9.606 6.441

108.822 118.075

n/a - not applicable

Holdings in other 
companies % Holding Nº of Shares Type Measurment method

EMIS - Empresa 
Interbancária de Serviços

2,42% 2.988 Ordinary Acquisition cost

Sagripek 5,00% 80 Ordinary Acquisition cost

Gestcall - Gestão e Serviços 
de Atendimento

15,00% 1.500 Ordinary Acquisition cost

31-12-2015 31-12-2016

kAOA
Gross 

Assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and
depreciation Net Assets Increases Transfers Write-offs

Amortization 
during the 

year
Gross 

assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and
depreciation

Assets
(net)

Property for own use 2.893.784 -593.684 2.300.100 206.837 258.919 0 -236.365 3.359.540 -768.714 2.590.826

Leasehold improvements 719.940 0 719.940 463.351 319.279 0 -45.471 1.502.570 -215.793 1.286.777

IT equipment 1.290.076 -802.991 487.085 625.626 6.749 -411 -193.093 1.922.040 -995.955 926.085

Furniture and materials 412.837 -189.314 223.523 36.608 0 0 -43.643 449.445 -232.957 216.488

Transport equipment 322.957 -211.021 111.936 86.911 0 -13.822 -58.311 396.046 -258.565 137.481

Machinery and tools 295.279 -176.722 118.557 13.068 2.233 0 -36.028 310.580 -212.750 97.830

Fixtures and fittings 217.011 -133.246 83.765 15.893 0 0 -21.471 232.904 -152.267 80.637

Security equipment 202.418 -146.893 55.525 19.437 2.884 -5.604 -20.791 219.135 -167.683 51.452

Work in progress 948.805 0 948.805 728.734 -590.064 0 0 1.087.475 0 1.087.475

Other equipment 227.726 -154.777 72.949 24.806 0 0 -29.570 252.532 -184.349 68.183

7.530.833 -2.408.648 5.122.185 2.221.271 0 -19.837 -684.743 9.732.267 -3.189.033 6.543.234
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As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, “Tangible fixed assets - 
Leasehold improvements” and “Tangible fixed assets - Work 
in progress” included the Bank’s investments in recent years 
in expansion through reinforcing its branch network.

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Transactions in intangible fixed assets during 2016 and 
2015 were as follows:

31-12-2015 31-12-2016

kAOA
Gross 

assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and 
depreciation Net assets Increases Transfers Write-offs

Amortization 
during the 

year
Gross 

assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and 
depreciation (net)

Software 339.405 -333.994 5.411 8.788 0 0 -4.330 348.193 -338.325 9.868

Multiannual costs 496.089 -471.725 24.364 256 0 -68.757 -25.828 427.588 -422.262 5.326

Incorporation expenses 51.863 -8.845 43.018 0 0 -46.097 0 5.766 -5.766 0

Improvements to 
third-party real estate

412.367 -108.988 303.379 0 0 -412.367 0 0 0 0

Other 17.817 -14.983 2.834 0 0 0 -2.267 17.817 -17.250 567

1.317.541 -938.536 379.005 9.044 0 -527.221 -32.425 799.364 -783.603 15.761

31-12-2014 31-12-2015

kAOA
Gross 

assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and 
depreciation Net assets Increases Transfers

Write-
offs

Amortization 
during the 

year
Gross 

assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and 
depreciation (net)

Goodwill Financial 
Investments

67.800 0 67.800 0 0 -67.800 0 0 0 0

Software 338.539 -309.912 28.627 867 0 0 -24.083 339.406 -333.995 5.411

Multiannual costs 520.158 -373.567 146.591 0 0 -24.069 -97.698 496.089 -471.265 24.824

Incorporation expenses 51.863 -8.108 43.755 0 0 0 -1.198 51.863 -9.306 42.557

Improvements to 
third-party real estate

412.367 -108.988 303.379 0 0 0 0 412.367 -108.988 303.379

Other 17.816 -12.716 5.100 0 0 0 -2.266 17.816 -14.982 2.834

1.408.543 -813.291 595.252 867 0 -91.869 -125.245 1.317.541 -938.536 379.005

31-12-2014 31-12-2015

kAOA
Gross 

Assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and
depreciation Net Assets Increases Transfers Write-offs

Amortization 
during the 

year
Gross 

assets

Accumulated 
amortization 

and
depreciation

Assets
(net)

Property for own use 2.685.437 -324.803 2.360.634 208.347 0 0 -268.881 2.893.784 -593.684 2.300.100

Leasehold improvements 388.708 0 388.708 331.233 0 0 0 719.941 0 719.941

IT equipment 1.015.575 -632.289 383.286 274.500 0 0 -165.045 1.290.075 -797.334 492.741

Furniture and materials 377.386 -151.569 225.817 35.451 0 0 -37.745 412.837 -189.314 223.523

Transport equipment 234.396 -163.387 71.009 88.561 0 0 -47.634 322.957 -211.021 111.936

Machinery and tools 269.329 -141.311 128.018 25.950 0 0 -35.411 295.279 -176.722 118.557

Fixtures and fittings 207.259 -109.326 97.933 9.752 0 0 -23.921 217.011 -133.247 83.764

Security equipment 199.039 -124.819 74.220 3.379 0 0 -24.336 202.418 -149.155 53.263

Work in progress 1.136.080 0 1.136.080 0 0 -187.275 0 948.805 0 948.805

Other equipment 230.176 -127.756 102.420 0 0 -2.644 -30.221 227.532 -157.977 69.555

6.743.385 -1.775.260 4.968.125 977.173 0 -189.919 -633.194 7.530.639 -2.408.454 5.122.185
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15. DEPOSITS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Demand Deposits

Residents 50.316.734 73.808.805

Non-residents 454.994 387.934

50.771.728 74.196.539

Term Deposits

Residents 38.472.655 22.798.814

Non-residents 19.241 2.136

38.491.896 22.800.950

89.263.624 96.997.489

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the deposits portfolio 
had the following structure by currency and activity sector:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Local Currency

Government administration 6.286.775 3.773.047

Public sector corporations 16.079.336 39.297.807

Businesses 34.787.302 34.441.024

Individuals 22.284.625 11.439.127

Non-residents 413.574 330.929

Costs payable 370.811 139.764

80.222.423 89.421.698

Foreign Currency

Government administration 113.452 1.601

Public sector corporations 883.741 610.330

Businesses 4.621.317 3.847.917

Individuals 3.323.482 3.029.159

Non-residents 60.771 59.143

Costs payable 38.438 27.641

9.041.201 7.575.791

89.263.624 96.997.489

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the breakdown of term 
deposits by maturity was as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

In Local Currency

Up to three months 790.196 10.467.765

From three to six months 14.252.208 2.840.563

From six months to one year 6.836.840 1.268.059

Over 1 year 618.375 184.664

Costs payable 298.964 121.377

22.796.582 14.882.428

Keve Index (Note 2(v))

Up to three months 0 0

From three to six months 0 1.301.362

From six months to one year 3.124.247 3.685.292

Over 1 year 9.034.005 22.161

Costs payable 71.847 18.387

12.230.100 5.027.202

In Foreign Currency

In USD

Up to three months 27.417 1.388.521

From three to six months 2.970.129 1.216.038

From six months to one year 421.486 250.768

Over 1 year 3.816 3.453

Costs payable 38.438 27.641

3.461.286 2.886.421

In Other Currencies

Up to three months 0 544

From three to six months 1.857 792

From six months to one year 0 1.945

Over 1 year 2.071 1.618

Costs payable 0 0

3.928 4.899

38.491.896 22.800.950
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As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, customer term deposits 
had the following structure by currency and average interest 
rate:

As at December 31, 2016 most customer demand deposits 
earned no interest. But there are 4 customers with interest-
bearing deposits, at a sum of kAOA 394,424 and an average 
rate of 1.1%.

16. PAYABLES IN THE PAYMENT SYSTEM

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Own funds in transit 41.954 351.127

Payables for transactions 
pending settlement

481.558 435.217

523.512 786.344

“Payables for transactions pending settlement” records 
the value of certified checks issued that have not yet been 
submitted for clearing.

17. FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Cost of buying and selling foreign 
currency payable

0 6.636

Funds linked to foreign exchange 
operations

27.723.814 13.444.719

27.723.814 13.451.356

In compliance with Art. 2 of BNA Instruction 12/2015 of 
24 June, combined with Arts. 3, 4, 8, and 9 of the same 
Instruction concerning exchange rate policy, the Bank 
must “fulfil requests for the purchase and sale of foreign 
currency made by its customers for the purpose of settling 
transactions in commodities, current invisible transactions, 
capital transactions and sales to foreign exchange bureaux 
only when the existence of sufficient funds in local 
currency to cover the requested transaction is certified”. 
These become captive local currency funds the moment 
the customer makes the requests and are recorded under 
“Customer funds linked to foreign exchange transactions”.

Thus, as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance in 
this item included kAOA 26,061,961 e kAOA 13,407,847, 
respectively, for customer funds in local currency which 
were held as captive funds in order to carry out foreign 
exchange operations. As required by the BNA in Instruction 
12/2015, these captive funds are held until they are used in 
the foreign currency purchase transaction.

18. OTHER BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Short-term Borrowings

Banco de Desenvolvimento de Angola 1.000.000 0

Sales of securities purchased with 
resale agreements

0 65.500

Interest payable 10.849 79

1.010.849 65.579

Other Borrowings

Subordinated debt

Abroad 3.318.060 2.706.300

Interest payable 93.274 78.557

3.411.334 2.784.857

Other Bank Borrowings

In the country 144.031 144.031

Abroad 0 1.021.329

144.031 1.165.360

3.555.365 3.950.217

As at December 31, 2016, the Bank had a short-term 
investment in LC at Banco de Desenvolvimento de Angola, 
at an interest rate of 16.,5%, a sum of kAOA 1,000, with a 
maturity of approximately 1 month.

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

Interest rate
Amount in 

foreign currency Amount in kAOA Interest rate
Amount in 

foreign currency Amount in kAOA

In thousand 
Kwanzas

8,02% 22.796.582 22.796.582 5,88% 14.882.428 14.882.428

Keve Indexed to 
the USD

1,79% n.d. 12.230.100 3,67% n.d. 5.027.202

In USD 2,03% 20.863.308 3.461.286 1,99% 21.331.122 2.886.421

In Euros 1,38% 21.191 3.928 1,54% 33.135 4.899

38.491.896 22.800.950



ANNUAL REPORT 2016 115

Taking the date it is scheduled to mature as December 31, 
2016 and 2015, “Other borrowings” was broken down as 
follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

In Local Currency

From three to five years 144.031 144.031

144.031 144.031

In Foreign Currency

In United States Dollars

From three to six months 0 676.575

From 2 to 5 years 3.318.060 109.520

More than five years 0 2.941.534

Interest payable 93.274 78.558

3.411.334 3.806.187

3.555.365 3.950.217

“Subordinated debt” records the issue of USD 20 million, 
equivalent to kAOA 3,318,060 on December 31, 2016, 
in Corporate Bonds on September 27, 2012, earning 
interest at a fixed rate of 11% and maturing on March 18, 
essentially acquired from foreign entities. This bond issue 
has strengthened the expansion of the Bank’s activity, 
increasing and enhancing the capital base to support 
further growth in turnover.

19. OTHER LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Current tax liabilities

Industrial tax payable 137.574 376.377

Other liabilities

Other tax-related liabilities

CEOB - Special contribution on bank-
ing operations

115.573 0

Tax on employment income 37.396 48.374

Withholding, under Law 7/97 22.744 26.739

Tax on invested capital 13,730 13.730 22.900

Stamp duty 9.611 10.461

Urban property tax 2.285 5.198

Self-employed income tax 114 339

Consumption tax 0 -25

201.453 113.986

Other non-tax assets

Creditors for acquisition of assets 
and rights

613.513 576.979

Creditor for judicial and extrajudicial 
proceedings

26.840 26.840

Sundry creditors 4.835 341.567

Creditors for service provisions 0 1.549

645.188 946.935

Other administrative costs

Variable remuneration for staff 
performance

471.498 0

Staff vacation allowance 155.674 117.784

Corporate body bonuses 140.358 0

Corporate body vacation allowance 60.036 34.440

Social security contribution 3.815 23.198

Other staff costs 207 207 207 207

Other administrative and sales 
expenses 0 3,151

0 3.151

831.588 178.780

Total Other Payables 1.678.229 1.239.701

1.815.803 1.616.078

As at December 31, 2016, “Other liabilities – Administrative 
payables” included the vacation allowance for Bank 
employees, at a sum of kAOA 155,674. Under the Angolan 
General Labor Act, the vacation allowance paid to employees 
in a given year is a right they acquired in the year immediately 
preceding. Accordingly, the Bank increased the vacation 
allowance for 2016, but the allowance was not paid until 
January 2017. This item also includes provision for “Variable 
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performance-based pay” at a sum of kAOA 471,498. This 
variable pay will be paid in 2017.

20. PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The breakdown of this item for the years ending in 2016 and 
2015 was as follows:

Transactions in provisions shows figures referring to 
foreign exchange differences that reflect the exchange rate 
revaluation of the provisions for guarantees give in foreign 
currency, offset against income for the year under “Income 
from foreign exchange transactions” (Note 24).

As describe in Note 2 m), the Bank intends to allocate a 
retirement supplement to its employees. Therefore, it is in 
the process of joining a retirement pension plan, although 
there is no legal requirement to do so. The date for this 
has yet to be defined, so the Bank has a provision of kAOA 
138,469 set aside for this liability, which is estimated as the 
initial contribution to be made by the Bank.

kAOA
Final 

balance 2015 Increases Reversals Uses Transfers

Foreign 
exchange 

differences
Final 

balance 2016

General Banking Risks

Provisions for Contingent Liabilities 
of a Fiscal Nature

67.616 0 0 0 0 0 67.616

Other Provisions 215.062 0 0 -203.170 0 0 11.892

282.679 0 0 -203.170 0 0 79.509

Provisions for Contingent Liabilities 
of an Administrative Nature

Bonuses 80.663 0 0 0 -80.663 0 0

Variable performance-based pay 152.039 0 0 0 -152.039 0 0

Provisions for Retirement Pensions 
(Note 31)

138.570 394 0 0 -495 0 138.469

Retirement Payments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees given (Note 37) 1.107.624 854.991 -39.298 -58.086 294.077 -219.972 1.939.336

1.478.897 855.385 -39.298 -58.086 60.880 -219.972 2.077.805

1.761.576 855.385 -39.298 -261.256 60.880 -219.972 2.157.314

kAOA
Final 

balance 2014 Increases Reversals Uses Transfers

Foreign 
exchange 

differences
Final 

balance 2015

General banking risks

Provisions for Contingent Liabilities of a 
Fiscal Nature

7.324 0 0 0 -7.324 0 0

Provisions for Contingent Liabilities of a 
Fiscal Nature

231.308 27.116 0 0 -190.807 0 67.617

Other Provisions 0 173.383 0 0 41.679 0 215.062

238.632 200.499 0 0 -156.452 0 282.679

Provisions for Contingent Liabilities of 
an Administrative Nature

Bonuses 0 0 0 0 80.663 0 80.663

Variable performance-based pay 0 0 0 0 152.039 0 152.039

Provisions for Retirement Pensions 
(Note 31)

426.305 118.835 0 -515.546 109.290 -314 138.570

Retirement Payments 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees given (Note 37) 533.158 275.595 -83.143 0 359.025 22.989 1.107.624

959.463 394.430 -83.143 -515.546 701.018 22.675 1.478.897

1.198.095 594.929 -83.143 -515.546 544.566 22.675 1.761.576
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As at December 31, 2016, the transfers recorded in 
provisions included kAOA 60,880 transferred to “Other 
liabilities” (Note 19) during 2016, where it was added to 
provisions for staff costs, particularly bonuses and variable 
performance-based pay. 

As at December 31, 2015, the transfers recorded in 
provisions included kAOA 544,566 of provisions transferred 
from “Other liabilities”, basically for staff costs (vacation 
allowances, bonuses and variable performance-based pay). 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Bank reinforced the 
provisions for guarantees given following the evolution of 
the portfolio risk level. Provisions for Guarantees given was 
broken down as follows by currency (Note 26):

Letters of credit granted by the Bank are normally, except 
for specific customers, guaranteed by deposits of over 
100% of the exposure value. The Bank sets up no provisions 
for these as they are 100% guaranteed. The Bank set up 
provisions according to the policy described in Note 2.e) for 
the operations that are not 100% guaranteed.

 kAOA Guarantees
Letters of 

credit 
Total

liabilities
Provision

Set up Guarantees
Letters of 

credit 
Total

liabilities
Provision

Set up

Risk 31-12-2016 31-12-2015

No risk (A)
Local Currency 1.554.954 0 1.554.954 0 3.695.673 0 3.695.673 0

Foreign Currency 39.817 0 39.817 0 0 0 0 0

Very Low (B)
Local Currency 1.557.330 0 1.557.330 -15.573 639.577 0 639.577 -6.396

Foreign Currency 0 302.647 302.647 -3.026 0 127.755 127.755 -1.278

Low (C)
Local Currency 585.760 0 585.760 -17.573 1.198.774 0 1.198.774 -35.962

Foreign Currency 218.992 6.096.554 6.315.546 -275.668 0 6.057.387 6.057.387 -111.722

Moderate (D)
Local Currency 0 0 0 0 100.000 0 100.000 -80.000

Foreign Currency 0 0 0 0 0 94.806 94.806 -18.961

High (E)
Local Currency 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Foreign Currency 580.856 184.750 765.606 -153.121 0 3.788 3.788 -1.894

Loss (G)
Local Currency 1.474.375 0 1.474.375 -1.474.375 791.679 0 791.679 -791.679

Foreign Currency 0 0 0 0 59.732 0 59.732 -59.732

6.012.084 6.583.951 12.596.035 -1.939.336 6.485.435 6.283.736 12.769.171 -1.107.624
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21. EQUITY

As at December 31, 2016, Bank Equity was broken down as 
follows:

kAOA
Initial 

Balances
Application 

of Profits
Increase / 
(decrease)

Final 
balances

Capital 4.000.000 0 0 4.000.000

Legal Reserve 1.782.589 164.299 0 1.946.888

Other Reserves 5.399.403 657.198 0 6.056.601

Retained 
Potential

36.876 0 0 36.876

Retained 
Earnings

107.593 0 0 107.593

Income for the 
year

821.497 -821.497 2.488.739 2.488.739

12.147.958 0 2.488.739 14.636.697

The transactions in Equity in 2016 resulted from the 
application of profits from 2015 approved by the General 
Meeting held on April 22, 2016:

• kAOA 164,299 to set up legal reserves;

• kAOA 657,198 to set up free reserves.

Thus, the Bank’s share capital is divided into 5,000,000 
shares, with a nominal value of 800 Kwanzas each. The 
shareholder structure as at December 31, 2016 was as 
follows:

Interval
% Aggregate 

Holding
Nº of

Shareholders
Nº of 

Shares held

Less than 2% 29,28% 28 1.463.910

From 2 to 5% 63,77% 21 3.188.511

Over 5% 6,95% 1 347.579

100,00% 50 5.000.000

Given the large size of Banco Keve’s shareholder structure, 
as at December 31, 2016, it was presented in aggregate 
holdings.

Capital increase
The Bank approved a capital increase by resolution of 
the Extraordinary General Meeting held on November 
27, 2015. This will increase the bank’s share capital from 
kAOA 4,000,000 to kAOA 31,000,000 through the issue of 
33,750,000 new shares with a nominal value of AOA 800 per 
share.  As it was not possible to implement this operation 
during 2016, the Bank expects it to be done during 2017.

The new shares will be subscribed and paid for in cash by the 
shareholders in exercise of their preferential subscription 
rights and in proportion to their holding.

22. FINANCIAL INTERMEDIATION MARGIN

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Proceeds from financial instruments 
(assets)

Short-term investments 646.716 334.636

- Proceeds from Interbank Money 
  Market Transactions

412.641 266.458

- Proceeds from Third-party Securities 
  Purchased with Resale Agreements

234.075 68.178

From Marketable Securities 3.330.821 1.236.664

- Proceeds from Securities Held to    
  Maturity

2.398.691 827.051

- Proceeds from Marketable Securities 
  Securities Held for Trading

932.130 409.613

From loans 8.639.678 6.173.572

- Internal Loans 8.330.602 6.092.090

- Associated with overdue credit 274.957 37.136

- Exterior Loans 34.119 44.346

Total proceeds from financial 
instruments (assets)

12.617.215 7.744.872

Costs of financial instruments (liabilities)

Deposits -1.379.396 -914.777

- Costs of term deposits -1.372.300 -913.144

- Costs of demand deposits -7.096 -1.633

Short-term investments -152.624 -23.610

- Costs of Interbank Money 
   Market Transactions

-149.174 -22.847

- Costs of own securities 
  purchased with resale agreements

-3.450 -763

Other borrowings -376.157 -296.759

- Costs of borrowings with
   subordinated debt

-363.999 -269.074

- Costs of other bank borrowings -12.158 -27.685

Total proceeds from financial instruments 
(liabilities)

-1.908.177 -1.235.146

Financial Intermediation Margin 10.709.038 6.509.726

23. GAINS/(LOSSES) FROM TRADING AND FAIR VALUE 
       ADJUSTMENTS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
AOA

2015
AOA

Income from Marketable Securities 5.313.492 1.853.735

This item records the exchange rate gains on Treasury Bonds 
in LC indexed to the USD exchange rate (Note 5). 
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24. GAINS/(LOSSES) ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Income from Foreign 
Exchange Transactions - 
Notes and Coins

4.017.894 11.682.085

- Purchase and sale of 
notes and coins

225.252 126.247

- Revaluation 3.792.642 11.555.838

Income from Foreign 
Currency Transactions

-2.089.287 -9.847.899

- Purchase and sale of 
Foreign Currency

1.415.745 1.218.122

- Revaluation -4.518.185 -10.723.384

- Remittances 912.462 -344.342

- Visa 100.691 1.705

1.928.607 1.834.186

The profits generated by foreign exchanged transactions 
and the revaluation of the foreign exchange position on the 
Bank’s balance sheet are recorded in this item.

These values do not include gains arising from exchange rate 
fluctuations in local currency Treasury Bonds indexed at the 
United States Dollar exchange rate. These are recorded under 
“Gains from financial operations and fair value adjustments 
(Note 23).

25. INCOME FROM THE PROVISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
AOA

2015
AOA

Profits from the Provision of Services 3.757.249 2.897.031

Commission on Foreign Exchange 
transactions

1.840.278 906.289

Banking Services provided 881.416 1.035.415

Guarantees given 536.663 541.005

Commissions on opening lines of 
credit

113.780 282.982

Other 385.112 131.340

Cost of Brokerage and Custody 
Commission

-246.848 -457.356

3.510.401 2.439.675

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the “Commissions 
received for banking services provided” item essentially 
corresponded to commissions for collections, electronic 
clearing and other services. 

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the “Commissions 
received for foreign exchange transactions” corresponded to 
the commissions charged by the Bank for issuing payment 
orders in foreign currency.

26. PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS AND GIVING 
       GUARANTEES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Provisions for doubtful debts (Note 7) -6.926.040 -2.858.444

Provisions for guarantees given 
(Note 7 and 20)

-815.693 -192.452

-7.741.733 -3.050.896

The transactions in the provisions for doubtful debts in 
the years ending on December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as 
follows:

2015
kAOA Increases Reversals Uses

2016
kAOA

Loan Provisions 

(Note 7)
1.896.598 6.951.821 -25.781 -2.600.300 6.143.620

2014
kAOA Increases Reversals Uses

2015 
kAOA

Loan Provisions 

(Note 7)
1.236.894 2.894.495 -36.051 -2.278.846 1.896.598

27. STAFF

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Remuneration 4.369.302 2.789.878

Management Bodies 1.003.123 623.961

Employees 3.366.179 2.165.917

Mandatory Social Charges 203.798 133.791

Optional Social Charges 21.058 3.481

Other Staff Costs 29.140 30.434

4.623.298 2.957.584

Nº of employees on December 31 516 471

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the average number of 
employees was 516 and 471, respectively. The increase in 
remuneration costs in 2016 was primarily due to opening 
new branches and reinforcing technical areas in the Bank’s 
central services, in line with its growth policy. In addition, 
the change is also justified by the one-off salary adjustment 
made by the Bank in order to combat the devaluation of 
the Kwanza in early 2016. Thus, in March 2016, the Bank 
defined a revised average exchange rate for salary updates, 
to be applied to the salaries in dollars.

This item includes bonuses to be paid to employees in 2017 
in respect of 2016, at a sum of 471,498 (Note 19).
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28. THIRD-PARTY SUPPLIES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016 
kAOA

2015 
kAOA

Travel, accommodation & 
entertainment allowance

594.716 200.143

Advertising and publishing 527.890 713.739

Printed materials and consumables 501.155 146.671

Transport:

Of valuables 489.642 186.097

Of equipment and other materials 2.349 4.357

Of staff 255 0

Specialized services:

Security and surveillance 396.588 414.392

Database 385.000 409.859

Consultancy 285.691 160.216

IT 7.793 8.256

Other 293.950 145.514

Insurance 347.702 207.153

Rentals and leasing 345.616 217.931

Maintenance and repair 221.117 328.352

Communications 82.642 53.761

Cultural activities 57.815 9.522

Staff training 12.662 27.004

Professional fees 8.552 11.053

Other 74.056 9.327

4.635.192 3.253.348

29. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE AND SALES EXPENSES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Contributions 211.538 1.103.190

Other operating costs 59.894 -21.247

271.432 1.081.943

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the “Contributions” item 
referred essentially to various sponsorships and the “Other 
operating costs” item referred to costs and various losses

30. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Of intangible assets 32.425 125.245

Of tangible assets 684.743 633.194

717.168 758.439

31. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER ASSETS AND CONTINGENT 
       LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Provisions for contingent civil liabilities 0 27.116

Retirement payments 0 6.315

Pension fund 0 111.092

Seniority bonus (Note 20) 394 1.428

394 145.951

32. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance in this item 
referred mainly to the receipt of interest and the repayment 
of credit that had already been written off and that refer to 
the current year.

33. NON-OPERATING INCOME

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, this item was broken 
down as follows:

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Gains/(losses) on fixed assets -44.439 0

Income from property sales 137 0

Income from previous years -582.580 -1.254.070

-626.882 -1.254.070

The balance in the “Income from Previous Years” item 
includes profit from the payment by customers of credit 
interest outstanding in previous years and costs related to 
the settlement of assets deemed unrecoverable.
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34. CHARGES ON CURRENT INCOME

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the reconciliation 
between accounting profits and profits for industrial tax 
calculation purposes is as follows:

The reconciliation between the nominal tax rate and the tax 
charge for 2016 and 2015 and the reconciliation between 
tax cost/income and the product of accounting income 
multiplied by the nominal tax rate is shown below:

2016 2015

kAOA Tax Rate Value Tax Rate Value

Pre-tax profit 2.570.732 1.189.157

Tax calculated using the nominal tax rate 30,00% 771.220 30,00% 356.747

Income from public debt securities or equivalent subject to IAC
(investment income tax)

-38,64% (993.398) (388.247)

Non-tax-deductible expenses

Taxes (including IAC) 0,16% 4.147 1,82% 21.686

Entertainment expenses 4,74% 121.940 0,00% -

Other 6,93% 178.084 31,74% 377.474

Tax payable/receivable 3,19% 81.993 30,92% 367.660

2016 2015

kAOA Tax Tax

Pre-tax profit 2.570.732 1.189.157

Income from public debt securities or equivalent subject to IAC 
(investment income tax)

-3.311.327 -1.294.158

Non-tax-deductible expenses

Taxes (including IAC) 13.823 72.287

Entertainment expenses 406.465 0

Other 593.619 1.258.248

Taxable Profit 273.312 1.225.534

Tax Rate Value Tax Rate Value

Tax liability 30,00% 81.993 30,00% 367.660

Deductions from tax liability 0 0

Tax payable/receivable 81.993 367.660
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35. BALANCE SHEET BY CURRENCY

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, the balance sheets by 
currency were broken down as follows:

31-12-2016 31-12-2015

kAOA LC
Indexed

to FC FC Total LC
Indexed

 to FC FC Total

ASSETS

CASH AND BANKS 8.543.638 0 8.229.157 16.772.795 20.929.778 0 4.030.107 24.959.885

Cash in hand and Balances at the Central 
Bank

8.543.638 0 809.050 9.352.688 20.929.778 0 1.303.769 22.233.547

Cash held at Financial Institutions 0 0 7.420.107 7.420.107 0 0 2.726.338 2.726.338

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS 1.007.975 0 4.218.637 5.226.612 500.855 0 6.894.252 7.395.107

Interbank money Market Transactions 1.007.975 0 4.218.637 5.226.612 0 0 6.894.252 6.894.252

Third-party Securities purchased with 
Resale Agreements

0 0 0 0 500.855 0 0 500.855

MARKETABLE SECURITIES 11.099.072 37.685.992 1.382.871 50.167.935 7.248.724 22.207.573 1.127.115 30.583.412

Securities held for Trading 7.868.728 455.149 0 8.323.877 4.128.625 2.524.275 0 6.652.900

Securities held to Maturity 3.230.344 37.230.843 1.382.871 41.844.058 3.120.099 19.683.298 1.127.115 23.930.512

RECEIVABLES IN THE PAYMENT SYSTEM 392.843 0 0 392.843 185.786 0 0 185.786

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS 0 0 0 0 5.356 0 0 5.356

LOANS 56.153.906 1.948.537 0 58.102.443 57.070.084 1.530.549 0 58.600.633

Loans 62.003.498 2.242.565 0 64.246.063 58.672.654 1.824.577 0 60.497.231

Provision for doubtful debts -5.849.592 -294.028 0 -6.143.620 -1.602.570 -294.028 0 -1.896.598

OTHER ASSETS 3.202.053 0 154.480 3.356.533 3.227.270 0 199.883 3.427.153

Other tax-related Assets 173.685 0 0 173.685 148.982 0 0 148.982

Other non-tax Assets 2.312.334 0 104.564 2.416.898 2.063.389 0 143.178 2.206.567

Other Administrative Assets 655.494 0 49.916 705.410 954.359 0 56.705 1.011.064

Property not for own use 60.540 0 0 60.540 60.540 0 0 60.540

FIXED ASSETS 6.667.817 0 0 6.667.817 5.619.265 0 0 5.619.265

Investments 108.822 0 0 108.822 118.075 0 0 118.075

Tangible fixed Assets 6.543.234 0 0 6.543.234 5.122.185 0 0 5.122.185

Intangible Assets 15.761 0 0 15.761 379.005 0 0 379.005

TOTAL ASSETS 87.067.304 39.634.529 13.985.145 140.686.978 94.787.118 23.738.122 12.251.357 130.776.597

LIABILITIES

DEPOSITS 68.463.030 12.230.100 8.570.494 89.263.624 84.408.160 5.027.202 7.562.127 96.997.489

Demand 45.666.448 0 5.105.280 50.771.728 69.525.730 0 4.670.809 74.196.539

Term 22.796.582 12.230.100 3.465.214 38.491.896 14.882.430 5.027.202 2.891.318 22.800.950

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS 1.010.849 0 0 1.010.849 65.579 0 0 65.579

Own securities sold with repurchase 
agreement

1.010.849 0 0 1.010.849 65.579 0 0 65.579

PAYABLES IN THE PAYMENT SYSTEM 521.312 0 2.200 523.512 786.344 0 0 786.344

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS 26.084.563 0 1.639.251 27.723.814 13.447.074 0 4.282 13.451.356

OTHER BORROWINGS 144.031 0 3.411.334 3.555.365 144.031 0 3.806.186 3.950.217

Subordinated Debt 0 0 3.411.334 3.411.334 0 0 2.784.857 2.784.857

Other Bank Borrowings 144.031 0 0 144.031 144.031 01.021.329 1.165.360

OTHER LIABILITIES 1.815.803 0 0 1.815.803 1.616.078 0 0 1.616.078

OTHER LIABILITIES 1.678.229 0 0 1.678.229 1.239.701 0 0 1.239.701

CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 137.574 0 0 137.574 376.377 0 0 376.377

PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 1.958.366 0 198.948 2.157.314 1.564.786 0 196.790 1.761.576

TOTAL LIABILITIES 99.997.954 12.230.100 13.822.227 126.050.281 102.032.052 5.027.202 11.569.385 118.628.639

Net Balance Sheet Foreign Exchange 
Exposure

-12.930.650 27.404.429 162.918 14.636.697 -7.244.934 18.710.920 681.972 12.147.958

IMPORT DOCUMENTARY CREDIT 0 0 6.583.951 6.583.951 0 0 6.283.736 6.283.736

GUARANTEES PROVIDED 5.832.909 0 179.175 6.012.084 6.377.183 0 108.252 6.485.435

Net Exposure with Off-Balance Sheet Items -18.763.559 27.404.429 -6.600.208 -13.622.117 18.710.920 -5.710.016
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36. RELATED PARTIES

The total amount of assets, liabilities and off-balance 
sheet obligations as at 31 December 2015 in respect of 
shareholders, members of the corporate bodies, associated 
undertakings and companies and entities in which 
shareholders and members of the corporate bodies have 
significant influence is shown below:

As at December 31, 2015, this was broken down as follows:

Under the Financial Institutions Act:

 (i)  A corporate holding representing 10% or more of the 
  voting rights in a company is considered a qualified 
  holding;

 (ii)  Control exists when an individual or entity (or other) 
  can exercise decisive influence over a company by 
  force of contract or statutes or holds 20% or more of 
  its capital, provided that control is effectively exercised 
  or where both are under the same management.

kAOA Shareholders
Member of the Board 

of Directors

Companies in which shareholders and 
members of corporate bodies have 

significant influence Total Value

Credit 83.787 446.464 16.717.406 17.247.656

Other assets 0 0 1.732.262 1.732.262

Deposits

Demand deposits -331.943 -28.997 78.274 -282.665

Term deposits -163.476 0 -210.584 -374.060

Income

Interest and similar income 0 0 770.546 770.546

Interest and similar expenses -21.770 -1.150 0 -22.920

Off-balance sheet items

Bank guarantees 80.309 390.819 2.580.397 3.051.525

kAOA Shareholders
Member of the Board 

of Directors

Companies in which shareholders and 
members of corporate bodies have 

significant influence Total  Value

Credit 106.443 73.008 15.849.600 16.029.051

Other assets 0 0 1.732.262 1.732.262

Deposits -541.276 -127.235 -96.164 -764.675

Bank Guarantees 0 0 2.555.927 2.555.927
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (OFF-BALANCE SHEET)

2016
kAOA

2015
kAOA

Guarantees and other liabilities

Guarantees and sureties given 6.012.084 6.485.435

Outstanding documentary credits 6.583.951 6.283.736

12.596.035 12.769.171

Commitments to Third Parties

Irrevocable lines of credit 829.515 1.353.150

829.515 1.353.150

Responsibilities for provision of 
services:

Deposit and safekeeping of 
valuables

189.616 1.022.435

Collections 0 2.706

189.616 1.025.141

Other off-balance sheet accounts

Overdue interest 2.296.282 2.096.663

Loans written off through 
provisions

8.683.904 6.083.604

10.980.186 8.180.267

Guarantees and sureties given are bank operations that do 
not involve any movement of funds by the Bank, as they 
relate to guarantees given to support import transactions 
or performance of contracts by customers of the Bank. The 
guarantees given represent amounts which may become 
payable in the future. 

Documentary credits outstanding are irrevocable 
commitments by the Bank on behalf of its customers to pay 
or cause to be paid a specified sum to a supplier or service 
provider, within a stipulated timeframe, on submission of 
documents evidencing the dispatch of the merchandise 
or provision of the service. Irrevocability means that the 
commitment can neither be cancelled nor modified without 
the express consent of all parties involved.

Notwithstanding the special features of these 
commitments and contingent liabilities, these transactions 
are treated according to the same basic principles as any 
other commercial transaction, that is, having regard to 
the creditworthiness of the customer or business involved, 
with the Bank requiring sufficient collateral for these 
transactions where necessary. Given that a majority of 
these guarantees are expected to lapse without being used, 
the amounts disclosed do not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements. 

As at December 31, 2016 the provision for liabilities in 
respect of guarantees given and documentary credits 
outstanding totaled kAOA 1,939,336 (as at December 31, 
2015 the value was kAOA 1,107,624) (Note 20). 

Exposure to outstanding import documentary credit that is 
not covered by this provision is more than 100% covered by 
customer deposits at the Bank. 

Commitments undertaken towards third parties represent 
contractual agreements to provide credit to the Bank’s 
customers (for example, undrawn credit facilities) which, 

generally speaking, are entered into for fixed terms or with 
other expiry requirements and normally require payment of 
a commission. These commitments represent amounts that 
may become payable in the future.

38. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

We are not aware of any facts or events between December 
31, 2016 and the date of approval of the Financial Statements 
that would require amendments to or additional disclosures 
in the Notes to the Financial Statements for 2016 that 
materially affect the situations and/or information reported 
in the Notes and/or that are expected to have a material 
favorable or adverse effect on the Bank’s financial position, 
earnings or activities. 

Banco Nacional de Angola is providing for the full adoption of 
the IAS/IFRS in the national banking sector and Banco Keve 
will be changing to these as of January 1, 2017. This process 
will imply a review of the current regulations, including a 
review CONTIF in matters where there is no convergence. 

The Bank is currently identifying and quantifying the 
impacts of transition to the IAS/IFRS and is also adapting its 
policies and procedures in accordance with the rules being 
defined by BNA.

39. OTHER DISCLOSURES

The standards in force regarding the content of official 
reports require explanations of certain information and 
disclosures regarding the annual accounts mentioned in the 
balance sheet and income statement.  Those requirements 
are defined in BNA Notice 15/07, of September 12, and, 
where the relevant explanation is contained somewhere in 
the report or in the Notes to the financial statements, an 
indication will be given to such effect.

 a) The main accounting policies are described in Note 2; 

 b) The Bank did not restate property for own use; 

 c) Significant investments in other companies are described 
  in Note 12; 

 d) The Bank did not conduct sales of goods on credit to 
  affiliated companies; 

 e) The guarantees given to third parties and other 
  commitments are described in Note 37; 

 f) The share capital is described in Notes 1 and 21; 

 g) The Bank paid dividends in respect of 2015; 

 h) Earnings per share are disclosed in the income statement; 

 i) Loans written off, renegotiated and recovered in the 
  period are described in Note 7; 

 j) The Bank has no branches abroad; 

 k) No shares with call options were granted or exercised in 
  the period; 

 l) The main accounts whose balance exceeded the limit 
  of 10% of the value of the relevant group or class have 
  been subdivided;

 m)  There are no events subsequent to the closing date of 
  the period that have, or could have, a material impact 
  on the Bank’s earnings; 

 n) There are no tax credits for the period; 

 o) Information on marketable securities is given in Note 5; 

 p) There were no derivative financial instruments at the 
  closing date.
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TRANSLATED FROM PORTUGUESE ORIGINAL

BANCO KEVE

REPORT FROM THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Dear shareholders, 

1- The Supervisory Board hereby presents its opinion of the Report from the Board of Directors, the Balance Sheet 
and Income Statement for the 2016 economic year. Presentation of these documents is the exclusive responsibility 
of the Board of Directors, pursuant to the legislation in force, particularly Law No. 1/04, of February 13 - the Ango-
lan Companies Act, and article 23 of the Statutes of Banco Regional do Keve. 

2- The Supervisory Board prepared this Report bearing in mind the current economic and financial situation in 
which Banco Keve is operating and according to standard procedures. We systematically verified the financial 
reports and other information made available to us by the Board of Directors, in particular the Balance Sheet, 
Income Statement and Notes to the Bank’s Accounts and the adequacy of its accounting records. 

3- The Supervisory Board examined the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow 
Statement for 2016, as well as the Management Report, prepared by the Board of Directors for the same year 
and requested information from the Board whenever necessary for a clearer understanding of the activity, results 
stated and our consequent opinion, provided to you here. 

4- The Supervisory Board found the work, which was subject to an external, independent audit by external au-
ditor, Deloitte, whose opinion was that these financial statements present a true and appropriate view in all mate-
rial aspects of the financial position of Banco Keve, SA, as at December 31, 2016, as well as the income from its 
operation and the origins and use of funds for the year ending on that date, was in accordance with the generally 
accepted accounting principles in the banking sector in Angola. 

5- However, the Supervisory Board would like to say that it is urgent and important to deal with the reservations 
of the External Auditor regarding the credit subsystem and other values. 

6- As a result of the monitoring work done, the Supervisory Board noted the Bank’s growth generally, as can be 
seen from the documents provided to us by the Board of Directors, reiterating the importance and pertinence of 
full implementation of the decision to increase the Bank’s Share Capital with the aim of reinforcing its soundness 
and sustainability in the market we operate in. 

7- Briefly, the Supervisory Board can confirm that the accounting, the Balance Sheet, the Income Statement and 
the Management Report comply with legal and statutory provisions and appropriately show the assets of the 
Bank as at December 31, 2016. 

8- Therefore, the Supervisory Board proposes the submission to the General Meeting for appreciation and approval 
of: 

- The Board of Directors’ Report, the Balance Sheet and accounts for 2016. And - The proposal for the application of 
profits presented by the Board of Directors. 

The Supervisory Board of Banco Regional do Keve, in Luanda, on April 24, 2017.
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TRANSLATED FROM PORTUGUESE ORIGINAL

AUDIT REPORT
(Amounts in thousand Kwanzas kAOA)

To the Board of Directors  of Banco Regional do Keve, S.A. 

Introduction 

1. We audited the attached financial statements of Banco Regional do Keve, S.A. (hereinafter called the “Bank”), which 
include the Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2016, which shows a total of kAOA 140,686,978 and equity of kAOA 
14,636,697, including a net income of kAOA 2,488,739, the statements of income, of changes in equity and of cash flows 
for the year ending on that date and the corresponding Notes. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements 

2. The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate preparation and presentation of these financial statements 
according to the generally accepted accounting principles in Angola for the banking sector and for the internal controls it 
deems necessary for making it possible to prepare the financial statements free of any material misrepresentation. 

Responsibility of the Auditor 

3. Our responsibility consists of expressing an independent opinion on these financial statements based on our audit, 
which was carried out in accordance with the Technical Regulations of the Angolan Association of Accountants and Audi-
tors. These regulations require us to meet ethical requirements and to plan and execute audits in order to be reasonably 
sure that the financial statements are free of material misrepresentation. 

4. An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence as to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the judgment of the auditor, including the assessment of the risk of 
material misrepresentation of the financial statements. When making these risk assessments, the auditor considers the 
relevant internal controls for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements by the entity in order to devise 
audit procedures that are appropriate under the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes assessing the suitability of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as assessing the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

5. We are satisfied that the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate for providing a base for our audit 
opinion with reservations. 

Bases for opinion with reservations 

6. As a result of our analysis of the loans to customers portfolio, loan interest and “other values” receivable by the Bank 
with reference to December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the internal control system implemented in these areas, we found 
that, partly due to limitations in their computer systems and the processes used, the Bank was not adequately complying 
with all the requirements provided for in Notices No. 11/2014 and No. 12/2014 and Instruction No. 9/2015, of Banco 
Nacional de Angola, regarding risk ratings in credit transactions and the consequent calculation of the provisions, in-
cluding loans to related entities (Note 36). Therefore, notwithstanding the significant increase in provisions for doubtful 
debts in 2016 and 2015 (Note 26), at net sums of kAOA 6,926,040 and kAOA 2,858,444, respectively, bearing in mind the 
weaknesses identified above and the conclusions we were able to draw from a specific analysis of the loans to customers 
portfolio (Note 7), the loan interest in the income statement (Note 22) and the “other values” receivable (Notes 9 and 10), 
we believe that these provisions are insufficient to deal with the risks they are intended for and the estimated losses, due 
to the aforementioned limitations to the information available, which we were unable to quantify.

Opinion 

7. In our opinion, except as to the effects of the matters described in the section “Bases for the opinion with reserva-
tions”, the financial statements mentioned in paragraph 1 above appropriately present, in all materially relevant aspects, 
the financial position of Banco Regional do Keve, S.A. as at December 31, 2016, its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year ending on that date, in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in Angola for the 
banking sector (Note 2 of the Notes). 

Emphasis 

8. Bearing in mind the impacts of the matter described in paragraph 6 above, the Bank’s capacity to continue in operation 
depends on the success of its future operations and maintaining the financial support of the shareholders. As described 
in Note 21, the General Meeting of November 27, 2015 approved a capital increase that the Board of Directors expects to 
be implemented in 2017. 

Luanda, April 21, 2017 
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Branches open up to December 31, 2016

Headquarters
Sumbe
Av. Joaquim Kapango nº Y-13
Kwanza Sul

Central Services
Luanda
Av. Ho Chi Minh Empreendimento Cdt GIKA.
Edificio Garden Towers - Torre B, 11º e 12º Andar

AGÊNCIA NOVA VIDA
Rua 55 / 60, Projecto Nova Vida

AGÊNCIA NOVA VIDA II
Rua 53, Projecto Nova Vida, Município de Belas 

BALCÃO CORREIOS DE ANGOLA
Av. 4 de Fevereiro, Bairro Mutamba

BALCÃO AEROPORTO 4 DE FEVEREIRO PARTIDAS
Av. 21 de Janeiro Terminal de Passageiros

BALCÃO AEROPORTO 4 DE FEVEREIRO CHEGADAS
Av. 21 de Janeiro Terminal de Passageiros

AGÊNCIA MAJOR KANHANGULO
Rua Major Kanhangulo, Nº 61 B

AGÊNCIA KILAMBA KIAXE
Nova Cidade do Kilama Kiaxe

AGÊNCIA GIKA - CENTRAL SERVICES
Av. Ho Chi Minh, Edifício Garden Towers - Torre B, 11º andar

AGÊNCIA UNIVERSIDADE METODISTA
Rua Nossa Senhora da Muxima, Bairro Ingombotas 

BALCÃO UNIVERSIDADE ISPAJ
Projecto Nova Vida

CENTRO DE EMPRESAS R. GINGA
Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

CENTRO DE EMPRESAS PATRIOTA
Rua do Patriota S/N, Município de Belas 

CENTRO DE EMPRESAS TALATONA II
Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas 

CENTRO DE EMPRESAS VIANA COMETA
Estrada de Catete S/N, Município de Viana 

CENTRO DE EMPRESAS ROYALM PARK
Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas 

DIRECÇÃO DE PRIVATE
Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

AGÊNCIA PATRIOTA
Rua do Patriota S/N, Município de Belas

AGÊNCIA VIANA COMETA
Estrada de Catete S/N, Município de Viana 

AGÊNCIA LUANDA SHOPPING
Av. Cmd. Gika, Município de Luanda 

AGÊNCIA SONANGALP KM 32
Estrada de Catete S/N Km 32, Município de Viana 

LUBANGO

AGÊNCIA LUBANGO
Rua 1º de Agosto Nº 26, Bairro Comercial 

AGÊNCIA LUBANGO ALFÂNDEGA
Rua Eng. Torres

MALANGE

AGÊNCIA MALANGE
Rua Comandante Dangereux, Prédio Che-Guevara R/C 

NAMIBE

AGÊNCIA NAMIBE ALFÂNDEGA
Rua Ekuikui II

AGÊNCIA NAMIBE
Rua da Praia do Bomfim

SOYO

AGÊNCIA SOYO BASE DO KWANDA
Instalações da Base do Kwanda

AGÊNCIA SOYO HOTEL NEMPANZO
Instalações do Hotel Nempanzo 

Published by: Banco Keve
Page layout: Futuro Publicidade, Lda.

Date: August 2017

BENGUELA

AGÊNCIA BENGUELA
Rua Aires de Almeida Santos Nº 75

AGÊNCIA LOBITO
Zona Comercial - Av. 25 de Abril Nº 73/75/77

AGÊNCIA LOBITO SECIL
Instalações da Secil Cimentos, Bairro Lobito Velho - Lobito 

AGÊNCIA LOBITO CATUMBELA
Rua da Fábrica Velha, Antiga Açucareira Catumbela

AGÊNCIA LOBITO RESTINGA
Avenida de Moçambique Nº 99

CABINDA

AGÊNCIA CABINDA
Av. Comendador Henrique Serrano

AGÊNCIA MASSABI
Instalações do Posto Fronteriço de Massabi

CUANDO CUBANGO

AGÊNCIA MENONGUE
Rua 1º de Maio

BALCÃO CATUITUI
Posto Fronteriço do Cuangar

AGÊNCIA CUANGAR
Cuangar

POSTO RIVUNGO
Posto Fronteriço do Cuangar 

CUNENE

AGÊNCIA SANTA CLARA
Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edificio do Posto Aduaneiro

AGÊNCIA BROMANGOL SANTA CLARA
Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edificio da Bromangol, 
Santa Clara

HUAMBO  

AGÊNCIA HUAMBO
Rua Trazeiro Lopes Cidade Baixa

AGÊNCIA  HUAMBO NOCEBO
Zona Indústrial do Huambo, Bairro da Chiva

KWANZA SUL

AGÊNCIA SUMBE - HEADQUARTERS
Av. Joaquim Kapango Nº Y- 43 - Sumbe

AGÊNCIA WACO KUNGO
Rua 4 de Fevereiro

AGÊNCIA CALULO
Rua 11 de Novembro, R/C

AGÊNCIA DE PORTO - AMBOIM
Rua Viriato da Cruz-Complexo Industrial da PESKWANZA-EP,  Lote 
N/D,R/C

BALCÃO ALFÂNDEGA PORTO - AMBOIM
Porto Amboim

BALCÃO REPARTIÇÃO FISCAL DO CALULO
Rua 10 de Novembro

AGÊNCIA SELES
Rua Lar 2 dos Estudantes

BALCÃO REPARTIÇÃO FISCAL DO WACO KUNGO
Rua 4 de Fevereiro S/N

LUANDA

AGÊNCIA RAINHA GINGA
Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

AGÊNCIA MACULUSSO
Rua Joaquim Kapango, 32 

AGÊNCIA NOCAL
Instalações da Nocal, Bairro Hoji Ya Henda 

AGÊNCIA NOVA CIMANGOLA
Instalações da Fabrica da Nova Cimangola, Bairro Kikolo  

AGÊNCIA CUCA
Rua N'gola kiluanje Instalações da Cuca, Bairro Cazenga

AGÊNCIA TALATONA II
Estrada Direita  do Futungo, S/N, Bairro Benfica 

AGÊNCIA PORTO DE LUANDA
Av. 4 de Fevereiro Instalações do Porto de Luanda, Bairro Boavista

AGÊNCIA AEROPORTO
Av. 21 de Janeiro / Aeroporto Internacional 4 de Fevereiro Terminal
de Carga Aerea

AGÊNCIA PORTO SECO
Instalações Porto Seco Viana

AGÊNCIA SOVINHOS
Instalações Seis Liquidos/Sovinhos Viana

AGÊNCIA CACUACO
Rua do Mutobe, Instalações da Vidrul

AGÊNCIA SERPA PINTO
Largo Serpa Pinto - Rua Amílcar Cabral Nº 4A
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Av. Ho Chi Minh Empreendimento Cdt Gika.
Edifício Garden Towers - Torre B, 11º/12º Andar
Tel: +244 222 679 800
Fax: +244 222 370 039

www.bancokeve.ao
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